

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Sjørup, Annette Camilla

Doctoral Thesis Cognitive effort in metaphor translation: An eye-tracking and key-logging study

PhD Series, No. 18.2013

Provided in Cooperation with: Copenhagen Business School (CBS)

Suggested Citation: Sjørup, Annette Camilla (2013) : Cognitive effort in metaphor translation: An eye-tracking and key-logging study, PhD Series, No. 18.2013, ISBN 9788792977496, Copenhagen Business School (CBS), Frederiksberg, https://hdl.handle.net/10398/8698

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/208853

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



NC ND https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/





COPENHAGEN BUSINESS SCHOOL

HANDELSHØJSKOLEN solbjerg plads 3 DK-2000 FREDERIKSBERG DANMARK

www.cbs.dk

Cognitive effort in metaphor translation



Cognitive effort in metaphor translation

An eye-tracking and key-logging study

Annette Camilla Sjørup

ISSN 0906-6934

Print ISBN: 978-87-92977-48-9 Online ISBN: 978-87-92977-49-6 PhD Series 18-2013

LIMAC PhD School Programme in Language and Culture

PhD Series 18-2013

Cognitive effort in metaphor translation An eye-tracking and key-logging study

Annette C. Sjørup

Supervisor: Arnt Lykke Jakobsen LIMAC PhD School Copenhagen Business School Annette Camilla Sjørup Cognitive effort in metaphor translation An eye-tracking and key-logging study

1st edition 2013 PhD Series 18.2013

© The Author

ISSN 0906-6934

Print ISBN: 978-87-92977-48-9 Online ISBN: 978-87-92977-49-6

LIMAC PhD School is a cross disciplinary PhD School connected to research communities within the areas of Languages, Law, Informatics, Operations Management, Accounting, Communication and Cultural Studies.

All rights reserved.

No parts of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Arnt Lykke Jakobsen for his invaluable inspiration and support. His immeasurable knowledge, expertise and enthusiasm have been of immense value to me during the process of writing this thesis.

I am also deeply thankful to Gregory Shreve for providing important insights and feedback during my visit at Kent State University in the spring of 2010 and afterwards. His colleagues at the university as well as the other PhD students I met all made me feel welcome and helped me benefit from my stay, both academically and personally.

I must also thank Martin Pickering at Edinburgh University for taking the time to meet with me several times in the winter of 2009. His input was helpful in my further progress.

Finally, I wish to express my deep gratitude to my wonderful colleagues Laura Winther Balling and Kristian Tangsgaard Hvelplund for their help and support. Laura's statistical expertise enabled me to add a new dimension to my empirical research, and Kristian's technical knowledge and never-ending support carried me through from the beginning.

Annette C. Sjørup Copenhagen Business School January 2013

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction	8
Chapter 2 Research Questions	13
Chapter 3 Theoretical Framework	17
3.1 Metaphor	17
3.1.1 Opposing Views of Metaphor: Substitution and Comparison vs. Interaction	19
3.1.2 Metaphor Across Languages and Cultures	22
3.1.3 Conceptual Metaphor Theory	25
3.1.4 Metaphor Comprehension: Ambiguous or Not	28
3.1.5 Metaphor Conventionality	32
3.1.5.1 Classification Schemes	39
3.1.5.2 Metaphor Familiarity	42
3.1.6 Summary	45
3.2 Translation as a Process	55
3.2.1 Is Translation Sequential or Parallel?	60
3.2.1.1 The Sequential View of the Translation Process	60
3.2.1.2 The Parallel View of the Translation Process	61
3.2.2 Translation and Working Memory	62
3.2.3 Translation Competence	63
3.2.3.1 Metaphor Translation Competence	67
3.2.4 Metaphor Translation	69
3.2.4.1 The Translatability of Metaphor	71
3.2.4.2 Metaphor Translation Strategies	74
3.2.5 Summary	79
3.3 Measures of Cognitive Effort	81
3.3.1 Eye-tracking	81

3.3.1.1 Fixations and Saccades	82
3.3.1.2 Gaze Measures	84
3.3.1.3 Regressions	86
3.3.1.4 Lexical Factors and Their Effects on Eye Movements	86
3.3.1.5 Word Predictability	87
3.3.1.6 Oculomotor or Cognitive Control	89
3.3.1.7 Eye-tracking and Translation	91
3.3.1.8 Eye-tracking and Metaphor	93
3.3.2 Key-logging	94
3.3.3 Summary	100
Chapter 4 Methodological Framework and Experimental setup	103
4.1 Equipment and Analysis Tools	103
4.2 Participants	104
4.3 Data Quality	104
4.4 Experimental Texts	106
4.5 Task	112
4.6 Data Analysis: Statistical Models	113
4.6.1 Analyses 1-3: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Reading and	
Translation	115
4.6.2 Analysis 1.1: Comprehension of Metaphor in Translation	120
4.6.3 Analysis 4: Production of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Translation	123
4.6.4 Analysis 4.1 – Production of Metaphor in Translation	129
Chapter 5 Eye-tracking Results: a Quantitative Analysis	132
5.1 Analysis 1: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-Metaphor in Reading and	
Translation – Total Fixation Time	134
5.1.2 Summary	144
5.2 Analysis 1.1.: Comprehension of Metaphor in Translation – Total Fixation Time	145

5.2.1 Summary	148
5.3 Analysis 2: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-Metaphor in Reading and	
Translation – Total Fixation Number	
5.3.1 Summary	152
5.4 Analysis 3: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Reading and	
Translation – First Pass Fixation Time	153
5.4.1 Summary	159
5.5 Discussion of Eye-tracking Results	
Chapter 6 Key-logging Results: a Quantitative Analysis	170
6.1 Analysis 4: Production of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Translation – Proc	luction
Time	173
6.1.2 Summary	180
6.2 Analysis 4.1 – Production of Metaphor in Translation – Production Time	
6.2.1 Summary	
6.3 Discussion of Key-logging Results	
Chapter 7 Translation Results: a Qualitative Analysis	192
7.1 Retrospective Interview: Questions and Responses	192
7.2 The Translations	196
Chapter 8 Potential Issues	199
Chapter 9 Conclusion	
9.1 Future Avenues of Research	
Dansk resumé	
Abstract	
Bibliography	
Appendices	
Appendix 1: Experimental texts	
Experimental Text 1	

Experimental Text 2	232
Experimental Text 3	233
Experimental Text 4	233
Appendix 2: Translation brief and instructions	234
Appendix 3: Retrospective interview	235
Appendix 4: List of AOIs	236
Appendix 5: Presentation of metaphor AOIs to rater group	238
Appendix 6: Metaphor familiarity ratings	241
Appendix 7: Total Fixation Time - absolute values (ms)	243
Appendix 8: Total Fixation Number - absolute values	244
Appendix 9: First Pass Fixation Time - absolute values (ms)	245
Appendix 10: Production Time - absolute values (ms)	246

Chapter 1 Introduction

Metaphors have been recognised as an important part of language use since the time of Aristotle, and today there is a large body of work in research on metaphors. What is perhaps most fascinating about metaphors is that, despite decades or even centuries of research into this aspect of language production and use, there are still many questions that remain unanswered and many questions with opposing answers. The definition of metaphor varies greatly according to perspective. To Aristotle, it was "the application of an alien name"¹ and he had a rather modern view of metaphor in that he argued that metaphor had a cognitive function,² whereas metaphor was later regarded as a stylistic tool appropriate for both prose and poetry. In this later view, metaphor was viewed as merely decorative without any practical purpose (Richards 1965: 90) and could easily be replaced with a literal paraphrase without any loss of meaning, only a loss of style. Later, Lakoff and Johnson (1980) argued that metaphors as found in text and speech were manifestations of underlying conceptual structures (conceptual metaphors) in our minds and that these metaphors were necessary for us to be able to grasp and relate to abstract concepts in the world around us. Perhaps no one put it more eloquently than Dagut (1987), who described metaphor as "an individual creative flash of imagination fusing disparate categories of experience in a powerfully meaningful semantic anomaly" (Dagut 1987: 77).

The modern view of metaphor is that metaphors are more than a stylistic device to make a phrase sound clever. Metaphors are regarded as adding a new layer of meaning to the concepts they refer to and have been found to be more common than generally expected (five uses per 100 words of text (Martin 1994: 6)).³ But metaphor still remains a controversial phenomenon. The many forms of advanced technologies, which have been developed during the last few decades, have enabled a deeper insight into how metaphors are processed, but the findings are as varied as the many methodologies applied. Think-aloud protocols (TAPs), key-logging, eye-tracking, and fMRI are only some of the technologies used to investigate aspects of metaphor

¹ From Aristotle *Poetics* 21, 1457b9–16 and 20–22, <u>http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/aristotle-rhetoric/#8.2</u>

² From Rhet. III.10, 1410b14f, <u>http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/aristotle-rhetoric/#8.2</u>

³ Martin reports on corpus analyses of naturally occurring metaphor in texts carried out by Pollio et al. (1990) (Martin 1994: 6).

comprehension. Even with all these advances in technology, it has still not been possible to reach consensus on how metaphors are processed in the human mind and on whether or not they are more effortful to process than literal expressions.

Metaphor is not only a cognitive concept, but also a cultural one. As recognized by Lakoff and Johnson (1980), our metaphor use reveals the way we perceive the world and consequently the culture in which we live. Some metaphors are shared across very different cultures and may perhaps be considered universal, whereas others are closely connected and limited to the society in which they are used. Such culture-specific metaphors can present a dilemma to the translator, who wishes to remain as true as possible to the source text (ST) without compromising the authenticity of target language (TL) use. Even for closely related languages and cultures such as English and Danish, there may still be differences in the metaphors used to express shared beliefs and values.

The participants in the experiments underlying the present study were a homogenous group consisting of professional translators with Danish as their L1 and English as their L2 (see section 4.2). Although it is acknowledged that the individual experience with metaphor translation may nevertheless vary within the participant group, the aim of the study was to identify commonalities of metaphor translation rather than investigate effects of individual factors such as experience within various translation genres, etc. At some point, however, it would obviously be relevant to follow up such a general focus on supra-individual features of metaphor processing with more detailed studies of individual differences.

Methodologically, this thesis seeks to combine empirical research on metaphor comprehension with translation research in order to gain insight into the cognitive effort of the translator when translating metaphors in context. The investigation of metaphor comprehension and metaphor translation is a complicated task because it is necessary to take a lot of individual factors into account, such as textual context, participant background, etc, but it is no less a necessary task. The discussion of the level of cognitive effort necessary for metaphor comprehension relative to literal (i.e. non-metaphorical) expressions is ongoing.⁴ Cognitive effort can be defined as the mental effort spent by the individual on a mental process, which for example could be reading and understanding a sentence, producing a new sentence or making a strategic decision about what words to choose in a translation. By measuring cognitive effort, it is possible to learn about the energy the human mind spends on processing and producing language. The way in which the present study proposes to measure cognitive effort is through analysis of translators' gaze and typing behaviour. If a word or group of words containing a metaphorical expression was looked at longer than a comparable (sequence of) non-metaphorical word(s), then the cognitive effort involved in processing the metaphorical expression was hypothesized to be higher than in processing the non-metaphorical expression, following the assumption that longer gaze times indicate more cognitive effort invested (Rayner 1998). Similarly, if the typing of a (sequence of) metaphorical word(s) took more time than the typing of a comparable literal string, then the cognitive effort involved in processing and typing the metaphorical string was hypothesized to be higher than for the non-metaphorical string, following the assumption that slower typing speed and longer pauses between production indicate increased cognitive effort (Schilperoord 1996).

Gaze behaviour was recorded by means of eye-tracking equipment (Tobii 1750). Eye-tracking has been used for research purposes in investigations of both metaphor comprehension and translation processes, but the methodology has apparently not been used before for research in metaphor translation. Eye-tracking with a 'remote' tracker is well suited for research prioritizing ecological validity as it is a non-intrusive technology enabling the participant to focus on the given task undisturbed by the recording equipment. At the same time, it provides hard data on the basis of which the researcher can make grounded assumptions about the mental processes of the participant based on the gaze behaviour. Longer gaze times have been taken to be a direct indication of increased cognitive effort (Just and Carpenter 1980, Rayner 1998). Although modifications to Just and Carpenter's assumption of gaze time being a direct reflection of cognitive effort have been suggested (e.g. by Vonk and Cozijn 2003: 292), it is still possible to

⁴ See table 2, section 3.1.6 for the definition of literal as used in this thesis.

identify, with a high degree of probability, the points in the text where the translator invests additional cognitive resources. Eye-tracking has the additional benefit that it provides evidence of the allocation of cognitive effort independently of what participants are themselves aware of. Sometimes we are conscious of making a mental effort, but our gaze behaviour reveals more about our distribution of cognitive effort than we are consciously aware of.

Eye-tracking was the preferred methodology for investigating cognitive effort in the comprehension stage of the translation process. Though the translator's eyes are also actively involved in monitoring target text production, gaze data was not used as evidence of the cognitive effort involved in production, mainly for the technical reason that the stream of gaze data relating to production is interrupted whenever a translator looks away from the screen. Therefore, key-logging was the preferred methodology for investigating cognitive effort in the production stage. Studies by Schilperoord (1996) as well as by Dragsted (2004) and Immonen (2006) have shown that there are fundamental similarities between monolingual text production and translation, but also essential differences. Briefly stated, the similarities are in the indication of pauses as signs of increases in cognitive effort and in the non-random occurrences of these pauses. The differences lie to some extent in the location of these pauses as Dragsted and Immonen found indications that translations tend to result in more pauses at word level (and below) and fewer at higher syntactic levels (sentence and paragraph) compared with monolingual text production. Their research indicates the relevancy of key-logging for investigation of the production aspect of translation, where pauses can be regarded as constituents in a larger whole defined as Production Time. The key-logging measure Production *Time* is a parallel to the eye-tracking measure *Gaze Time* as both measures are temporal values of the time (and cognitive effort) spent on production and comprehension, respectively.

Chapter 2 will introduce the research questions forming the basis of the investigation. These research questions will then be grounded in a theoretical framework based on earlier research on metaphor and translation.

This theoretical framework combining metaphor research, translation research, and cognitive research will be presented in chapter 3. In chapter 4 follows a presentation of the two data collection methodologies chosen: eye-tracking and key-logging. The two data sets will be analysed using a linear mixed-effects regression model or LMER, and the construction of the statistical models and the definitions of the included variables will also be discussed. This will be followed by the presentation and discussion of the actual empirical results (chapters 5 and 6). After this, there will be a brief qualitative discussion of the findings from retrospective interviews as well as of the actual translation products (chapter 7). Chapter 8 will discuss a few potential issues with the experimental methodology after which the conclusion will sum up the findings from the triangulated data in chapter 9.

Chapter 2 Research Questions

As will be seen in the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3, there are opposing views on metaphor comprehension and whether or not they require more cognitive effort to process than literal expressions. Furthermore, there are a multitude of factors which can affect the comprehension process, such as the reader's familiarity with the expression and information from the textual context. These factors have been researched from a monolingual perspective, but only sparsely from the point of view of research on L2 metaphor comprehension and translation. Because of the heterogeneity of the views on metaphor comprehension, it was decided that open research questions would provide a more suitable point of view. When not otherwise stated, the term "metaphor" will refer to a metaphorical expression, i.e. a linguistic metaphor, following the definition set out in section $3.1.^5$

As outlined in the introduction, the thesis investigates the cognitive effort invested by professional translators in metaphor translation from L2 (English) to L1 (Danish). Although English and Danish cultures are in many respects quite similar, this does not mean that all metaphors can be transferred directly and be equally salient in the target language. Chapter 3 will provide a theoretical framework in which the research questions will be grounded.

The comprehension and production stages of the translation process should not be viewed as two distinct and separate stages, but rather as interlinked and overlapping (see section 3.2 and Figure 7 in section 3.3.2). However, the study assumes that the main cognitive effort invested in comprehension takes place while visual attention is on the L2 source text and the main cognitive effort invested in production is assumed to take place during the typing of the L1 target text.

⁵ It is not within the scope of this thesis to argue the existence of any potentially existing conceptual metaphors.

Eye-tracking and key-logging are both non-intrusive technologies allowing for naturalistic experimentation, which makes it easier for the researcher to simulate an authentic translation process, as the participating translators are able to work under conditions similar to their normal working conditions.

For the comprehension stage, the following research question was formulated:

1) When read for the purpose of translation by a professional translator, will L2 metaphors require more cognitive effort to process than literal expressions as indicated by the eye-tracking data through longer fixation times, a higher number of fixations, and longer first pass durations? Or will the cognitive effort be similar to the effort invested in comprehension of L2 literal expressions?

For the production stage, the following research questions were formulated:

2) Does a professional translator's translation of metaphorical expressions into L1 require more cognitive effort than translation of literal expressions as indicated by longer production times in the key-logging data?

3) Is the indirect translation strategy of paraphrasing more cognitively effortful than a direct translation strategy in which the ST metaphorical image is transferred directly?

4) Is it more cognitively effortful to replace the ST metaphorical image with a new TT metaphorical image than to use a direct translation strategy in which the ST metaphorical image is transferred directly?

These research questions are investigated in the analyses of the eye-tracking and key-logging data in chapters 5 and 6 in which the data sets are analysed using the statistical tool R, which can be freely downloaded from the Internet.⁶ The data are analysed in LMER models, allowing

⁶ The R application can be downloaded from http://www.r-project.org/

for a number of factors to be controlled for. The results will then be discussed in light of the above research questions in sections 5.5 and 6.3.

Chapter 3 Theoretical Framework

The purpose of this chapter is to outline the main lines of thought in metaphor and translation research as well as to provide a framework in which to ground the research questions presented in the previous section. Furthermore, the theoretical background behind the experimental methodology will be discussed and the measures chosen as the most relevant indicators of cognitive effort will be defined.

3.1 Metaphor

If one looks back on the large volume of metaphor research from just the last 40 years, it will soon become evident that there is little agreement on a formal definition of what a metaphor is. Historically, metaphor was viewed as nothing more than decorative language, serving no other purpose but to sound good, but in recent decades, this view has been more or less discarded in favour of a more comprehensive view of metaphor in language. At the other end of the scale is conceptual metaphor theory in which conceptual metaphors are regarded as the means through which we are all able to grasp and relate to abstract concepts (see section 3.1.3). In addition, the constituents making up a metaphor have multiple names and definitions. Finally, the different types of metaphor are categorised and termed differently depending on the researcher, and the same metaphor may be defined as either conventional, lexicalised or dead depending on the researcher.

Goatly offers perhaps the most comprehensive definition of metaphors among the wide range of definitions possible:

"Metaphor occurs when a unit of discourse is used to refer unconventionally to an object, process or concept, or colligates in an unconventional way. And when this unconventional act of reference or colligation is understood on the basis of similarity, matching or analogy involving the conventional referent or colligates of the unit and the actual unconventional referent or colligates" (Goatly 1997: 8)

The following definition by Dickins is very much along the same lines:

"A figure of speech in which a word or phrase is used in a non-basic sense, this non-basic sense suggesting a likeness or analogy [...] with another more basic sense of the same word or phrase" (Dickins 2005: 228)

Deignan's (2005) metaphor definition, which is again very similar to the two definitions above, underlines that the relationship between the two referents is in fact dependent on the comprehender:

"A metaphor is a word or expression that is used to talk about an entity or quality other than that referred to by its core, or most basic meaning. This non-core use expresses a perceived relationship with the core meaning of the word, and in many cases between two semantic fields" (Deignan 2005: 34)

Dickins used the example of the noun *rat*, which has two definitions in Collins English Dictionary: (i) "any of numerous long-tailed murine rodents, esp. of the genus *Rattus*, that are similar to but larger than mice and are now distributed all over the world", and (ii) "a person who deserts his friends or associates, esp. in times of trouble" (Dickins 2005: 228). The first sense of the word is the basic physical sense and the second non-basic sense is a lexicalised metaphor (lexicalised because it has been used often enough to be recorded in a dictionary). The second, non-basic sense suggests a likeness between sense (i) and sense (ii) by attributing some of the characteristics of sense (i) to sense (ii) (but never vice versa), thereby creating a metaphorical sense (Dickins 2005: 228). One advantage of Dickins's metaphor definition is that it excludes analogies, metonymic expressions and idioms, which are sometimes included in metaphor research but are linguistic entities outside the scope of this thesis. Dickins's metaphor definition is therefore chosen as the operational definition of a linguistic metaphor in this study.

3.1.1 Opposing Views of Metaphor: Substitution and Comparison vs. Interaction

Black's (1981) interaction theory of metaphor states that metaphors are not merely decorative but are necessary to understand the world around us. Black pointed out that the metaphor itself creates a similarity between two concepts and ascribes certain properties to the concepts. These ascribed properties would not exist without the metaphor (Black 1981: 37ff.). This observation is closely similar to Lakoff and Johnson's concept of "highlighting" (Lakoff and Johnson 1980: 10ff). In their view the metaphor changes the reader's view of the conceptual domains used in the metaphor and highlights specific characteristics and "maps" them (i.e., links them) from one domain to the other.

Black's views on metaphor are in agreement with the views of later researchers in discarding the substitution and comparison views of metaphor's role in language and communication. Briefly stated, the substitution theory holds that the metaphor stands instead of a literal expression and that the statement could equally well be expressed with a literal expression (Black 1981: 31). The comparison theory posits that a metaphor is, in short, nothing more than a form of simile (Black 1981: 35). These two views of the nature of a metaphor were prevalent for decades, but research carried out in recent decades discarding these theories is convincing (see e.g. Glucksberg 2001, Gibbs 2001). For this reason, the substitution and comparison theories will not be discussed any further in this thesis.

Black touched upon one of the core elements of the "new" view of metaphor when he stated that "the metaphor creates the similarity [rather] than to say that it formulates some similarity antecedently existing" (Black 1981: 37). In other words, a metaphor is not merely a decorative way of saying something which could be stated more directly with a literal expression. A metaphor actually creates a new perspective or interaction between one or more specific properties of a given semantic domain (Coney and Lange 2006: 94). For this reason, Black's view is referred to as the *interaction theory* of metaphor.

Another less controversial aspect of metaphor theory and research is the definition of and terms for the individual constituents of a metaphor. The *frame* was Black's term for the sentence, i.e., the textual context, in which the metaphor is present (Black 1981: 28). He was less clear in his definition of what he termed the *focus* of the metaphor, which is only defined by the example *"the chairman plowed through the discussion"* in which the word *"plowed"* is the focus (Black 1981: 27ff.). An attempt at defining the term *focus* in more detail could perhaps be as follows: the focus of the metaphor is that part of the sentence which has a different semantic origin and which would conventionally have a different frame (e.g., textual context). The word *"plowed"* normally belongs in a semantic domain of farming and is therefore separate in terms of pragmatic origin from the rest of the sentence, which seems to have its origin in the field of business.

It is perhaps telling that Black only used the terms *focus* and *frame* a few times after their introduction and later began to refer to the *principal* and *subsidiary subjects* and the distinction between the *focus* and the *subsidiary subject* was so vague that the two terms may in fact be synonyms (Black 1981: 41). The *principal and subsidiary subjects* seem to roughly correspond to Richards' (1965) *tenor* and *vehicle*, which are equally opaque in their definition and application, as also criticised by Black (Black 1981: 47). *Tenor* meant the "underlying idea or principal subject", which was described by the *vehicle*, i.e., the second concept used to provide the *tenor* with specific characteristics (Richards 1965: 97). In other words, the *vehicle* attributes the metaphoric characteristics to the *tenor*. In the example *men are wolves*, the word *men* is the *tenor* and the word *wolves* is the *vehicle* (Way 1994: 28). In the example it is less clear how the principal subject (the *tenor*) should be identified.

Goatly's (1997) terminology is based on that of Richards, but has received a more widespread use, perhaps from having more clearly defined terms. Goatly uses the terms **topic**, **vehicle**, and **grounds** to refer to the elements of a linguistic metaphor. The terms are perhaps best understood with a metaphor example: In *The past is another country; they do things differently there*, the topic is 'the past', which is being likened to 'another country', the vehicle, and the grounds are the perceived shared characteristics between the topic and the vehicle, in this case stated explicitly as 'they do things differently there' (Goatly 1997: 9, see also Dickins 2005: 231). The topic is often an abstract concept (like 'the past'), which is understood through the more conventional referent in the vehicle ('another country'). Goatly's terminology is adopted in this thesis as the terminological definitions are concise and therefore easily implemented in a research design.

Andersen (2004) credits Richards as the first scholar to take a cognitive approach to metaphors and Black is recognised as furthering the cognitive metaphor theory based on Richards' theories (Andersen 2004: 21). Richards proposed that metaphor was not only a linguistic structure but also "two thoughts of different things active together and supported by a single word, or phrase, whose meaning is a resultant of their interaction" (Richards 1965: 93). In other words, Richards and Black took the view that metaphor was not only creative language use, but also a means of creating new ways of understanding the world around us.

It can be argued that one of the more important contributions of Black's work is his awareness of the importance of context to the comprehension of metaphors. He exemplified why context is necessary in order to identify and comprehend a metaphor: "how recognition and interpretation of a metaphor may require attention to the **particular circumstances** of its utterance" (Black 1981: 29). This observation is also an important reason why the results of some psycholinguistic experiment on metaphors should perhaps not be taken as absolute truths, as many of these types of experiments disregard the context as a variable in order to keep focus on the metaphors in question, presenting the participants with individual phrases or sentences without support from the context in which they occur. Often, the sentences or phrases will not even have an original context as they have been constructed for the purposes of the experiment. Whether these types of experiment are able to reflect the processes in which natural language is used and expressions are comprehended in a textual context is debatable, as also argued by Deignan (Deignan 2008: 284). Gibbs and Perlman also recommend recognising context as an important parameter in metaphor research (Gibbs and Perlman 2006: 217). For this reason, the metaphors reported here were presented within context, which were slightly abbreviated authentic texts.

On the other hand, these carefully controlled experiments are able to provide insights into the minute elements of cognitive processing in a way that is perhaps not possible with more naturalistic research. Obviously, if rigidly controlled experiments could also have high ecological validity, this would provide the strongest basis for insight into the workings of the human mind, but in real-life experiments a compromise has to be struck between maximum control and maximum ecology. Alternatively, findings from controlled experiments can be tested against findings from strictly ecological situations, and the reverse. Steen (2004) is also a proponent of the benefits of verifying findings from "experimental metaphor research" with the findings from "behavioral research" and vice versa instead of dismissing other methodologies as lacking in validity (Steen 2004: 1186). This study attempts to find the middle ground by using authentic texts in an experiment with a relatively high level of ecological validity, but with a high number of statistical controls.

3.1.2 Metaphor Across Languages and Cultures

One of the major considerations in any discussion of metaphors across languages is the question: are metaphors universal? Kövecses defined culture as "a set of shared understandings that characterize smaller or larger groups of people" (Kövecses 2007: 1) with language being the most prominent shared characteristic.

Dobrzynska took this line of thought even further and stated that "language boundaries are at the same time boundaries of distinct cultural communities" (Dobrzynska 1995: 598). Her claim was

that communication is the foundation of shared beliefs and attitudes and thereby culture. According to Dobrzynska, the transfer of a linguistic metaphor from one language to another "puts it into an entirely different communicative situation" (Dobrzynska 1995: 598). Dobrzynska's argument was that the metaphor is transformed into a new product caused by the different setting, resulting in a different sense of the metaphor (Dobrzynska 1995: 599).

On the other hand, Kövecses is a proponent of Lakoff and Johnson's claim that some conceptual metaphors are so inherent in the human mind's capability of relating to abstract concepts that they can reasonably be labelled universal. He attempted to explain the gap between Lakoff and Johnson's claim that conceptual metaphors are almost entirely universal and the infinite variety of linguistic metaphors across languages and cultures. His argument was that while a conceptual metaphor may be shared across languages and cultures, the conceptual metaphor may be expressed in very different ways in two languages and cultures (Kövecses 2007: 119ff) as illustrated in Figure 1 by Trim (2007).



Figure 1: Comparative networking in shared conceptual metaphors (Trim 2007: 70)

Figure 2 illustrates how meaning is conveyed through different conceptual metaphors with different linguistic manifestations, which would apply to potential culture or language-specific conceptual metaphors.

Conceptual/linguistic forms



Figure 2: Comparative networking in language-specific conceptual metaphors (Trim 2007: 71)

Trim (2007) observed that cross-linguistic "equivalence does tend to be flexible in figurative language but there are definitely some items which sound strange in one language but not in another" (Trim 2007: 70). He used the phrase "language-specific saliency" (Trim 2007: 64) to describe these cross-linguistic variations. Language-specific saliency is understood as the suitability of a metaphor in a specific language, i.e., if a ST metaphor is highly salient in the TL, it will be easier to transfer the ST image to the TT. Trim argued that the translator has more creative freedom in the translation of literature than in other genres such as journalism due to "poetic license" but also due to the fact that the metaphors in the ST may even appear odd or at least unfamiliar to a native speaker and should therefore perhaps be allowed the same unfamiliarity in the TT (Trim 2007: 65). It could perhaps be argued that journalists often use metaphors that are as creative as metaphors in literature, not least to catch the readers' attention. Whether or not the translator of a journalistic text feels the same poetic license is debatable and could depend on the translation brief.

Cristofoli et al. (1998) claimed that there is another difference between metaphors, viz. between metaphors in fiction and non-fiction. Metaphors in non-fiction must have the ability to be understood immediately without any effort on the part of the comprehender. Metaphors in this text genre are often recycled (Cristofoli et al. 1998: 168), which increases the reader's chance to

have encountered these metaphors before and integrated them in her mental lexicon. However, this familiarity with specific genres of metaphors and journalistic text does not necessarily mean that they should be translated in the same manner each time as metaphors are highly context dependent. Following Trim's terminology, it would seem that metaphors with a low degree of TL saliency would be more effortful to translate than metaphors with a high degree of TL saliency as the ST metaphor could not be directly transferred into a TL equivalent. Of course, this assumption would only be found to be valid if a direct translation of metaphor is less effortful in terms of cognitive effort than paraphrasing or replacing the metaphor with a different image.

3.1.3 Conceptual Metaphor Theory

The above theories of metaphor concern linguistic metaphors, i.e., the actual metaphorical manifestations in a phrase. However, it is impossible to discuss metaphor theory without considering the conceptual metaphor theory, which has continued to raise attention as well as debate ever since Lakoff and Johnson's seminal work Metaphors we live by (1980) was published. Lakoff and Johnson argued that the linguistic expressions labelled metaphor in a given text or speech are actually manifestations of metaphorical structures in the human conceptual system (Lakoff and Johnson 1980: 6). A conceptual metaphor is a cognitive concept deeply embedded in our culture through which we are able to relate to abstract concepts in the world around us. In fact, Lakoff and Johnson take their statement a step further and argue that humans generally perceive their world metaphorically (Lakoff and Johnson 1999: 45). Lakoff and Johnson use the conceptual metaphors LOVE IS WAR and TIME IS MONEY⁷ to explain how non-physical and abstract concepts such as love and time are understood through the conceptual metaphors and expressed through instances of linguistic metaphors manifested on the basis of these conceptual metaphors. In other words, conceptual metaphor theory regards linguistic metaphors as instantiations of conceptual metaphors in specific utterances or sentences. Examples of linguistic metaphors are He won her hand (Lakoff and Johnson 1980: 49) and I've invested a lot of time in her (ibid: 8). In other words, the linguistic metaphors are

⁷ Conceptual metaphors are conventionally represented in capital letters.

regarded as manifestations of underlying conceptual metaphors. The existence of conceptual metaphors is argued on the basis of patterns of use in linguistic metaphors. Lakoff and Johnson argue that humans understand and relate to their world through metaphors and that these linguistic metaphors are the proof.

Another classic example of a conceptual metaphor is HAPPY IS UP. This conceptual metaphor is argued to be manifested through a number of linguistic metaphors such as *I'm feeling up today* (Lakoff and Johnson 1999: 50). According to Lakoff and Johnson's theory of conceptual metaphors, the target domain of the conceptual metaphor is HAPPY, which is defined by the source domain of UP. The reason that it is UP rather than HAPPY which is defined as the source domain is because it is the source domain, which is superimposed (or "mapped") onto the second domain, the target domain (Barcelona 2003: 3). The target domain is, in other words, defined by the source domain through these "mappings". Examples of manifestations of the conceptual metaphor FEAR IS COLD include *cold feet, in a cold sweat, make your blood freeze, make your blood run cold* (Goatly 2007: 238).

As can be deduced from the above examples, conceptual metaphors are difficult to investigate empirically, as they are manifested through a variety of linguistic metaphors, and it is only through induction that the existence of conceptual metaphors can be argued. Of course, historically, this has been the way that the majority of research in the humanities, including linguistic research, has been carried out. In recent years, however, there seems to be a shift towards more empirically-focused research in language and translation research, in part thanks to the new and more precise technologies available today such as eye-tracking, key-logging, ERP⁸, fMRI⁹, etc. There has also been a shift in recent years away from emphasis on conceptual metaphor theory to a cognitive view of metaphor in which empirical research forms the basis for deductive arguments about metaphors as cognitive concepts (for a discussion of this

⁸ Event-related Potential (ERP): "the pattern of electrical brain activity recorded by several scalp electrodes is averaged to produce a single waveform" (Eysenck and Keane 2010: 7).

⁹ Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI): "*this technique involves imaging blood oxygenation using an MRI machine*" (Eysenck and Keane 2010: 7).

development, see e.g., Steen 1994). Steen argued that the analysis of language structure such as is done in conceptual metaphor theory should not be equated with the study of actual language use.

In other words, the weakness of conceptual metaphor theory is that it is only possible to surmise the existence of any given conceptual metaphor through empirical research on its linguistic manifestations. It is evident that metaphors in a specific genre of text, financial texts for example, tend to group around a limited number of semantic domains (Charteris-Black 2000: 149), but it is very difficult to make the leap to proving the existence of a conceptual metaphor based on these findings (see also Gibbs and Perlman 2006: 215). Patterns of linguistic metaphor may suggest a conceptual metaphor but do not confirm the psychological validity of the metaphor, i.e., is there an actual mental representation in the mind that is shared by different linguistic manifestations? In partial opposition to Charteris-Black's claim of metaphorical groupings, Kimmel (2010) argued that metaphor clusters (in "textual adjacency") in journalistic texts are in fact very often from mixed domains and that, contrary to previous opinion, this is not a sign of linguistic confusion. In fact, Kimmel found that mixed metaphors accounted for 76% of all metaphor clusters in a corpus consisting of British newspaper texts, and he furthermore argued that these metaphors from mixed domains are no less comprehensible than non-mixed metaphors (Kimmel 2010: 97). Although Kimmel's findings do not disprove conceptual metaphor theory, they at least make it reasonable to question if conceptual metaphors are always necessarily present beneath linguistic metaphors.

Linguistic metaphors are present in text and speech and are therefore directly observable. The arguments for the existence of conceptual metaphors are certainly appealing as an explanation of patterns found in linguistic metaphors, but the cognitive reality of conceptual metaphors has not been definitely established. This thesis will focus on the language structures and units directly present in STs and TTs, i.e., the linguistic metaphors.

However, this should not be taken to mean that conceptual metaphor theory is viewed as having no validity in metaphor translation studies. Schäffner has offered an in-depth analysis of

conceptual metaphors underlying political discourse in the European Union from a translation perspective (Schäffner 2004, 2012), and Crerar-Bromelow (2008) posited that "once the translator goes beyond merely identifying a metaphor's static stylistic category and examines the structure which informs it, s/he is in an empowered position to investigate the nature of the idiom [sic]" (Crerar-Bromelow 2008: 90). However, to establish the existence of a conceptual metaphor with any reasonable level of certainty would require a substantial amount of corpus research, and the focus of this study was the cognitive effort invested in comprehension and translation of the individual linguistic metaphors.

Mühlhäusler (1995) stated that "the metaphorical schemes of English are shared, or at least largely overlap, with those of most Standard Average European languages but are absent or different in so-called 'exotic' languages" (Mühlhäusler 1995: 282). This should mean that a Danish translator working from English, her L2, into Danish, her L1, would be able to use the same underlying conceptual metaphor in the TT as was used in the ST. An awareness and understanding of this underlying conceptual metaphor could be assumed to facilitate the cognitive effort involved in translating different linguistic expressions of conceptually identical metaphors. However, as argued by Trim, the conceptual metaphors may still be expressed differently in two languages (see section 3.1.2).

3.1.4 Metaphor Comprehension: Ambiguous or Not

Recent decades have seen a strong increase in empirical psycholinguistic research on metaphor comprehension. The applied methodologies include ERP measurements (Blasko and Kazmerski 2006), neuro-imaging (Mashal and Faust 2010), eye-tracking (Inhoff et al 1984) and response times (Glucksberg 2001). Inhoff et al's research from 1984 used a pioneering eye-tracking methodology to investigate reading times for metaphorical expressions compared with literal expressions and found no difference when the metaphors were supported by context. Blasko and Kazmerski found that metaphors were interpreted directly when supported by context or when the connection between the two semantic domains was clear (Blasko and Kazmerski 2006:

280ff.). Using neuro-imaging, Mashal and Faust concluded that metaphorical interpretation was influenced by several variables including metaphoricity¹⁰ and text presentation style.

There are two opposing views on the process of metaphor comprehension, The first, more traditional view, argues that metaphor comprehension requires a greater cognitive effort than literal language and that the process itself differs in terms of stages (Searle 1979, Coney and Lange 2006: 94). Searle argued that the metaphorical interpretation of a metaphor only takes place once a literal interpretation has been found defective (Searle 1979: 105), termed the *indirect processing approach* by Blasko and Connine (1993: 295). The other view of metaphor claims that metaphors are processed in a manner similar to literal language and do not require an additional processing effort (Glucksberg 2001). This is the *direct processing model* in Blasko and Connine's terms.

Glucksberg investigated participants' response times for rejecting metaphorical statements as literally false compared with response times for rejecting non-metaphorical and literally false statements and found that participants took longer to reject metaphorical statements, indicating that the metaphors were in fact interpreted as metaphors. An example of a literally true statement was *some birds are robins*, while a literally false but metaphorical statement could be *some jobs are jails*, which is a metaphor although it is perhaps possible to question the aptness of some of the metaphors reported by Glucksberg. An example of a literally false and non-metaphorical statement could be *some birds are apples*. Glucksberg found a mean response time of 1239 milliseconds for rejection of the metaphorical statements as literally false non-metaphorical statements (Glucksberg 2001: 22). The longer response time was ascribed to a metaphor interference effect, in other words that the metaphorical interpretation could not be ignored even if it was not the focus of the task.

¹⁰ i.e., the power of the metaphorical image

Glucksberg posited that metaphors will always be interpreted metaphorically and that this metaphorical interpretation is non-optional (Glucksberg 2001: 28), a statement based on experiments in which college students preferred metaphorical interpretations of noun combinations when such interpretations were available. With a background in psychology rather than linguistics, Glucksberg's methodologies had a strong empirical foundation with highly controlled experiments. However, the majority of experiments relied on offline measures such as response times and response accuracy in experiments with a low level of ecological validity. This sacrifice of ecological validity for the ability to construct a carefully controlled experiment may be necessary, but at the same time, findings from such experiments would be solidified if aligned with findings from experiments with a higher level of ecological validity.

Experiments in which the eyes are tracked during a task in which a text is read for comprehension could perhaps reveal differences in the way in which metaphorical expressions are read in comparison with literal expressions instead of the offline measure of response time. However, the claim that metaphors are always comprehended metaphorically would be difficult to verify even with online measures, as longer gaze times only indicate an increase in cognitive effort and does not enable any conclusions on the way in which the read metaphor was interpreted. Glucksberg's claim must stand alone on the basis of his response methodology.

Gerrig and Healy (1983) found that metaphors preceded by priming context were comprehended faster than metaphors succeeded by informative context. An example of such a manipulated metaphor is "*The night sky was filled with drops of molten silver*" versus "*Drops of molten silver filled the night sky*". The experiment had college students read sentences presented individually and press a response button once the sentence was comprehended. Sentences containing metaphors were then presented either before or after a context sentence. Gerrig and Healy claimed that the reason for the shorter response times was because the preceding context primed the reader for a metaphorical interpretation of "*drops of molten silver*" whereas the interpretation of the metaphor without preceding context would initially receive a literal interpretation, which would subsequently be discarded in favour of a metaphorical interpretation, i.e., a garden-path structure (Gerrig and Healy 1983: 668). In a garden-path sentence, the reader may become aware of inconsistencies in an earlier interpretation of a

sentence because of a structural or syntactic ambiguity and will go back and reread segments earlier in the sentence based on a new understanding of the entire sentence (see e.g., Frazier and Rayner 1982, Pickering et al. 2000).

Gerrig and Healy's argument that priming context results in a faster comprehension process seems to be supported by later research by Inhoff et al. (1984) and Glucksberg (2001), claiming that comprehension of metaphors with supporting context does not require a greater cognitive effort than comprehension of literal expressions.

Glucksberg stated that metaphors are not ambiguous if embedded in a context and will not be interpreted literally (Glucksberg 2001: 28). This statement receives support from a paper by Blasko and Kazmerski (2006) citing several ERP studies on metaphor processing. One of those studies cited showed that when metaphors were presented in context, only the metaphorical meaning was activated (Blasko and Kazmerski 2006: 271). Blasko and Kazmerski emphasised the importance of supporting context. However, they further argued that when the link between the metaphor's two concepts is less strong, then a number of other factors may determine the level of cognitive effort required. These factors may include "the personality, knowledge, and expertise of the comprehender" (Blasko and Kazmerski 2006: 280).

In an eye-tracking study, Inhoff et al. (1984) investigated the cognitive effort invested in metaphor comprehension. As stated by Just and Carpenter (1980), "readers make longer pauses at points where processing loads are greater". These points could be at infrequent words, sentence-end positions or while integrating information (Just and Carpenter 1980: abstract). Following Just and Carpenter, longer reading times are generally accepted to be an indication of an increase in cognitive effort as a norm in eye-tracking studies (Rayner and Sereno 1994: 58, Jakobsen and Jensen 2008: 114). Inhoff et al. (1984) found that metaphor comprehension does not constitute an increase in cognitive effort as compared with comprehension of literal expressions, but only when the metaphor was presented in context. In contrast with this, a recent ERP study, measuring participants' electrophysiological responses to stimuli containing literal expressions, conventional and novel metaphors as well as anomalous expressions, found that

both conventional and novel metaphors¹¹ required a higher processing effort and that especially novel metaphors required a sustained effort (Lai et al. 2009). Noveck et al. (2001) found longer reading times for metaphoric expressions than for controls. With less clear data, Noveck et al. also found that a "metaphoric reference has the potential to yield benefits" (Noveck et al. 2001: 118) in terms of a slightly higher number of correct responses to questions after a metaphoric reference than after a synonymous literal one. This observation seems to support the views of cognitive linguists as well as Black's interactionist views on metaphor and Lakoff and Johnson's theory on how we perceive our world metaphorically as Noveck et al's findings indicate that metaphors facilitate comprehension rather than hinder it.

As is evident from the research reported in the previous sections, there is still little agreement on whether metaphors do in fact require an increase in cognitive effort compared with literal language. Furthermore, there are a multitude of other parameters which could have an effect on the process of comprehending metaphors potentially confounding analysis of the data. The most important of these will be discussed in the following sections.

3.1.5 Metaphor Conventionality

Gentner and Bowdle's (2001) *career of metaphor* theory posited that novel and conventional metaphors are processed differently in the sense that when processing a conventional metaphor, two possible interpretations may be activated and the irrelevant literal interpretation is filtered out. Gentner and Bowdle's argument was that conventional metaphors become lexicalised as a secondary meaning of the topic term (Gentner and Bowdle 2001: 228). In other words, the metaphorical interpretation is retrieved from a lexical repository. Lexicalised metaphors are fixed expressions as opposed to novel metaphors, which may be created or adapted ad-hoc.¹²

¹¹ Conventional metaphors are more frequent and established in the language than novel metaphors. For further information about conventional versus novel metaphors, please refer to section 3.1.5.

¹² http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/lexicalization

For novel metaphors, no interpretation is available in the repository or "mental dictionary" and two conceptual concepts must be connected via a "cross-domain mapping" (Steen 2007: 77). Gentner and Bowdle provide "*blueprint*" as an example of a conventional metaphor in that, according to them, it has two meanings, a domain-specific and a domain-general : "a blue and white photographic print in showing an architect's plan" and "anything that provides a plan". In contrast, the example of a novel vehicle term "glacier" as in "Science is a glacier" only has a literal meaning, "a large body of ice spreading outward over a land surface", but no related metaphoric meaning (e.g., "anything that progresses slowly but steadily") and therefore has to be connected by a process of cross-domain mapping (Gentner and Bowdle 2001: 229).

In a related fMRI study of conventional and anomalous metaphors in Mandarin Chinese, Ahrens et al. (2007) found that conventional and anomalous metaphors activated different areas of the brain, indicating different processing patterns (Ahrens et al. 2007: abstract). Anomalous metaphors are defined as highly novel metaphors made up of two conceptual pairings not normally used, such as FOOD and WAR in "the two sides are digesting natural resources" (Ahrens et al. 2007: 164). The anomalous metaphors were made up of pairings of conceptual metaphor source and target domains that were evaluated by a group of native speakers not to exist in Mandarin Chinese (Ahrens et al. 2007: 165). Ahrens et al. found no significant difference in reading time for conventional metaphors versus literal expressions but found a slight activation in the brain's right hemisphere for the conventional metaphors, which was speculated to be an effect of metaphorical processing or an effect of increase in working memory load (Ahrens et al. 2007: 168). There was a significant difference in reading time for the anomalous metaphors compared with both the conventional metaphors and the literal expressions, but perhaps it is more interesting to note the differences in activation patterns in the brain found, not only between anomalous metaphors and literal expressions, but also between anomalous and conventional metaphors, which the researchers conclude show that metaphors cannot always be grouped together as one homogenous group to be compared with literal expressions but that a finer-grained distinction between different types of metaphors should be made.

Of course, it is possible to speculate that part of the explanation of the differences in activation patterns could be found in the fact that Ahrens et al. compared conventional metaphors with anomalous metaphors rather than with novel metaphors (see section 4.6 for a clarification of how metaphor conventionality was taken into account in this study). The issue with the comparison with anomalous metaphors is that it is possible that other factors such as salience (see later in this section) have an effect on the activation patterns, which does not seem to be included as a variable in the reported experiment. Certainly, the examples provided by Ahrens et al. suggest that salience or aptness rather than conventionality is the main difference between the two metaphor types. Their example of a conventional metaphor from the experiment is "the framework of this theory is very loose" whereas the example of an anomalous metaphor is "their (financial) capital has a lot of rhythm" (Ahrens et al. 2007: 165). Intuitively, the anomalous metaphor is more difficult to comprehend, not because it is novel or different, but because the connection between the topic and the vehicle is less obvious, i.e., the metaphor is less apt than the conventional. This does not necessarily mean that Ahrens et al.'s observation that metaphor processing may differ according to the type and nature of metaphor is less valid, but perhaps their findings and experimental design only emphasise the complexity of any investigation of metaphor processing, precisely because of the complex, multi-faceted nature of metaphor.

The claim that different types of metaphor may be processed differently received indirect support from research by Erman (2007) in which Sinclair's *idiom principle* (Sinclair 1991) was investigated through corpus research on speech pauses. The idiom principle states that a language user's mental lexicon will contain not only single words but also a number of multi-word units, such as idioms and collocations. Through investigating the duration and frequency of speech pauses in spontaneous speech, Erman found indication in the low frequency of pauses in multi-word units that these units "remain unanalyzed in production" (Erman 2007: 48). In other words, multi-word units, which the language user is confronted with frequently, can become fixed units in the mental lexicon and retrieved as one unit rather than as several individual lexical choices. Erman also makes the observation that perhaps contexts and situations in which the conventionalised multi-word units appear may also be stored in the mental lexicon (Erman 2007: 45), enabling faster retrieval of the appropriate collocation for speech production. For the translator this would mean that she would be able to store an encountered metaphor, either in L1 or L2, in her mental lexicon, enabling faster retrieval and
therefore faster comprehension the next time the same metaphor is encountered. Following Erman, the translator would also store the context in which the metaphor occurred, which would make her able to retrieve the metaphor from the mental lexicon for use in the appropriate context, such as using words or phrases from the semantic domain of healthcare as vehicles for the economy as topic, as is seen in Text 4 (see Appendix 1).

However, it is also possible that metaphors are so context dependent that the comprehension process is not facilitated unless the metaphor was encountered in a completely identical situation in which the translator received the same translation task, intended for the same audience at the same point in time and with the translator having the exact same level of translation experience. Intuitively, it would seem more likely that the translator would encounter a metaphor similar to one previously encountered but this time perhaps intended for a different target audience or used with a different intention by the author. It could therefore be questioned whether familiarity with a metaphor would in fact reduce the cognitive effort required for its translation.

Jones and Estes (2006) defined conventionality as "the strength of association between a metaphor vehicle and its figurative meaning" (Jones and Estes 2006: 19). Giora defined conventionality as "the lexical meanings automatically associated with entries before any extra inferences based on contextual assumptions have been derived" (Giora 1997: 185). A helpful tool to ascertain whether a certain metaphor should be classified as original or conventional is a dictionary. If the metaphorical sense of a lexical item is listed in the dictionary, the lexical item can reliably be defined as conventional (Way 1994: 240). The Pragglejaz Group (2007) used this method as part of their procedure for determining whether or not a lexical unit was used metaphorically. Way (1994) defined dead metaphors as "usages which have lost their metaphoric import and have been so thoroughly integrated into language that they have become literal" (Way 1994: 16), i.e., dead metaphors are highly conventional metaphors frozen in their form. Way offered expressions such as *running water* and *the foot of a mountain* as examples of dead metaphors (Way 1994:16) and made the observation that, at any given time in language, there will be metaphors which range the entire scale from live to dead or from original to conventional. In other words, the classification of metaphor should not necessarily be seen as

fixed categories but rather as a sliding scale on which a metaphor may move throughout its existence from inception.

This statement received support by Bowdle and Gentner who argued that "some conventional metaphors are more conventional than others" (Bowdle and Gentner 2005: 208), which perhaps does not make it practicable to include conventionality as a variable in empirical research, simply because the distinction between novelty and conventionality is too vague for identification. It could furthermore be argued that the terms *original* and *conventional* are more appropriate than *live* and *dead* as it intuitively makes more sense to refer to a metaphor as being relatively conventional rather than relatively dead (see section 4.6 for a clarification of how metaphor conventionality was indirectly taken into account in this study).

A widely acknowledged hypothesis is Giora's graded salience hypothesis (1997), which posited that the important distinction determining the cognitive effort required is in fact not between literal and figurative meanings but between salient and nonsalient meanings. Giora defined salience as "a function of its conventionality (cf. Gibbs 1980), familiarity (cf. Blasko and Conine 1993), frequency (cf. Hogaboam and Perfetti 1975; Neill, Hilliard, and Cooper 1988), or givenness status in a certain (linguistic and non-linguistic) context" (Giora 1997: 185). In other words, the more immediately available meaning will be interpreted first, and only when this interpretation is evaluated as incorrect, will a less salient meaning be interpreted irrespective of whether the more salient meaning is literal or figurative. Giora also referred to a salient meaning as being *coded* as she argued that, for a specific meaning of a word to be salient, it must necessarily be encoded in the mental lexicon and furthermore have a prominent position in the mental lexicon on the basis of "conventionality, frequency, familiarity, or prototypicality" (Giora 2002: 490). This implies that any meaning not in the mental lexicon is nonsalient and a less-frequent meaning is less salient. Context can affect the saliency of any given conventional meaning, but according to Giora, context is only one of many factors with an effect on the saliency of a meaning. The degree of saliency can be influenced by degrees of familiarity or frequency of the expression. Thus, an expression will not have a fixed degree of saliency as the level of familiarity with the expression can differ from person to person and, consequently, the degree of saliency will differ (Giora 2002: 491).

On the other hand, the conventionality of a specific metaphor must be expected to have a significant effect on the saliency of the expression as frequency and conventionality necessarily must be correlated to some degree. After all, a metaphor becomes conventional through frequent use, which again must be expected to have an effect on the familiarity with a metaphor as there must be a higher chance of familiarity with a metaphor which is conventional and therefore frequently used, resulting in more exposure. This thesis therefore assumes some level of correlation between metaphor conventionality and familiarity while also acknowledging that a metaphor's general level of conventionality does not necessarily mean that a specific individual is familiar with the metaphor. On the other hand, any individual is more likely to be familiarity were taken into account in the statistical model for the data.

One of the strengths of the graded salience hypothesis is the way in which it seeks to explain the arguments from proponents of the direct processing view, arguing that metaphors are processed in a similar and equal manner to literal expressions (Glucksberg 2001), as well as the arguments from proponents of the standard pragmatic model also known as the indirect processing view (see section 3.1.4), claiming that comprehension of metaphors is different from and more effortful than comprehension of literal expressions (Searle 1979, Noveck et al. 2001).

Giora explained the disparity of findings from the two opposing views of meaning processing and metaphor with the hypothesis that salience takes precedence over the distinction between literal and figurative and between conventional and novel expressions and also over context effects (Giora 2002: 490). The graded salience hypothesis is not inconsistent with arguments from either side, but instead tries to bridge the gap between the opposing viewpoints. Although both salience and conventionality are well-defined in the hypothesis, the main weakness of the applicability of the hypothesis seems to be the subjective manner in which saliency is evaluated. No clear-cut methodology is provided for judging the saliency of an expression, which perhaps renders the hypothesis less useful than it has the potential to be. The hypothesis is also inconsistent with findings from an ERP study done by Lai et al. (2009), which reported that conventional metaphors deemed "as interpretable and as familiar as literal sentences" by participants still showed an effect different from that of literal sentences (Lai et al. 2009: 152). For Giora's graded salience hypothesis to have been confirmed, there should have been no difference between the effects from the conventional metaphors and their literal counterparts as the metaphorical meaning should have been equally salient unless the difference in effect was caused by a difference in the way metaphors are processed compared with literal expressions. This difference may not necessarily mean that metaphors are more cognitively effortful to process but only that they may be inherently different from literal expressions and will therefore be processed differently in the mind.

Gibbs proposed that a flexible and very general model is perhaps the best solution for a model of metaphor comprehension (Gibbs 2001: 325). An example of such a flexible model could be Giora's graded salience model or perhaps Katz and Ferretti's constraint satisfaction model (Katz and Ferretti 2001), which Gibbs described as a hybrid model which seems able to make sense of the many aspects of metaphor comprehension (Gibbs 2001: 322). By measuring reading times of proverbs with a moving word-by-word text window, Katz and Ferretti investigated context effects in relation to saliency and familiarity. Based on their findings, which offer no unequivocal support for what they term the obligatory-first model (literal interpretation first), the direct access model (direct figurative interpretation when supported by context) or the graded saliency model, Katz and Ferretti argued that the reason for the diverse and often contradicting results in research on ambiguity resolution can best be explained by the constraint satisfaction model, which posited that the various units of disambiguating information, such as not only syntactic, lexical and conceptual information but also information derived from context and familiarity, will act in parallel as constraints on the interpretation of a given lexical unit. Katz and Ferretti interpreted the results of their experiments within the framework of the constraint satisfaction model: familiar proverbs are processed faster than unfamiliar proverbs because the interpretation of the familiar proverb will be constrained by information retrieved from a lexical repository as well as contextual constraints, which work together to support a figurative interpretation (Katz and Ferretti 2001: 215).

38

There are several differences between proverbs and metaphors, not least the fact that metaphors are generally flexible units, which can be altered to fit the context (unless the metaphor is highly conventionalised, i.e., frozen in its lexical form) and infinite in number, whereas proverbs are conventional phrases and by their nature frozen in their conventional lexical form. It must also be assumed that there is a limit to the number of proverbs in any given language, although it is of course possible that new proverbs can be created.

Despite the differences between proverbs and metaphors, there are more similarities than differences as both concepts are part of figurative language, which was also evident with some of the examples from Katz and Ferretti such as the familiar proverb *you can't get blood from a stone* and the less familiar proverb *straight trees have crooked roots*¹³ (Katz and Ferretti 2001: 219ff.), where "*a stone*" can be interpreted metaphorically as something or someone cold and hard, and "*straight trees*" could be interpreted metaphorically into the familiar phrase of "appearances can be deceiving". It seems reasonable to assume that the arguments made by Katz and Ferretti regarding the constraint satisfaction model's ability to explain the comprehension of proverbs can be applied to metaphorical expressions with the same amount of validity. The constraint satisfaction model can perhaps also help explain why empirical research, using various forms of methodologies, has found such varying results in the investigation of cognitive effort invested in metaphor comprehension. In other words, the process of metaphor constraints on the interpretation process.

3.1.5.1 Classification Schemes

As can be seen from the above sections, there are many different ways of viewing the nature of a metaphor, but there is one finding which there seems to be consistent agreement about. The conventionality of the metaphor will have an effect on the comprehension process and

¹³ These proverbs could also be regarded as dead metaphors according to Way's definition, see section 3.1.5.

consequently on the cognitive effort invested in the process. But as is the case for metaphor definition, there seems to be little consistency in metaphor classification.

In his work on translation, Newmark presented perhaps the most extensive classification scheme for metaphors with five categories: dead, cliché, stock, recent, and original (Newmark 1981: 85). Dead metaphors are metaphors where the comprehender is "hardly conscious of the image". Newmark argued that the vehicles of dead metaphors are often taken from terminology from "space and time, the main part of the body, general ecological features and the main human activities" (Newmark 1988: 106). Newmark's examples of dead metaphors included "field, line, top, bottom [...] fall, rise", as e.g. in 'the field of human knowledge'. The category of *cliché* metaphor was defined as a category of metaphors which are used "emotively" "as a substitute for clear thought" (Newmark 1988: 107). Newmark illustrated this category with the examples of e.g., backwater and break through. The third category was termed stock or standard metaphors. Newmark acknowledged that the distinction between cliché and stock metaphors is quite vague and may be context dependent. A stock metaphor is an "established" metaphor which can be efficient when used informally. It can have an emotional value similar to a cliché metaphor but is "not deadened by overuse" (He exemplified this category with keep the pot boiling, wooden face and a drain on resources (Newmark 1988: 108ff.)). The fourth category was *recent* metaphors which are new expressions which have quickly become popularised in the language such as e.g., *head-hunting* (Newmark 1988: 112). The final category of *original* metaphors were created or quoted by the sender, and the few examples provided by Newmark seemed to indicate that many of this type are quite elaborate or even 'bizarre' (p. 112) such as and on the second day, the squealing (sic) of brakes was loud in the land ... The National Coal Board had gone about as far as it could go (Newmark 1988: 113). How a metaphor can be original if quoted is not obvious, but it would seem to depend on its lack of widespread use.

Newmark's classification scheme is finely granulated, but for the purpose of empirical research, especially considering the apparent difficulty of documenting processing differences, two or three metaphor categories will be sufficient as this will help avoid any overlap in classifying the investigated metaphors, i.e., that a specific metaphor could be categorised in more than one category.

Deignan (2005) classified linguistic metaphors according to their frequency in a corpus. Her model is partly based on Lakoff's discussion of dead metaphors (Lakoff 1987) and Goatly's classification scheme (1997) with metaphors from naturally occurring texts, which she then combined with her corpus methodology. Her model can be seen below.

Types of metaphorically-	Identification	Example
motivated linguistic		
expressions		
1. Innovative metaphors	Fewer than one use per	He held five <i>icicles</i> in each
	thousand corpus citations of	hand. (Larkin, cited in Goatly
	word, or all citations from a	1997:34)
	single source.	
2. Conventional metaphors	Not innovative or historical by	The wind was whispering
	corpus criteria (see 1 and 4).	through the trees. (Allbritton
	Metaphorical sense dependent	1995:35)
	on core senses by corpus	$(\mathbf{L}_{1}, \mathbf{f}_{1}, \mathbf{f}_{2}, f$
	linguistic and/or semantic	grasp (Lakon 19876)
	criteria.	(spending) cut (Goatly 1997)
3. Dead metaphors	Not innovative or historical by	<i>deep</i> (of colour)
	corpus criteria (see 1 and 4).	crane (machine for moving
	Metaphorical sense not	basyy abjects) (Castly 1007)
	dependent on a core sense by	licavy objects) (Obatty 1997)
	either corpus linguistic or	
	semantic criteria	
4. Historical metaphors	The former literal sense is	comprehend, pedigree, pupil
	either not represented in	(meaning "young student")

Table 1: Identification and classification of metaphorically-motivated linguistic expressions (Deignan 2005: 47)

corpus or is so different in	
meaning as to be homonymic	
for current speakers.	

Although Deignan's methodology may be different, her classification categories are not drastically different from those of other researchers. An important aspect of Deignan's work is the observation that methodologies in metaphor research need not be entirely intuitive and can in fact be based on objective empirical criteria rather than subjective introspections (Deignan 2005: 118). However, because of the lack of sharply delineated borders between the different metaphor categories, it can be somewhat complex to work with a specific category of metaphors unless one is able to incorporate corpus-based research as Deignan did.

However, the concept of using corpora to investigate the frequency of metaphorical expressions occurring in natural text was applied indirectly in this thesis as the effects of word frequency and word-in-context probabilities were included in the analyses of both the eye-tracking and key-logging data sets. The values were from the British National Corpus (BNC) and especially the word-in-context probability or trigram probability could be compared with Deignan's corpora research as the trigram probability provides a value for the probability of a specific word occurring together with the words to the immediate left and right of the word. In other words, if there are very few occurrences of a word and its two neighbours occurring together in the BNC, the trigram probability value will be correspondingly low. Although this cannot be compared to actual corpus research such as the work done by Deignan, the unigram and trigram independent variables provide some of the same benefits as corpus research targeted specifically at classifying metaphors.

3.1.5.2 Metaphor Familiarity

As it has been established that the cognitive effort of metaphor comprehension is closely linked to individual factors such as vocabulary skills and working memory capacity (see section 3.2.2),

a general classification may not necessarily be more suitable than a more participant-focused classification based on metaphor familiarity, which would perhaps be more reflective of the cognitive processes of a specific group of participants with a shared profile. Gentili et al. (2008) specifically investigated familiarity rather than conventionality in an fMRI study in which they found significant differences in the activation pattern of non-familiar versus familiar metaphors. A control group was asked to rate a set of metaphors as familiar or non-familiar and another group of participants silently read passages containing either familiar, non-familiar or literal expressions (Gentili et al. 2008: 1). A similar procedure was adopted for the experimental methodology in this thesis in which a control group was asked to rate the familiarity of the metaphors in the texts which the participants were to translate. In other words, where word frequency values are typically based on a specific corpus, familiarity ratings are normally determined by a control group (Clifton et al. 2007: 345).

Gentili et al. defined familiarity "as an umbrella notion that embraces frequency, lexicalization, aptness and other parameters of metaphor complexity" (Gentili et al. 2008: 1). The concepts of frequency and lexicalisation are parameters of metaphor conventionality, and, following Gentili et al., also parameters of metaphor familiarity. The more lexicalized a metaphor is, the more conventional until the metaphor becomes dead or frozen. Intuitively, it follows that it is reasonable to assume some form of correlation between conventionality and familiarity. After all, if a metaphor is highly conventional, it means that it is used often, which would indicate that there is a good chance that the comprehender has gained a high level of familiarity with it.

Metaphor conventionality and familiarity consequently seem to be closely correlated concepts. Metaphor familiarity could be argued to be another measure of metaphor conventionality more oriented towards the individual reader whereas a corpus-based classification scheme of conventionality as used by Deignan (2005) could be argued to be more oriented towards the metaphorical expression itself. Danks and Griffin posited that the translator's comprehension of the ST will function as a filter on the TT (Danks and Griffin 1997: 169). Intuitively, there would be a higher chance of an easier and more correct interpretation process for ST metaphors (and literal expressions) if the metaphor had been encountered and processed on previous occasions.

In other words, Danks and Griffin's statement could be regarded as support for familiarity as an indicator of cognitive effort in comprehension and production.

Gentner and Bowdle (2001) argued that conventionality should not be considered parallel to familiarity. Their point of view was that conventionalisation occurs through repeated use of a given vehicle term until that term becomes polysemous with two related meanings, a literal and a metaphorical. Familiarisation, on the other hand, takes place through repeated use of a given vehicle-topic pairing, leading to the creation of stock expressions such as "time is money" according to Gentner and Bowdle (Gentner and Bowdle 2001: 229). But it is never made quite clear how Gentner and Bowdle make the distinction between a conventional metaphor and a stock expression, which seem closely related, or how this distinction could be applied in empirical research. In this thesis, conventionality is assumed to be a component in the concept of familiarity, which is regarded as a more flexible parameter better suited for the investigation of a specific target group. This assumption is based on the reasoning that a frequently used expression, i.e. therefore one that has become conventional, will be more likely to be familiar to the reader than a less frequent and conventional expression.

3.1.6 Summary

As can be seen from the above sections, the number of factors which may have an influence on the process of monolingual metaphor comprehension is very large, and the bulk of research on metaphor comprehension consists of monolingual studies. Therefore, these findings may not necessarily all be fully relevant for research on L2 metaphor comprehension, but they are nevertheless useful for forming a theoretical framework and concepts.

It is assumed that all of these factors will also have some form of effect on the bilingual metaphor comprehension process, although perhaps to a lesser extent as the effect of these factors may be overshadowed by the cognitive effort of bilingual language processing. It is impossible to take all these factors into account when investigating metaphor processing, especially as many of these factors are so closely interlinked that it may be neither feasible nor necessary to keep them separate in a research design. This section will attempt to give an overview of the factors which have, in some form, been taken into account in the research reported here as well as give an account of the viewpoints and arguments which help form the theoretical framework of the present study.

Table 2 offers an overview of the main concepts applied in this thesis:

Term	Definition
Literal meaning	The basic, non-metaphorical
	meaning or sense of a word or
	expression as found in a
	dictionary
Metaphor	A figure of speech in which a

 Table 2: Definitions of main concepts

	word or phrase is used in a
	non-basic sense, this non-basic
	sense suggesting a likeness or
	analogy [] with another more
	basic sense of the same word
	or phrase" (Dickins 2005: 228)
Торіс	The unconventional or abstract
	referent in the metaphorical
	expression
Vehicle	The conventional referent, the
	characteristics of which are
	mapped onto the topic
Grounds	The properties shared between
	the topic and vehicle
Cognitive effort	The mental effort spent by an
	individual on a mental process.
	In this thesis, cognitive effort is
	measured by gaze time and
	typing speed.

Further operationalisations of relevant concepts can be found in section 4.6.

This thesis takes a point of departure in the interactionist view of metaphor as a cognitive concept creating a new understanding of the topic included in the metaphor. Metaphors are regarded as serving a purpose beyond the merely decorative, a viewpoint which is supported by research by Glucksberg (2001), Koller (2004) and Lakoff and Johnson (1980). Although there is general consensus today on the view of metaphor as less of a rhetorical device and more of a cognitive concept contributing to a deeper understanding of, sometimes abstract, concepts, there is still little consensus on whether metaphors are ambiguous or not. This discussion is between

the opposing views of the standard pragmatic theory as supported by e.g., Searle (1979) and the direct processing model or direct access view as supported by e.g., Inhoff (1984) and Glucksberg (2001). On the basis of the research reported in this chapter, the direct access view appears to be the most convincing, i.e. the view that metaphors are not ambiguous and that a metaphorical interpretation is not second to a literal interpretation found to be false. This should not be taken to mean that metaphors are necessarily regarded as being processed in the same manner as literal expressions, rather that they are not considered to be ambiguous nor is any increased cognitive effort in the comprehension process ascribed to ambiguity.

Although this thesis does not specifically investigate the occurrence of conceptual metaphors, which are claimed by Lakoff and Johnson (1980) to form the basis of our understanding of abstract concepts, the linguistic metaphors found in the texts chosen for this experiment indicated a certain form of clustering around specific semantic domains. It seems intuitively logical that linguistic metaphors are not created randomly and ad-hoc, but are instead created on the basis of underlying topoi, which it has become customary to apply metaphorically to abstract concepts (see e.g., Charteris-Black 2000). The underlying, assumed conceptual metaphors and the associated linguistic metaphors may vary from language culture to language culture, whereas other metaphors may be almost universal in their use, bridging both languages and cultures. This issue of universal versus culture-specific metaphors will be discussed more in depth in the section Metaphor Translation (see section 3.2.4).

In this thesis, conventionality is understood according to Giora's definition, "the lexical meanings automatically associated with entries before any extra inferences based on contextual assumptions have been derived" (Giora 1997: 185). Gentner and Bowdle's *career of metaphor* theory (Gentner and Bowdle 2001), claiming that novel and conventional metaphors are processed differently, seems to have some validity, but Katz and Ferretti's (2001) constraint satisfaction model, described by Gibbs as a hybrid model, does seem to offer the most intuitively plausible explanation for the wide array of highly varied research results on metaphor comprehension and cognitive effort. There is such a multitude of unique and overlapping factors affecting the process of metaphor comprehension that it is perhaps not feasible to pinpoint a single one of them as the deciding factor for the cognitive effort required for the process.

Therefore, the flexibility of the constraint satisfaction model perhaps provides a more realistic picture of the comprehension process because it acknowledges that it is a process in which multiple pieces of disambiguating information act in parallel.

Saliency can be regarded as an effect of other factors such as context and familiarity. The present study examines metaphor comprehension in the light of the constraint satisfaction model, meaning that the cognitive effort required for comprehension will be regarded as being a result of an amalgamation of information derived from context, vocabulary, syntax, familiarity and several other factors, which are all regarded as overlapping to one extent or another. The effects of context, word frequency, and familiarity are some of the variables which are taken into account in the statistical regression model applied to the analyses of the eye-tracking and key-logging data sets. Although some of these elements and their effects may be overlapping in the comprehension process, the experiments were designed so as to control for as many influences as possible in order to investigate the effect of metaphor comprehension and production on cognitive effort without the 'noise' from all these other elements which come into play. The statistical regression model allows for analysis that eliminates noise effects.

With this said, familiarity was regarded as being a more comprehensive umbrella factor under which several other factors were included. Familiarity is defined in this thesis as an umbrella concept encompassing frequency, lexicalisation, and others in accordance with the definition put forth by Gentili et al. (2008). The comprehensiveness of the concept of familiarity means that it is perhaps the most suitable of the various factors for inclusion in the research design as an investigation of the effect of familiarity is also an indirect investigation of the effect of the many factors included in the concept of familiarity. Metaphor familiarity is also deemed more relevant than metaphor conventionality for investigation in this research design in which the group of participants is relatively homogenous.¹⁴ Conventionality is more generic and less reflective of the level of metaphor expertise with this specific group of participants with their particular background.

¹⁴ All 17 participants were professional translators (see section 4.2).

Because of the multitude of factors, it may be helpful to have an overview of the parameters involved in metaphor comprehension and how they are taken into account in this thesis. The purpose of Table 3 is to provide such an overview. The table should not be regarded as exhaustive, but it lists the essential elements of the theoretical framework of the thesis with regard to metaphors.

Table 3: Parameters of metaphor processing

Parameter	Researcher	Statement	Relevance to	Data analysis
			thesis	
Purpose and	Richards	The meaning of a metaphor is a	This thesis holds	The interactionist
	Black (1981)	result of the interaction of two concepts A metaphor creates a new perspective on one or more properties of the two concepts in interaction	view of metaphor in line with Richards and Black.	investigated directly but was an underlying assumption about the metaphors in the experimental texts.
Conceptual	Lakoff and	Linguistic	The thesis	The metaphors in
Metaphor	Johnson	metaphors are	investigates	the experimental
Theory	(1980) Steen (2004)	manifestations of underlying metaphorical structures in the human conceptual system Beneficial to move from hypotheses on potential	cognitive effort involved in translation of actual linguistic metaphors. The metaphors referred to in research questions One and Two refer to linguistic	texts are linguistic metaphors and no underlying conceptual metaphors were identified.
		conceptual metaphors to empirically founded research on linguistic	metaphors and not conceptual metaphors.	

		metaphors		
			In line with Steen's	
			(2004) point of	
			(2004) point of	
			view, it was not	
			deemed feasible to	
			ascertain the	
			potential existence	
			of underlying	
			conceptual	
			metaphors.	
Conventionality	Gentner	The career of	Conventionality	The variable
conventionally	and	metaphor theory	and familiarity	Trigram
	Bowdle	nosits that novel	were regarded as	Probability is
	(2001)	and conventional	alosoly interlinked	hasad on word
	(2001)			
		metaphors are	concepts of which	frequency values
		processed	familiarity was	from the BNC.
		differently:	deemed to be the	
		conventional	stronger predictor	
		metaphors become	because familiarity	The values are a
		lexicalised as a	was more closely	measure of the
		second meaning of	linked to the	probability of a
		the topic term and	particular	word occurring
		novel metaphors	background of the	together with the
		are processed by	participant group.	word on each side
		mapping the two		of it.

conceptual concepts involved. Conventionality was posited to be the main predictor of metaphor comprehension.	However, conventionality was investigated indirectly through the variable Trigram Probability, a value of the probability of a word occurring in a three-word context. Trigram Probability does not take into	
	account whether the words are used metaphorically or literally. The Familiarity parameter is of relevance to all four research questions as metaphor familiarity was assumed to have an effect on both comprehension and production.	

Giora	The graded	Giora's graded	The variable Type
(1997)	salience hypothesis	salience hypothesis	investigated
	posited that	was interpreted to	whether there was
	cognitive effort is	mean that perhaps	any difference in
	dependent on an	there would be no	cognitive effort
	expression's	difference in the	required for
	saliency, an	cognitive effort	comprehension
	umbrella	required for	and translation of
	expression for	comprehension and	metaphorical
	conventionality,	translation of L2	versus literal
	familiarity,	metaphors if	expressions. If no
	frequency, and	salience is more	difference was
	givenness in a	important than the	found, this could
	certain context.	difference between	be seen as indirect
	Salience was	metaphorical and	support of Giora's
	argued to take	literal.	graded salience
	precedence over		hypothesis.
	the distinction		
	between	The hypothesis was	
	metaphorical and	only investigated	
	literal.	indirectly as the	
		metaphor and	
		comparison AOIs	
		were not rated in	
		terms of saliency.	

Familiarity	Gentili et	Familiarity was	Familiarity was	A group of raters
	al. (2008)	defined as an	regarded as a	(professional
		umbrella concept	stronger predictor	translators) rated
		of frequency,	than	their familiarity
		lexicalisation,	conventionality	with the metaphor
		aptness as well as	because familiarity	AOIs. The
		other parameters.	was more directly	averages of these
			targeted towards	ratings were
			the specific	included in
			background of the	statistical
			participant group.	analyses 1.1. and
				4.1 in the
				metaphor versus
			Following Gentili	metaphor
			et al. (2008),	comparisons (see
			familiarity was	section 5.2, 6.2
			regarded as an	and appendix 6).
			umbrella concept	
			and was seen as a	
			special form of	
			metaphor	
			conventionality as	
			frequency and	
			lexicalisation are	
			also parameters in	
			metaphor	
			conventionality.	
			The familiarity	
			ratings were	
			therefore also	
			assumed to be	
			indirectly reflective	

	of the metaphors'	
	conventionality.	

3.2 Translation as a Process

Gile (2009) offered a general model of the translation process, which illustrates how a translator may reread a sentence or a unit several times before deciding on the preferred choice of translation. Gile argued that the translator will decide on an initial hypothesis about the meaning of the unit, which may or may not be revised after drawing on both linguistic and extralinguistic knowledge and the translator's general world knowledge as seen on the left- and righthand sides of the model below. Gile talked of a translation unit, which was vaguely defined as a processing unit, which he acknowledged as a subjective definition (Gile 2009: 102). According to this definition, a metaphor could be assumed to be an example of a translation or processing unit. The subjectivity inherent in the definition of a translation unit could be regarded as an advantage as this subjectivity acknowledges the individuality that characterises not only translation output but also the translation process itself. In other words, what may constitute a translation unit to one translator may be only part of a larger translation unit for another translator. This was also the finding in Dragsted's (2004) empirical research on segmentation in translation from a cognitive perspective, in which a translation unit is regarded as a hybrid between the linguistic and normative concept of a source language and target language equivalent (in this case observed through pauses in key-logging) (Dragsted 2004: 43). However, in this thesis, the words central to the investigation of the research questions, i.e., the metaphorical expressions in the experimental texts, were assumed to be processed relatively uniformly in terms of their boundaries as the metaphors were assumed to be processed as relatively coherent units.



Figure 3: Gile's model of the translation process (Gile 2009: 102)

Gile created his model for didactic purposes, but it is also relevant for empirical research in translation. The idea of a meaning hypothesis, which is tested for plausibility against the translator's knowledge base, aligns well with empirical research on garden path sentences as well as other psycholinguistic work on e.g., regressions in eye-tracking research. In the translation process, the translator forms a hypothesis about the meaning of the read translation unit and tests this hypothesis against the knowledge available to her in the text as well as her own mental lexicon and external sources such as e.g., a dictionary or the web.

Gile's model is also relevant in relation to research on both metaphor comprehension and translation. Several researchers have argued that metaphors are not ambiguous and that the

comprehension of metaphors does not require a higher cognitive effort than comprehension of literal expressions (Glucksberg 2001, Inhoff et al. 1984). Following the line of thought in Gile's model, this means that, when reading a metaphor in a sentence, the initial meaning hypothesis will have a metaphorical interpretation, which will be found plausible based on the translator's knowledge base.

When the translator has decided that the meaning hypothesis is plausible, she will then move on to the reformulation in the target language according to Gile's model. The target language translation unit is provisional in the same way as the meaning hypothesis in that its initial version may also be modified several times during the translation process if for example it does not show fidelity to the ST (Gile 2009: 104). A relevant aspect of the reformulation phase is what Gile termed the "editorial acceptability", which is perhaps too narrow a term for a quite broad concept, as Gile included under this header "clarity, language correctness, stylistic appropriateness, cultural/social adequacy and compliance with conventional terminological usage" (Gile 2009: 104). Stylistic appropriateness, cultural adequacy as well as conventional terminological usage are all aspects which should be considered when translating metaphor, as metaphor is not only a stylistic rhetorical device but also a cultural phenomenon and certain types of metaphors are often predominant in specific genres (see e.g., Charteris-Black 2000).

Gile also pointed out that the translator will perform these tests of plausibility and acceptability for larger chunks of texts or "groups of translation units" (Gile 2009: 105). In other words, Gile's sequential model of translation can also be applied to sentences, paragraphs and entire texts and not only translation units. An important reason for carrying out these tests on larger text units is that the translator may gain a fuller understanding of the text the further into the text she comes (Gile's "ad-hoc knowledge" on the right-hand side of the model). It may then become necessary for the translator to revise either the meaning hypothesis or the reformulation of one or more translation units earlier in the text based on this new knowledge. In other words, the reader will retrace her steps on the garden path ready to form a new meaning hypothesis based on newly acquired ad-hoc knowledge about the possible meaning of the sentence. On the basis of empirical research on orally produced translations, Lörscher (1992) concluded that the translation process of professional translators is characterised by a top-down senseoriented approach in which the translator separates the sense from the sign in the source language and searches for equivalent target language signs on the basis of the sense rather than using a sign-oriented approach, which Lörscher argued is generally used by the foreign language learner (Lörscher 1992: 153). This is illustrated graphically in the following model:



Figure 4: Sense-oriented translating (Lörscher 1992: 154)

Lörscher's model of sense-oriented translation could perhaps be even more relevant for metaphor translation than for translation of literal expressions. After all, interpretation of a metaphor requires that the translator moves beyond the signs or words, which will not make any sense if interpreted merely at surface level. It is necessary for the translator to interpret the sense of the metaphor based on the situational context of the metaphor and also, to some extent, the text. A bottom-up approach in which signs or words in the source language are equated more or less automatically with signs or words in the target language will be insufficient as a translation strategy for metaphors. This bottom-up approach is illustrated graphically by Lörscher in Figure 5:



Figure 5: Sign-oriented translating (Lörscher 1992: 153)

As Lörscher argued that professional translators will generally translate through a sense-oriented approach, it is reasonable to assume that the same approach would be preferred by the professional translators involved as participants in the experiment reported here. Although it may be difficult to verify empirically which approach the participants in the current experiment employed, it can perhaps be argued that a more or less direct word-by-word translation could be an indication of a preference for a more sign-oriented translation approach whereas a reformulation of the source language metaphor into a different image or a literal expression could be an indication of a more sense-oriented translation approach. On the other hand, a direct translation could often be the optimal choice in terms of target language use and can therefore not be said to be an indication of a less professional translation approach. Schäffner (2005) pointed out the difficulty of verifying whether differences in ST and TT metaphors are the result of conscious and strategic decisions or simply "ignorance" on the part of the translator (Schäffner 2005: 75).

On the other hand, a lack of conscious decision-making need not necessarily mean ignorance but could also be interpreted as the result of the professional translator's more or less automated processes, a phenomenon which Shreve and LaCruz describe as when "the ability to perform transfer quickly and accurately increases and conscious effort decreases" (Shreve and LaCruz, in press).

Gile's sequential model of translation and Lörscher's model of sense-oriented translating are plausible representations of the cognitive process of translation and, as argued by Kußmaul, it is necessary for the empirical researcher to base his hermeneutic investigation on pre-existing models to be able to make sense of his data (Kußmaul 2007: 105), and particularly Gile's model of translation would seem well-suited as a point of departure for empirical research on the translation processes.

3.2.1 Is Translation Sequential or Parallel?

Translation can be regarded as either a sequential or a parallel process or a hybrid of both. The proponents of the sequential view claim that only when the ST has been comprehended in full will TT production take place. In contrast, the parallel view states that SL linguistic structures are replaced with TT equivalents on an ongoing basis (de Groot 1997: 30). One proponent of the parallel view is Mossop (2003), who proposed that the translator will automatically begin to produce TT renderings of ST linguistic structures as soon as they are encountered and that this is an unconscious process, which cannot be controlled. There is empirical support for the parallel view in the eye-tracking research carried out by Hvelplund (2011), who investigated the duration of attention units (i.e. the time before the attention switches from ST to TT and vice versa) and interpreted the occurrences in which the parallel processing. However, the data also indicated occurrences of sequential processing, and Hvelplund 2011: 128). Following Mossop (2003) and Hvelplund (2011), this thesis regards the translation process as mainly parallel, with occurrences of sequential processing rather than a strictly sequential or parallel process.

3.2.1.1 The Sequential View of the Translation Process

Gile's model of the translation process (see section 3.2.) represents the sequential view of translation (also referred to as the vertical view (de Groot 1997)). Following Seleskovitch (1976), the sequential view of the translation process proposes that the meaning of the ST is

deverbalised before it is reconstructed in the TT. In other words, ST syntax and lexis are processed, i.e. comprehended, and the meaning is dissociated, i.e. deverbalised, from the ST language, before moving on to the output of the TT. Only when the comprehension process is finished will the deverbalised meaning be reconstructed under the constraints of the TT language. These constraints would include not only target language syntax and lexis, but also norms of language use and idiomatic expressions.

Mossop (2003: 2) and Hvelplund (2011: 62) pointed out that Seleskovitch' argumentation for the sequential view is based on the observation that the TT sometimes bears very little resemblance to the ST in terms of syntax and lexis. They also observed that Seleskovitch offers no empirical support for the deverbalisation theory, which is based on personal experience as an interpreter (Seleskovitch 1976). Macizo and Bajo (2004) observed that evidence from bilingual studies would instead seem to support the parallel view of translation (also referred to as the horizontal view (de Groot 1997: 30)) (Macizo and Bajo 2004: 182).

3.2.1.2 The Parallel View of the Translation Process

Whereas proponents of the sequential view of translation claim that comprehension and production take place one after the other, proponents of the parallel view argue that comprehension and production occur more or less in parallel (Mossop 2003, Macizo and Bajo 2004). According to the parallel view, ST comprehension is affected by target language influence (Macizo and Bajo 2004: 183) and therefore differs from normal monolingual text comprehension.

Macizo and Bajo designed an experiment in which participants were asked to read sentences, either for translation or for repetition. Because of working memory (WM) constraints, it was assumed that code switching would slow down reading times because of the WM capacity required (Macizo and Bajo 2004: 193). Macizo and Bajo argued that if the sequential translation process theory were to hold true, reading times would be the same whether or not reading was

done for translation or repetition as code switching would only take place once comprehension of the sentence was completed following the sequential translation process theory (Macizo and Bajo 2004: 186). However, this was not the case as sentences read for translation had longer reading times than sentences read for repetition, indicating that more cognitive processes appeared to be occurring during reading for translation than during monolingual reading for comprehension.

3.2.2 Translation and Working Memory

The working memory system includes both "active processing and transient storage of information" and the working memory is assumed to be "involved in all complex cognitive tasks, such as language comprehension [...] and reasoning [...]" (Eysenck and Keane 2010: 223). It is not within the scope of this thesis to go into detail regarding the individual components of the working memory,¹⁵ but as working memory capacity (WMC) has an effect on the cognitive effort required for translation, it is nevertheless an important concept to discuss.

Carpenter et al. (1994) emphasised the importance of working memory in language comprehension "because both producing and comprehending language require the processing of a sequence of symbols over time" (Carpenter et al. 1994: 1075). Carpenter et al. found strong relations between WMC and language processing skills across several participant groups. Carpenter et al. also argued that ambiguity required more cognitive resources from participants with a low WMC as these were less able to hold multiple interpretations in the memory storage for a lengthened period of time than participants with a high WMC (Carpenter et al. 1994: 1083). On the basis of these findings, it does not seem unreasonable to assume that translators will generally have a high WMC as translation requires strong language processing skills as well as the ability to manage source and target language interpretations more or less simultaneously. Kaakinen et al. (2003) found that there was a connection between a high WMC and the ability to

¹⁵ For a detailed discussion of the working memory and its components, see e.g., Baddeley (1999), or for a discussion from a translation-process perspective, see e.g., Hvelplund (2011).

focus attention on relevant information in the text (Kaakinen et al. 2003: 456), which could also be regarded as part of the skill set of a professional translator, i.e., to be able to recognise the important elements of a given text, which must be included in the TT.

Shreve and Diamond (1997) argued that a translator has a single working memory capacity with the ability to access two mental lexicons simultaneously. The argument of Shreve and Diamond was that a translator will have one separate mental lexicon, or in their terminology "long-term memory store", for her L1 and another mental lexicon for L2 and that mappings or connections exist between sets of shared conceptual representations in the two lexicons. In other words, each lexicon contains linguistic structures (orthographic, grammatical, etc.), which are mediated via a shared conceptual store, which presumably also stores the meaning of (lexicalised) metaphors. The metaphor may be expressed with different linguistic structures in L1 and L2 or may be similar, depending on the culture-specificity of the metaphor. This viewpoint is illustrated by Trim's model in which he shows how one conceptual metaphor may be expressed through different linguistic forms in two different languages (Trim 2007: 70, see section 3.1.2). The simultaneous activation of both mental lexicons in a translation process will increase the cognitive effort required from the working memory system (Shreve and Diamond 1997: 237).

3.2.3 Translation Competence

As seen in earlier research (Jakobsen and Jensen 2008, Lörscher 1992), the translation process may also be affected by participants' translation experience, including their decision-making capabilities. As previously mentioned, there are many different views on what constitutes a "good" translation. Translation competence is not directly investigated in this study, but it was assumed that the participants' decision-making processes and therefore also their process behaviour were related to their translation competence, which was assumed to be generally high, as all participants were professional translators (see section 4.2). In other words, the behaviour and decisions made by the participants were assumed to be linked to their translation competence, which would not be the case if the participants were student translators.

Wilss (2001) argued that the decision-making process is especially difficult in a translation task because of the duality of a translation. A translator has to take into consideration not only the ST's "semantic, functional, pragmatic, and stylistic dimension" but also the "needs and expectations of the target-text readership" (Wilss 2001: 57). Wilss' observation on the stages in which a translator may experience difficulties and the potential lack of decision-making skills leads to the question of how to define translation competence. Dimitrova (2005) used the term *translation competence* to emphasise the view of translation as a professional competence. She defined translation competence as not only including competence in the source and target languages and knowledge of both cultures but also including "a more specific competence in the pragmatic, text-linguistic and stylistic aspects of the two languages" (Dimitrova 2005: 12).

Schäffner and Adab (2000) argued that *translation competence* is better understood as an umbrella term for a number of subcompetences such as linguistic and cultural knowledge and domain-specific knowledge, and *competence* should be regarded as an umbrella term for concepts such as "knowledge, skills, awareness, expertise" (Schäffner and Adab 2000: ix ff).

Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit (1991) investigated other characteristics that defined translation competence in a professional translator compared with novice translators and found that novice translators spent more effort on linguistic decisions, whereas the more experienced translators, and presumably more competent translators, focused their efforts more on macro-level factors such as context and the intended audience. This finding was supported by process-oriented experiments using think-aloud protocols or TAPs. Here, Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit found that early decisions made about the style of the translation would automatise style-related decisions later in the text in the sense that subsequent stylistic choices would not be verbalised in the TAP and were therefore taken to have been automatised (Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit 1991: 98 ff.). However, it could be argued that not all participants can be trusted to verbalise every thought during the translation process and a process may not necessarily be automatised simply because it is not verbalised.

The methodology of TAPs is not without its flaws in that the task of thinking aloud and verbalising one's decisions may intrude on the cognitive processes taking place and perhaps place unnatural emphasis on decisions and processes which would not have required the same amount of cognitive effort with a less intrusive methodology such as e.g., keystroke-logging or eye-tracking. The benefit of TAP experiments is that TAPs offer verbalisations of whatever the translator is thinking of whereas the less intrusive methodologies such as eye-tracking, key-logging and ERP only offer findings which can indirectly be linked to cognitive processes. Of course, with TAPs it is always possible to speculate that the translator is only verbalising those considerations which she thinks the experimenter wants to hear or which she is comfortable expressing whereas with key-logging or eye-tracking or similar methodologies, the translator is able work more ecologically while the data is still being produced.

However, if Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit's observation on automated stylistics decisions is taken to be true, would this mean that in a text containing several metaphors, the translator would only make a conscious decision on the preferred translation strategy for the first metaphor encountered and that subsequent metaphors in the same text would automatically be translated using the same strategy? It would be difficult to verify whether this consistent behaviour was a sign of translation competence or rather a result of continuing down a path previously chosen and perhaps Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit's automaticity could instead be regarded as some form of facilitation effect in which the translation of subsequent metaphors would be facilitated by the decisions made previously and, in other words, be less cognitively effortful to produce. Following the line of thought from Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit, it would seem that consistency in metaphor translation strategy should be regarded as a sign of translation in which the translator is required to translate multiple metaphors within a single text, metaphors which may perhaps be related semantically, as is often the case and which is also the case for texts 3 and 4 in this thesis.

Danks and Griffin stated that a text can be "conceptually quite difficult, say in the abstractness of the concepts or in the complexity of the argumentation, and this difficulty has been demonstrated to affect readers' processing of the text" (Danks and Griffin 1997: 169). They

concluded that the depth of the translator's understanding of a text will function as a filter on the TT. This assumption does seem to be somewhat contradictory to Wilss' observation that the translator is in fact often aware of the problem but just does not have the necessary decision-making skills (Wilss 2001: 57). Danks and Griffin's argument seems to suggest that the translator may not be aware that there is a problem with the understanding or translation of the text, and it could therefore be argued that another element in the definition of translation competence could be the ability to identify potential problems in both comprehension and production in order to be able to solve the problems adequately.

Göpferich includes psycho-motor competence in her definition of translation competence (Göpferich 2009: 21ff). Psycho-motor competence covers capabilities for reading and writing, such as typing, and Göpferich argued that the less sufficient such skills are in a translator, the more cognitive effort is required for this task (Göpferich 2009: 22), thereby using cognitive capacity which could otherwise have been spent on the actual production of the translation. Empirical research could reveal lack of psycho-motor competence when the research involved reading and/or typing, and the competence should certainly be taken into account when looking at individual differences between participants. An aspect of Göpferich's concept of psycho-motor competence which is relevant for research using eye-tracking technology is the participant's competence in touch typing. A participant who is a poor touch typist will look down at the keyboard more often resulting in a loss of eye-tracking data.

The quality criteria for the eye-tracking data included investigation of the proportion of time spent by the participant in looking at the monitor based on the assumption, following Göpferich that a poor touch typist would spend additional cognitive effort on the typing task which might skew the results, also for the key-logging analysis (see section 4.3 for an in-depth explanation).

To sum up, translation competence was not investigated directly in this study, other than an indirect control of the participants' touch typing skills as described above, but translation competence was assumed to have an effect on the translation decisions made by the participants and was therefore regarded as a relevant aspect of the discussion of the results in analyses 1.1.

and 4.1 as well as the qualitative analysis in chapter 7. But since the focus of this study is metaphor translation, it is also necessary to differentiate between general translation competence and metaphor translation competence.

3.2.3.1 Metaphor Translation Competence

This leads to the question of whether there is such a thing as metaphor competence or perhaps more specifically metaphor translation competence? Steen referred to a "mental dictionary" (Steen 2007: 77), and Blasko and Kazmerski pointed to individual experience as a variable in metaphor comprehension (Blasko and Kazmerski 2006). The term *competence* connotes familiarity with a subject, but what does familiarity with metaphors mean? If a person is familiar with one or the other of the two semantic domains constituting a metaphor, is this sufficient to be regarded as having metaphor competence? A translator may have encountered a specific metaphor before in either her L1 or L2, but it could be speculated that it is only when the connection has been made between an L1 metaphor and an L2 metaphor referring to the same underlying concepts that the translator could be said to be familiar with a metaphor from a translation perspective. Metaphor translation competence could be seen as the ability to make the mapping between a source language metaphor and a target language metaphor and not only the ability to draw upon mappings made in previous translations.

From a monolingual perspective, a person working within a specific field, such as an MA student or a scientist in medicine, would be more familiar with the conventional metaphors in his or her specific field. Charteris-Black (2000) argued for the benefits of teaching ESP economics students the register of metaphor used in their specific field as a way of deepening the students' understanding of the "conceptual domain of their subject" (Charteris-Black 2000: 164). In other words, a person may have expertise in a field-specific terminology, which could include any number of conventional or even lexicalised metaphors within that specific field. This would not necessarily mean that the same person could be said to have a general metaphor competence and consequently be more proficient at metaphor comprehension at large.

Andersen (2004) defined metaphor competence in a translation context in order to investigate the possible correlation between a translator's metaphor competence and translation competence (Andersen 2004: 5). Her definition of a translator's metaphor competence is as follows: "Metaphor competence is the translator's active conscious knowledge of the metaphor in all its dimensions, both as a linguistic unit, as a pragmatic unit and as a cognitive unit (Andersen 2004: 57, author's translation).¹⁶ Andersen argued that in order to be able to produce a satisfactory translation of a metaphor, the translator must be aware of the various aspects and theories on the concept of metaphor. She used the phrase "activation of latent knowledge" (ibid: 56, author's translation) and stated that it is necessary for a translator to have both linguistic, pragmatic and cognitive metaphor competence in order to have translation competence.

She made the observation that "a translator will therefore always be in both a reception situation and a production situation simultaneously" (Andersen 2004: 56, author's translation). According to Andersen, the translator must be able to evaluate the metaphoricity¹⁷ of both the STs and TTs. She observed that a translator will often only have full metaphor competence in his or her native language and a limited metaphor competence in the second language. Her conclusion was that unless the translator is aware of all aspects of the metaphor concept, the weaker metaphor competence in the second language will weaken the translator's translation competence.

Andersen's empirical findings, though limited in scope, indicated that translators tend to have a relatively high level of linguistic metaphor competence in the sense that they are able to identify metaphorical expressions as metaphors, whereas the pragmatic and cognitive metaphor competence levels are often less satisfactory. More specifically, the ability to evaluate a metaphor's function, knowledge of metaphors in a specific text type, and the ability to identify and reproduce metaphor clusters were especially limited in her findings, and Andersen

¹⁶ Original text: **Metaforkompetence** er oversætterens **aktive bevidste viden** om metaforen i alle dens dimensioner, både som en lingvistisk enhed, som en pragmatisk enhed og som en kognitiv enhed (Andersen 2004: 57). ¹⁷ I.e., the power of the metaphorical image.

concluded that professional translators do not have the necessary training or qualifications to produce a translation strategy for metaphors at the macro level because of a lack of metaphor knowledge, .i.e., metaphor competence (Andersen 2004: 162).

3.2.4 Metaphor Translation

Dagut posited that "metaphor presents a particularly searching test of the translator's ability" (Dagut 1987: 77), which is agreed with by (Newmark 1988: 104). Throughout the years, the majority of research on metaphor translation has been concerned with prescribing recommended approaches for the translator (see e.g. Newmark 1988, Dobrzynska 1995), and, as pointed out by Alvarez (1993), there has been little consensus on reaching "some kind of theory of metaphor translation" (Alvarez 1993: 479). The recommended approaches have varied from Nida's recommendation that the translator avoid the problem by translating the metaphors into non-metaphors (Nida 1964: 220) to Kloepfer's view that original metaphors are easy to translate with a word-by-word strategy as "the structures of fantasy are the same for all humans" (Kloepfer 1967 in Gentzler 2000: 942).

Mason (1982) posited that the problem of metaphor translatability was not caused by the nature of metaphors but rather by cultural differences between the source and target languages and should therefore be considered as part of a more general translation problem. She further stated that "each occurrence of a metaphor for translation must be treated in isolation: each of its components must be dealt with in the light of its cultural connotations before a translation of the whole can take place, and account must also be taken of the textual context in which the metaphor is used" (Mason 1982: 149). Mason therefore concluded that it was not feasible to create a theory for metaphor translation, but only a theory of translation (Mason 1982: 149). While it is certainly true that certain aspects of metaphors, such as cultural specificity, may be shared with other text units for translation, it could also be posited that the combination of metaphorical imagery, potential cultural specificity, and context dependency gives metaphor a unique position in translation studies.

The viewpoints on metaphor translation can be summarised in four groups (Samaniego Fernández et al. 2005):

Metaphors are untranslatable. This viewpoint, held by Nida (1964) and Dagut (1976 and 1987), sets forth that translation of a given metaphor will always result in a different metaphor, resulting in unaccountable translation solutions.

Metaphors are fully translatable. Put briefly, Mason (1982) argued that metaphor translation is no different than translation in general.

Metaphors are translatable but pose a considerable degree of interlinguistic inequivalence. This viewpoint is held by Van Den Broeck (1981), Toury (1995), and Newmark (1988), arguing that metaphor is a particular and unique problem within the field of translation.

Conciliatory approach. This viewpoint is taken by Snell-Hornby, arguing that the translation of a metaphor "cannot be decided by a set of abstract rules, but must depend on the structure and function of the particular metaphor within the text concerned" (Snell-Hornby 1995: 58).

(Adapted from Samaniego Fernández et al. 2005: 67)

Crerar-Bromelow (2008) acknowledged the importance of the ST as well as the necessity of a pragmatic response from the translator (Crerar-Bromelow 2008: 89). But she also argued that by not working more in-depth with the underlying conceptual metaphors, the analysis of the ST would remain superficial and only by understanding the conceptual metaphors would the translator be able to produce more than "mere word-for-word equivalence in the target text" (Crerar-Bromelow 2008: 89), which is in line with Andersen's finding that professional translators lacked pragmatic and cognitive metaphor translation competence (Andersen 2004:
162). The problem of conceptual metaphor research is the time-consuming effort required for identifying a sufficient number of linguistic metaphors having the same underlying semantic domains in order to be able to make a reasonable claim for the existence of a conceptual metaphor. This was not within the scope of this study, but by investigating inter-textual differences in the statistical analysis, any differences caused by underlying conceptual metaphors were indirectly taken into account.

Newmark stated that of all the difficult choices a translator has to make, "the most important particular problem is the translation of metaphor" (Newmark 1988: 104). According to Newmark, one of the problems of the translator is to determine how much emphasis to place on the shared characteristics of the two semantic domains constituting the metaphor. Following Newmark's line of thought that metaphor translation should be considered a translation problem for the translator, it would follow that metaphor translation would require increased cognitive effort compared with literal expressions. This difference in cognitive effort should be possible to identify in empirical research as undertaken in this thesis in which both eye-tracking and key-logging methodologies are applied.

3.2.4.1 The Translatability of Metaphor

Dagut talked of the *gradient of translatability* (Dagut 1987: 82), whereas Van den Broeck referred to the *translatability of metaphor* (Van den Broeck 1981). As pointed out by Samaniego Fernández et al. (2005), the degree of lexicalisation is used as the measure of translatability (Samaniego Fernández et al 2005: 68), but there is little agreement on which category of metaphor is the easiest to translate, and Snell-Hornby argued that a metaphor's position on a scale of lexicalisation is not fixed, but shifts with cultural developments. She furthermore argued that the perception of a metaphorical expression as metaphorical or not will depend on the individual, thereby making distinctions between metaphors based on type obsolete (Snell-Hornby 1995: 57).

Trim, on the other hand, made the argument that the translatability of "creative", i.e., novel, metaphors is dependent on "the ability to interpret and transfer the source-language metaphor (SLM)" (Trim 2007: 65). The source language metaphor or SLM may indeed be easily interpreted by the translator, but its equivalent in the target language could have a lower saliency, i.e., not fit equally well within the norms of the target language. The translator will then have to decide whether or not to adapt the metaphor to the target language. Trim acknowledged the impossibility of quantifying translatability but defined it as following a scale "from almost complete freedom to use similar metaphors in universal features to considerable constraints in fixed-language and cultural-specific expressions" (Trim 2007: 66). He illustrated his point with the following model:



Figure 6: Translatability and cross-language equivalence in metaphor (Trim 2007: 66)

Trim's model is in line with Dagut's claim that the problem of metaphor translation varies, depending on "(1) the particular *cultural experiences and semantic associations* exploited by it, and (2) the extent to which these can, or cannot, be reproduced non-anomalously in TL, depending on the *degree of "overlap" in each particular* case" (Dagut 1976: 32, in Snell-Hornby 1995: 58, Snell-Hornby's emphasis).

Kövecses' argument for universal metaphor receives supports from work by Neumann (2001), who investigated the presence of shared metaphorical concepts across the languages German and Japanese, two languages with major distance, both geographically and linguistically. Neumann investigated highly conventional metaphors because of their lexicalised form, which enabled him to use dictionaries as the objective measure of similarity between a metaphorical concept in German and its counterpart in Japanese. Neumann offered criticism of other cross-language metaphor research because of an implicit expectation of the existence of conceptual metaphor resulting in circular research (Neumann 2001: 126). However, Neumann presented evidence of metaphors, which were similar across the two languages, which he took as proof of "a cognitive grounding" as the similarities could not be caused by language contact. This led him to conclude that "Metaphor seems to be an independent cognitive force and a central word-formation mechanism that is so strong that similar metaphors can be accounted for in such totally unrelated languages as German and Japanese" (Neumann 2001: 136).

The findings by Neumann would seem to suggest that metaphors may overlap language and culture boundaries, in other words that metaphors would to a large extent be universally translatable. However, following Trim (2007), it would be likely that a given conceptual metaphor would be manifested through different linguistic manifestations from language to language (see e.g., Monti 2009: 219). However, Danish and English are two closely related languages and cultures. The two languages are closely related both geographically and linguistically and the two cultures have more similarities than differences, an open market economy, a monarchy and Christianity, to name a few. Consequently, it should intuitively be easier to transfer the metaphor from the ST to the TT, transferability being one of the major issues in metaphorical image into the TT would therefore be a viable translation option for the translator, which perhaps would not be the case with two more distant languages. This assumption is supported by Wikberg's study of a translation corpus with translations from English into Norwegian, Swedish, and Finnish in which a direct transfer of the ST metaphorical image (State Constant) (Wikberg 2004: 248).

3.2.4.2 Metaphor Translation Strategies

However, a direct transfer of the ST metaphorical image is not the only option available to the translator. Although not empirical in his methodology, Newmark has been quite prolific in his recommendations for metaphor translations, which are based on his metaphor classification scheme introduced earlier in the text (Newmark 1981, 1988). As with Newmark's metaphor classification scheme, his recommended method for translation of each type of metaphor is at times vague. He lists no less than eight translation strategies, which the translator can choose from, with the recommended one first:

1) reproducing the same image in the TL, provided the image has comparable frequency and currency in the appropriate register, 2) the translator may replace the image in the SL with a standard TL image which does not clash with the TL culture, 3) translation of metaphor by simile, retaining the image, 4) translation of a metaphor (or simile) by simile plus sense, 5) conversion of metaphor to sense, 6) modification of metaphor, 7) deletion, 8) same metaphor, combined with sense (Newmark 1985: 304ff.).

Newmark's recommendation of the first translation procedure shows an implicit expectation that the translator will be able to make the proper evaluation of whether or not a source language metaphor will be equally apt in the target language, i.e. if it would be a natural part of a relevant register. Baker (1992) defines *register* as "a variety of language that a language user considers appropriate to a specific situation" (Baker 1992: 15). The translator's task, then, with respect to translating metaphor is to evaluate the appropriateness of using certain target-language metaphors in a specific situation calling for a specific register. This leads to the question of whether or not a translator can be said to have a special form of metaphor expertise? It would seem that the translator must have some level of familiarity with the use of metaphor within a register into which the text is translated in order to be able to make this kind of evaluation.

As stated by Newmark, there are several translation strategies available to the translator when translating a metaphor. The definition of these varies according to the research project and researcher in question, but they essentially all cover the same basic elements which Schäffner summarised in three main strategies, which are (i) metaphor into same metaphor, (ii) metaphor into different metaphor, and (iii) metaphor into sense (Schäffner 2005: 55, see also Snell-Hornby 1995: 82). These three main strategies are in line with an earlier outline by Dobrzynska (Dobrzynska 1995: 595), who suggested that translators have the following metaphor translation strategies at their disposal (see also Van den Broeck 1981):

- use of an exact equivalent of the original metaphor (M-M),
- choice of another metaphorical phrase with the same meaning (M1-M2) or
- paraphrase (M-P)

Following Fuertes Olivera (1998), Dobrzynska's strategy classification is used in this study to identify the participants' translation choices (see section 4.6.2).

As previously mentioned, Wikberg found that, in a study of English source texts being translated into Norwegian, Swedish, and Finnish, the preferred translation strategy was a direct transfer of the image (Wikberg 2004: 248). Fuertes Olivera also found a preference for the M-M translation strategy and commented that this choice sometimes resulted in very poor translations. Of course, it should be noted that his translations were done by experts in the field of economics and not by professional translators, and Fuertes Olivera speculated that the sometimes poor choice of the M-M strategy was caused by a lack of translation skills (Fuertes Olivera 1998: 92).

Dagut (1987) claimed that formulating a new TT metaphor as replacement for a ST metaphor with no TT equivalent was "the special problem of translating metaphor proper" (Dagut 1987: 78, see also Alvarez 1993: 486), i.e. novel or creative metaphors. Dagut did not adhere to the assumption that all metaphors are universal and argued that a word-by-word direct transfer of the ST image (M-M, in Dobrzynska's terminology) would not be ideal in some instances, but rather that in such cases when the ST metaphor did not have a TT equivalent, the translator should create a new TT metaphorical image (M1-M2, in Dobrzynska's terminology) (Dagut 1987: 78).

It should be noted that Toury (1995) also identified complete omission of the ST metaphor as a translation strategy as well as two additional TT-oriented translation strategies:

• non-metaphor *into* metaphor

• 0 *into* metaphor (i.e., a target-text addition with no linguistic match in the source text) (Toury 1995: 82ff)

However valid Toury's claims may be, his two additional translation strategies involving metaphors are not relevant for the present study, which investigates the cognitive effort invested in translation of ST metaphors for comparison with ST non-metaphors. In line with this, Zabalbeascoa (2004), makes the point that an analysis of translation of non-metaphors into metaphors will not provide any insight into "how metaphors are dealt with in translation" (Zabalbeascoa 2004: 101). Toury argued for the benefits of a TT-oriented approach in descriptive metaphor translation studies, which he claimed offered the researcher a better approach for understanding the translator's decision-making process. In his view, the TT-oriented vantage point also offered the researcher a better vantage point for forming hypotheses on "*target norms*", and Toury criticised ST-oriented approaches for being too focused on the nature of the ST metaphors, the ST, and any potential discrepancies between the source and

target languages to be able to look beyond those potential explanations for translator behaviour (Toury 1995: 84). Samaniego et al. (2005) praised the TT-oriented approach for paving the way for a "more open and realistic approach to equivalence" (Samaniego et al. 2005: 63). But again, the focus of this study is the effect of ST metaphors compared with ST non-metaphors, which makes the use of a ST-oriented system of translation strategies more suited.

It is very likely that the choice of translation strategy has an effect on the cognitive effort involved in the metaphor translation. Cristofoli et al. (1998:178) argued that a novel metaphor (labelled an 'original' metaphor in their classification system) should preferably be translated with a novel metaphor and a conventional metaphor with a conventional metaphor although they do not elaborate on why this should be so. A possible argument could be that the sender's motivation for using either a conventional or a novel metaphor should be reflected in the translator's choice of metaphor type in the TT. In this case the translator has to have some level of competence in evaluating the conventionality or novelty of the source metaphor as well as the ability to choose a matching-level target metaphor.

Newmark suggested that original (i.e., novel) metaphors in informative texts, such as newspaper or magazine articles, may be translated appropriately through several different translation strategies depending on how much emphasis the translator wants to put on the imagery of the metaphor. This is interpreted to mean that novel or unfamiliar metaphors leave the translator with a higher degree of freedom in choosing how to translate the ST metaphor because there is no existing translation equivalent. Newmark furthermore stated that he regarded metaphor translation to be "the epitome of all translation" because of the multitude of decisions required by the translator regarding the transfer of the metaphor into the TT; should the metaphorical image be retained or paraphrased, replaced by a different image or perhaps a combination of metaphor and paraphrase? (Newmark 1988: 113).

On a side note, Nida (2001) rejected the practice of "a set of rules for adapting figurative expressions from one language to another" because the situation in which the metaphor appears is unique. This concurs with Mason's view (1982) that each metaphor "must be treated on its

own merits" (Mason 1982: 140). Factors such as the purpose of the text, the reader group as well as the skills of the translator are stated as factors which will vary from one text to the next (Nida 2001: 81). This would seem to indicate that factors such as metaphor conventionality and familiarity would be less relevant in empirical research on metaphor translation as they would not be truly reflective of the cognitive process as the unique situation would only occur once. Whether or not this is the case remains to be seen in chapters 5 and 6 in which the results of the statistical analyses will be discussed. The unique decision-making process of metaphor translation as argued by Nida and Mason must, however, be assumed to not preclude the possibility of finding processing generalities on a general level, i.e. processing generalities in terms of time such as gaze time or typing speed.

3.2.5 Summary

The previous sections have introduced a number of concepts relevant to translation research. It is the aim of this section to summarise the view of translation taken in this thesis as well as clarify which concepts have been taken into account in the analysis of the data.

Translation is regarded as a process in which the translator forms a meaning hypothesis on the translation unit in question. This meaning hypothesis is taken to be open for later revision as the translator may encounter disambiguating information as she reads further along in the text or as she extracts further information from her own existing knowledge base. A metaphor could be an example of a translation unit, which, following Lörscher, professional translators will not necessarily automatically translate using existing vocabulary (a sign-oriented approach). The translators may rather translate the metaphor based on the sense of the metaphor in its context. Because metaphors are so context-dependent, it could be argued that even previously encountered metaphors are unique because of the context, which must be supposed to be new each time.

There are many similarities between the two languages cultures of English and Danish, but that does not necessarily mean that a ST metaphor is equally salient in the TT, following Trim's terminology (Trim 2007: 64). In other words, this closeness between the two cultures should not be taken to mean that the metaphors in the texts should preferably be translated with a direct transfer of the metaphorical image, nor do we wish to make categorical statements on whether one translation strategy is preferable or more appropriate than another. For stylistic rather than cultural reasons, the translator may still prefer a paraphrase of the source metaphor or using a different metaphorical image or the translator may choose to either paraphrase or transfer a specific source metaphor directly into the TT because she is unfamiliar with the use of this metaphor in the target language in general or in the semantic domain of the text in the target language. Instead, what concerns us is how much cognitive effort was invested in the process.

79

As the above has indicated, there are several choices available to the translator for the translation of a metaphorical expression. Depending on the type of metaphor and the researcher in question, there may be anything from three to eight translation strategies which the translator can choose to implement. The broader generalisation outlining only three translation strategies (defined by Schäffner 2005 and Dobrzynska 1995) was found to be preferable to the more granular definitions by Newmark (1985). These three translation strategies or choices are i) use of an exact equivalent of the original metaphor, ii) choice of another metaphorical phrase with the same meaning, and iii) paraphrase (Dobrzynska 1995: 595). The translator must have some awareness of the saliency of the source metaphor in the target language in order to decide on a translation strategy, which may also be influenced by stylistic considerations and preferences as well as consideration of the different context of the TT compared with the ST. By investigating the effect of choice of translation strategy on cognitive effort as measured by Total Fixation *Time* and *Production Time* in analyses 1.1 and 4.1., this study may help support or disprove the claim of Wikberg that a direct transfer is the preferred translation strategy when translating metaphors from English to Scandinavian languages (Wikberg 2004) as well as the claim of Dagut that creating a new TT metaphorical image is a special problem of metaphor translation (Dagut 1987: 78).

3.3 Measures of Cognitive Effort

The following seeks to provide the theoretical framework for the experimental methodology of the study underlying this thesis by outlining the main assumptions behind the use of eye-tracking and key-logging as measures of cognitive effort in cognitive research. The specific measures applied in the study will also be defined in detail.

3.3.1 Eye-tracking

Rayner et al. (2006) stated that by tracking a reader's eye movements it is possible to gain valuable information about online comprehension processes (Rayner et al. 2006: 41), and Frenck-Mestre (2005) pointed out the benefits of online measures to achieve a more finely granulated insight into the cognitive processes of reading and language comprehension. Research shows that there is a strong link between cognitive effort and the duration of the eye's fixation (Rayner 1998). In reading, the eye remains fixated on a particular word (roughly) for as long as the word is being processed. This observation has been labelled the eye-mind assumption (Just and Carpenter 1980) and is the underlying assumption behind eye-tracking research, where researchers have extended the assumption to mean that longer gaze times and/or regressions are indicative of processing difficulties. Eye-tracking has also come to be regarded as a suitable methodology for investigation of online processes during translation (see section 3.3.1.7).

Gaze time is a temporal measure of the duration of fixations within a region such as a word (see section 3.3.1.1 for a definition of fixations). Regressions are backward eye movements to a previously read word and a skilled reader will on average make regressions 10-15% of the time (Starr and Rayner 2001: 157).

A second assumption is the immediacy assumption, which suggests that a reader will attempt to interpret the meaning of a word immediately upon encountering it (Just and Carpenter 1980).

This assumption has been debated over the years and is generally not as well accepted as the eye-mind assumption, which has also been questioned (e.g. by Vonk and Cozijn 2003: 292). A concern that has been raised regarded the immediacy assumption in particular is the so-called spillover effect, in which it has been found that the effect of processing difficult words can spill over onto subsequent words (see e.g. Reichle 2011: 769). Generally, however, gaze data are widely assumed to be indicative of and correlatable to underlying (though not directly observable) cognitive processes that take place during a particular task.

3.3.1.1 Fixations and Saccades

Eye tracking reveals that reading consists of a number of saccades (jumps from one location in a text to the next) and fixations in which the eye is stable (Starr and Rayner 2001: 157). Fixations have been shown to generally last between 200-250 ms. (Rayner et al. 2006: 242). Rayner observed that the reader is not receiving any new visual input during a saccade when the eyes perform saccadic movements because the eyes are moving too rapidly. This is known as saccadic repression (Rayner 1998: 373). Rayner (1998) reports on a number of experiments carried out by others on whether any cognitive processing takes place during saccades. There does not seem to be a definitive answer to this question, but Rayner does conclude on the basis of these findings that "new information is acquired from the text only during fixation" (Rayner 1998: 378). However, this does not necessarily exclude the possibility that existing information can still be processed during saccades.

It has been found that reading patterns differ between skilled readers and beginners. Starr and Rayner (2001) posited that skilled readers will have shorter and fewer fixations as well as longer saccades (7-9 letter spaces, Rayner et al. 2006: 242) than less skilled readers (Starr and Rayner 2001: 158). However, as Rayner et al. also pointed out, the above values are only averages, which can be affected by a number of variables such as text complexity, ambiguity or syntactic complexity. They stated that "It is generally assumed that as text gets more difficult, readers make longer fixations, shorter saccades, and more regressions" (Rayner et al. 2006: 242). It is this assumption which is behind the eye-tracking study reported here. The participants in the

experiment reported in this study are all professional translators and must therefore be assumed to be skilled readers. Word frequency and individual textual differences are also taken into account in the statistical analysis, meaning that the reason for any remaining differences in gaze times between the metaphorical expressions and their literal comparison units must be found elsewhere.

3.3.1.2 Gaze Measures

One of the issues when using eye-tracking in a research methodology aimed at investigating reading patterns is that it is not necessarily all words in a text which receive fixations (Rayner et al 2006: 243). Starr and Rayner (2001) stated that content words are fixated upon 85% of the time whereas function words only receive fixations 35% of the time (Starr and Rayner 2001: 158). Words may be fixated more than once, and especially long or complex words have been found to be likely to be refixated (Rayner et al. 1996: 1189). Lexical properties therefore have to be taken into account when comparing eye-tracking values for different words.

It is generally preferred to report more than one eye-tracking measure to provide a more accurate picture of processing time. These measures include (see Hyönä et al. 2003: 331 for a detailed summary of main eye movement measures):

First fixation duration: duration of the first fixation on a word. This measure is generally assumed to signal lexical access as well as oculomotor processes (Demberg and Keller 2008: 197).

Regional gaze duration or first pass fixation time: the summed duration of all fixations on a target region before exiting it (Hyönä et al. 2003: 331). This measure is generally regarded as indicating "early syntactic and semantic processing (as well as lexical access)" (Demberg and Keller 2008: 197).

Total fixation time: the sum of all fixations, including regressions, in an area of interest or in an entire reading session (cf. Hyönä et al. 2003: 331). This comprehensive measure is generally assumed to relate to textual integration processes and lexical and syntactic/semantic processing (Demberg and Keller 2008: 197).

Total Fixation Number: The number of fixations within an area of interest or an entire reading session, including regressions.

Other measures include calculations of saccade length, regression patterns and the probabilities of a word or Area of Interest (AOI or ROI: Region of Interest) being skipped and words being re-fixated, all of which can be taken as indications of processing difficulty (Frenck-Mestre 2005: 176). The majority of eye-tracking research reports several measures in combination in order to provide comprehensive evidence of the cognitive processes of reading. In this thesis, three eye-tracking measures are reported.

The measures found to be relevant for this thesis, in which several of the AOIs included multiple words, are:

Total Fixation Time: this measure was found relevant to the analysis as it can be used to give an aggregated view of any differences in total fixation time between the different categories of AOI (metaphor and non-metaphor). This is the more comprehensive and less finely granulated of the measures reported as it is a sum of all fixation durations within the AOI, including regressions.

Total Fixation Number: this measure is not as frequently used as *Total Fixation Time* and *First Pass Fixation Time*, which are both widely used in eye-tracking experiments (see e.g., Staub and Rayner 2007: 329). One of the reasons for this could be that *Total Fixation Time* is a function of fixation number and fixation duration, meaning that the two measures are not independent of each other, as also pointed out by Jacob and Karn (Jacob and Karn 2003: 585), who listed the measure "number of fixations" as one of the more common measures in usability studies in which eye-tracking is the chosen experimental methodology. This measure should therefore be regarded as a more finely granulated complement to the more comprehensive *Total Fixation Time*. The measure also includes regressions. *First pass Fixation Time*: *First Pass Fixation Time* includes all individual fixations in an AOI rather than the aggregate value as in *Total Fixation Time*, thus generating more data points for the statistical analysis. *First Pass Fixation Time* only includes fixations within the AOI before the eyes move away from the AOI. Regressions are not included in this measure.

3.3.1.3 Regressions

Regressions, which can be defined as movements back to previously read words (Rayner 1998: 375), were included in two of the three eye-tracking measures reported here. Regressions have been investigated quite intensively in eye-tracking research over the years. The phenomenon of garden-path sentences has received particular focus although garden-path sentences can perhaps be argued to be a less pervasive linguistic phenomenon than other potentially ambiguous structures such as metaphors and metonymic expressions. A classic example of a garden-path sentence is *The horse raced past the barn fell* in which the reader is expected to read the sentence up until *fell* as a simple active sentence (Frazier and Rayner 1982: 179), forming a meaning hypothesis which will have to be reformulated once the reader encounters the verb *fell*. Frazier and Rayner defined the garden-path theory as the view that the reader (or to be more specific, the human sentence-parsing mechanism or parser in Frazier and Rayner's terminology) will choose one analysis of a sentence during reading, which may then turn out to be incorrect, i.e., leading down the wrong garden-path, which must then be retraced (Frazier and Rayner 1982: 178).

3.3.1.4 Lexical Factors and Their Effects on Eye Movements

A wide range of factors have been found to have an effect on the eye's movements and gaze times during reading, and only a number of them will be discussed here. Not surprisingly, long words tend to receive longer and/or more fixations than shorter words (Rayner 1998: 375) as do ambiguous words (Liversedge and Findlay 2000: 10), whereas short words may be skipped in an

average of 70% of all cases (Frenck-Mestre 2005: 179). This is correlated to findings that function words, which tend to be short, are skipped more often than content words, which tend to be longer (Rayner 1998: 375). Word frequency is also one of the most important factors found to have an effect on eye movements (also when isolated from the effect of word length) but also the more subjective measure of word familiarity has been found to have an effect on reading time. Ambiguity, both lexical and syntactic, has also been shown to have an effect on reading time, at least when the word is encountered in a neutral context (Staub and Rayner 2007: 330). As there is some debate on whether or not metaphors are in fact ambiguous, the factor of word predictability is perhaps more interesting to consider in relation to this study as metaphors can perhaps better be argued to be unpredictable rather than ambiguous in context (see section 4.6 for a clarification of how word predictability was taken into account in the statistical analysis).

3.3.1.5 Word Predictability

Readers pre-process text in the reading direction, and it has been found that English readers have a perceptual span of maximum four characters to the left and 15 characters to the right of the fixated word (Starr and Rayner 2001: 159). It has been shown that short function words and highly predictable words are more likely to be skipped than other words, which has been interpreted as indication of some form of cognitive processing of the word immediately following the word which is fixated (Starr and Rayner 2001: 160). However, there is some debate on whether much more than visual information such as word length and constituent letter shape is retrieved from the parafoveal region. Research has found evidence supporting the claim that semantic information is retrieved from the parafoveal region as well as evidence to support the counter-claim (Liversedge and Findlay 2000: 10). The parafoveal region can be defined as "the area between 1 and 5 degrees of visual angle from the centre of the fovea" (Underwood and Batt 1996, cited in Lee and Kim 2008: 370).

The predictability of a word occurring in a specific context is another factor which can have an effect on fixation length. Word predictability was investigated indirectly in this thesis through

the control variable Trigram Probability, which investigated the effect of word-in-context probability values (see section 4.6.1). Frisson et al. (2005) defines predictability as follows: "A word is highly predictable when the likelihood that that word will follow a given context fragment is high" (Frisson et al. 2005: 862). Frisson et al. found that the higher the predictability of a word, the faster the processing time, which would be indicated by shorter fixations (ibid: 862). They found this effect to apply to both verbs and nouns (ibid: 867). Their findings partly corroborate earlier research by McDonald and Shillcock (2003), who investigated readers' ability to anticipate which words would come next in a text. The hypothesis was that the brain would be able to make predictions about the probability of words based on statistical knowledge inherent in the mind, termed transitional probabilities (McDonald and Shillcock 2003: 648).

One of the findings of their research was that word frequency as opposed to word length was not reflected in first fixation or single fixation durations but only on total gaze durations, leading them to the conclusion that frequency "influences later stages of processes" (McDonald and Shillcock 2003: 651). McDonald and Shillcock aimed at separating the effect of contextual predictability from transitional probabilities. They define contextual predictability as "high-level knowledge, in which the meaning derived from integrating the meanings of the individual words in the previous context with knowledge about the world forms the basis of expectations about upcoming words" (McDonald and Shillcock 2003: 649) whereas transitional probability is taken to mean that "the occurrence of one word can be confidently predicted from the occurrence of the other" (McDonald and Shillcock 2003: 648). The practical purpose or benefit of being able to distinguish between these two measures of predictability is never fully established, and Frisson et al. (2005) were not able to replicate the findings of McDonald and Shillcock or to find evidence that transitional probability is independent of contextual predictability (Frisson et al. 2005: 871).

However, the argument and evidence of McDonald and Shillcock do seem to suggest that the mind is in fact able to make inferences or expectations about the word(s) to come next independently of the support of context. This would mean that lexical units such as collocations and idiomatic expressions should result in shorter gaze durations, whereas novel uses of a word or words could reasonably be expected to result in longer gaze durations. This argument would

seem to lead to the assumption that no matter how apt an unfamiliar metaphor may be, the reader or in this case the translator would be expected to have longer gaze durations for these unfamiliar metaphors simply because of their unfamiliarity, which would make them more unexpected.

3.3.1.6 Oculomotor or Cognitive Control

Apart from the multitude of linguistic factors discussed above, a number of low-level oculomotor factors also influence the landing position of the eye. These factors are largely non-linguistic and include visual properties such as word length and spaces between words, which will affect where in the word the eyes will land, i.e., the landing site. Proponents of the oculomotor-control view believe that it is oculomotor factors which determine the movements of the eye and that language processing is only a minor factor in this process (Rayner et al. 2003: 385). Experiments have demonstrated that the eyes' preferred landing site is between the middle and the beginning of a word (or at the beginning and then again at the end of a long word) (Starr and Rayner 2001: 157). Regressions can also sometimes be an effect of oculomotor control to the extent that if a fixation is made at the end of a word, the eyes may make a regression a few characters back in the word (O'Regan 1990, reported in Reichle et al. 2003: 448).

There is some debate about the influence of these oculomotor non-linguistic effects versus the effect of linguistic factors such as frequency and predictability. The cognitive-control view assumes that linguistic rather than oculomotor factors determine the eyes' position (Rayner et al. 2003: 385). Rayner et al. (2003) performed several experiments to test if either of these views is more valid and found that "it is the mental processes associated with understanding the fixated word that determine when the eyes move in reading" (Rayner et al. 2003: 387ff.). They recognised the importance of visual information for the reading process to take place but did not find it to be the most important factor for controlling the eye movements. A model, which takes both views into account, is the widely recognised E-Z Reader by Reichle et al. (2003), a computational model of readers' eye movements, which is based on the main assumption that

word identification is the control of shifts from one word to the next and that reading is serial. The assumption that word identification is the deciding factor for when to move the eyes entails the implicit assumption that any higher linguistic processing only occurs "when something is wrong" and the comprehension process requires refixation or regression (Reichle et al. 2003: 450). An example of a linguistic problem requiring a regression to a previously read word could be a syntactic ambiguity in a garden path sentence, as reported by Frazier and Rayner (1982). The fact that ambiguity, word frequency and predictability have any effect on eye movements is in itself in opposition with the assumptions of the oculomotor-control view. Although there is evidence to suggest that oculomotor control will have some effect on the eyes' movements, the gaze data from the experiment underlying this thesis will be analysed from a cognitive-control perspective, meaning that any differences in gaze time will be assumed to be related to linguistic factors in the broad sense. It could also be argued that reading could be affected by other factors such as task. Jakobsen and Jensen found that the reading patterns were different when reading for comprehension compared with reading for translation (Jakobsen and Jensen 2008, see section 3.3.1.7 for more information about their findings).

In partial opposition to an earlier model of the E-Z reader model, Inhoff et al. (2000) conducted experiments which only partly corroborated the findings from the E-Z reader model and which led them to the tentative conclusion that attention was not restricted to the word of the fixation but rather to all words within the perceptual span. This finding was tempered by the argument that attention may not necessarily be distributed evenly throughout the perceptual span and that the fixated word itself is likely to have more attention than other words within the perceptual span precisely because it *is* fixated. The argument of Inhoff et al. is that "successively attended areas of text are overlapping rather than nonoverlapping" (Inhoff et al. 2000: 1482). However, this assumption would seem to put into doubt the majority of findings from other eye-tracking experiments in which it is assumed that attention and consequently cognitive effort are spent on the fixated word rather than on any number of words to the left or right of the fixated word. Many of these experiments and their findings have been replicated and verified, indicating the validity of the findings. This thesis relies on the eye-mind assumption, which has been supported by numerous research projects since its inception, although research has also identified potential factors which weaken the link between the eyes and the cognitive processes. These factors include task interruptions and "a high peripheral visual load" (Goldberg and

Wichansky 2003: 508). In other words, the eye-mind assumption is not infallible and should not be regarded as the whole truth. On the other hand, the assumption or hypothesis has helped make sense of eye-tracking data for decades and has provided a plausible framework for analyses.

3.3.1.7 Eye-tracking and Translation

Eye-tracking is not only a popular technology for monolingual experiments. The present study followed in the footsteps of several other researchers who found eye-tracking to be a suitable tool for investigating the translation process. However, as Frenck-Mestre (2005) also pointed out, the number of second-language studies using eye-tracking technology is still quite limited (Frenck-Mestre 2005: 175). Frenck-Mestre's paper offers a quite comprehensive overview of the possibilities in eye-tracking in second-language studies as well as some potential benefits compared with other popular methodologies such as self-paced reading and ERP. The important point of the paper is perhaps that it underscores the suitability of eye-tracking for any study of online language processing, monolingual or bilingual. Frenck-Mestre recommended a combination of several technologies to investigate if the different methodologies present equivalent patterns, and if not, these differences should be investigated in further detail. Consequently, this thesis seeks to combine eye-tracking data with key-logging data to gain a fuller view of the translation process.

An example of how eye-tracking may be applied to a translation process study is set forth by Jakobsen and Jensen (2008), who investigated differences in eye movement behaviour between professional translators and student translators across four different tasks combined.¹⁸ They found that the professionals were faster than the students, with fewer fixations from the professionals. It was also found that there were strong differences between the reading tasks and

¹⁸ The first task was reading for comprehension. The second was reading for translation (without actually producing a translation). The third task was reading while sight translating, and the final task was reading and also producing (typing) a translation.

the translation tasks with longer gaze times, more fixations and longer fixation durations for the translation tasks (Jakobsen and Jensen 2008: 103 abstract). This was across both participant groups, but differences between students and professionals showed themselves in longer gaze times on the ST for the students with professionals devoting more time to the TT, which was interpreted as an indication that the students required more time for comprehension, whereas professionals devoted more time to self-revision.

In a similar study, Sharmin et al. (2008) investigated the effects of time pressure and text complexity on translators' fixations. They analysed how fixation duration and number were affected by time pressure as well as text complexity, which were measured on the basis of lexical frequency and structural complexity. They found time pressure to have an effect on fixation duration only in the ST and not the TT, which was speculated to be due to less flexibility in fixation duration when monitoring one's own output.

As text complexity has repeatedly been found to have an effect on gaze behaviour, it was perhaps somewhat surprising that Sharmin et al. did not find an effect from text complexity on fixation duration. They did, however, see an effect for the number of fixations in that the simple text had significantly fewer fixations than the other two more complex texts (Sharmin et al. 2008: 126). They did not offer any potential explanations for why only one of the dependent variables was affected by text complexity, but it could perhaps be speculated that the uncertainty caused by structural complexity and low-frequency words caused more shifts between ST and TT as well as refixations, resulting in more fixations.

The above are just a few examples of the varied nature in which eye-tracking has been applied as research methodology in translation process studies, and the current study aims to contribute something new to this group. Although metaphor translation has been a popular avenue of discussion for years (see e.g., Newmark 1985), to my knowledge no researchers have previously employed eye-tracking methodology to a metaphor translation process study. However, there are several monolingual metaphor studies in which eye-tracking has been applied and the following section 3.3.1.8 will touch briefly upon a few of those most relevant to the current study.

3.3.1.8 Eye-tracking and Metaphor

A seminal work on metaphor comprehension was carried out by Inhoff et al. (1984) on contextual effects on metaphor, in which they used eye-tracking to investigate the effect of textual context on the reading times for metaphorical expressions as compared with literal expressions. They investigated reading times for full sentences and total viewing times for "critical words [...] assumed to be the focus of metaphoric reinterpretation" (Inhoff et al. 1984: 560). A simple investigation of first regressions was also included and seemed to indicate that regressions occurred more frequently for the metaphoric target sentences than for the literal target sentences (Inhoff et al. 1984: 563). The study found that metaphorical target sentences were only read more slowly than the literal expressions when there was little contextual support. In other words, the findings of Inhoff et al. offered partial support to the direct processing model of metaphor processing and showed the possibilities of metaphor research to be done with eyetracking technology.

Metonymic expressions lend themselves more easily to eye-tracking studies because they are more likely to be single-word constituents or to be at least more confined structures and although the current study does not hold the view that metonymic and metaphorical expressions are identical or likely to be processed in the same manner, they are both forms of figurative language. Therefore, the eye-tracking study by Frisson and Pickering (1999) on the processing of metonymy is of interest. Frisson and Pickering measured first pass time, first pass regressions, total time, as well as second pass time for their experiments, which must be described as a comprehensive analysis in which they investigated the effects of plausibility ratings, sense frequencies, and predictability (Frisson and Pickering 1999: 1371) on the reading times for constructed sentences containing either a metonym or a literal counterpart. An example of a place-for-institution metonymic expression used in the experiment is "That blasphemous woman had to answer to the convent at the end of last March", in which the convent building stands in place for the institution behind the convent (Frisson and Pickering 1999: 1369). The sentences were divided into regions in which the metonym or literal counterpart constituted one of the regions to be investigated in the analysis. Their data showed

that the participants were quickly able to process a familiar metonym, and Frisson and Pickering interpreted their findings to support the parallel mode of processing, which in fact originated in metaphor research. They proposed that both a literal and a figurative interpretation are activated in parallel and continue to be so until further disambiguating information renders one of the two interpretations more likely (Cacciari and Glucksberg 1994: 457ff.). Frisson and Pickering speculated that their findings may also apply to other types of figurative language such as metaphor (Frisson and Pickering 1999: 1380), and their research is an example of how eye-tracking may be applied in a highly controlled psycholinguistic experiment, albeit with a low level of ecological validity but nevertheless resulting in findings which may be relevant for the current study.

3.3.2 Key-logging

The first part of the data analysis (chapter 5) will concern the comprehension aspect of the translation process, and the second part (chapter 6) will analyse the production process through an investigation of the participants' production time in the translation task. The distinct feature of comprehension of the ST can be argued to be reading, and the distinct feature of production of the TT can be argued to be writing. Key-logging was therefore regarded as a more relevant methodology for investigation of the production process than eye-tracking.

As stated in section 4.1, the participants' translations were logged in the key-logging application Translog, developed by Schou and Jakobsen (Schou et al. 2009: 37ff). Translog was developed as a tool in translation process research, but it can also be employed for didactic purposes within the field of translation (Schou et al. 2009: 40). Although Translog was later adapted to include eye-tracking software, the current study only used the key-logging functionality, and the eye-tracking data was collected with the Tobii ClearView software (see section 4.1). The key-logging functionality in Translog enables the experimenter to record data on every keystroke and mouse click made during the experiment as well as temporal information on typing speed and pause lengths. There are several similarities between monolingual writing and translation as

pointed out by Kußmaul (2007: 130), who also argued that the concepts used in translation process research may also be applied to text production.

The three main processes in monolingual writing: planning, sentence generation, and revision (Eysenck and Keane 2010: 442) are closely related to the processes typically identified in a translation process and correlate closely to Gile's model (Gile 2009, see section 3.2).¹⁹ As with translation, which can be argued to be a specialised form of writing, writing in general also places a strain on the working memory, more specifically the central executive "involved in organising and coordinating cognitive activities" (Eysenck and Keane 2010: 446). Gerloff (1988, reported in Breedveld 2002: 92) argued that linguistic decoding only requires significant effort for novice translators whereas the decoding takes place more or less automatically in professional translators. This argument suggests that when investigating cognitive effort in a translation task performed by professional translators, any increase in gaze or typing time can be taken as indication of factors other than linguistic decoding such as that required by metaphor comprehension and translation.

Breedveld (2002) interpreted the observations of Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit on professional translators' focus on macro-level decisions as well as the arguments of Gerloff as support of a view of the translation processes as "text-production processes in which linguistic 'recoding' is just one aspect" (Breedveld 2002: 92). Breedveld argued for a view of the translation process as a writing process rather than "just" a recoding process. Breedveld regarded TT production as a writing process which is "guided by a reading and understanding" of the ST (Breedveld 2002: 94). Based on her understanding of the ST, the translator must search for target language equivalents. If the translator is able to retrieve from her memory or other resources equivalent source and target language expressions, e.g., metaphors, Breedveld argued that the translation process may be quite linear. If there is no such equivalence, the translation will require more planning and the process will come to resemble a monolingual writing process more (Breedveld 2002: 94).

¹⁹ Van Waes et al. (2009) offer an overview of the application possibilities of keystroke logging in writing research in general.

On the other hand, Neubert (1997) argued that translation differs from monolingual writing because of three contextual factors "(a) the situation the source text is embedded in, (b) the situation the target text is to be read or heard in, and (c) the situation of *translatio*²⁰ itself" (Neubert 1997: 13). Perhaps the conclusion to be drawn is that translation is a specialised form of writing which shares many similarities with monolingual writing but has additional features or constraints not shared with monolingual writing. Neubert described the constraint of the ST on the TT production as "source-target tension" and referred to the ST wording as having "a strong grip" on the TT (Neubert 1997: 7), a claim which receives indirect support from Wikberg's findings of a strong preference of retaining the ST metaphorical image in translations from English to Scandinavian languages (Wikberg 2004: 248). Whether or not the ST is regarded as a potential source of tension or rather a support as point of departure for the translator, it is an essential element distinguishing translation from monolingual writing.

Based on arguments by Schilperoord that "pauses in text production are behavioural reflections of the cognitive processes involved in changing attentional state" (Schilperoord 1996: 9), Dragsted posited that pauses before production of text units are indications of mental production of the text unit being produced immediately following a pause (Dragsted 2004: 87). In other words, cognitive effort is assumed to be invested in production of a text unit not only when the text unit is being typed but also immediately preceding text unit production (i.e., typing). In a study in which two translators' reflections are recorded during a shared translation task, Kußmaul also interpreted pauses between production as signs of difficulties (Kußmaul 2007: 131). Differences in pause frequencies and durations and consequently also production time were assumed to be a result of differences in cognitive effort (Schilperoord 1996: 11).

Following this line of argument, any difference in pause length and frequency may then be attributed to a difference in the level of cognitive effort required for the production. This should

²⁰ Neubert used the Latin term *translatio* to refer to both translation and interpreting as the two modes of "bilingually mediated communication" (Neubert 1997: 4).

not be taken to mean that all cognitive effort related to the translation of a specific text unit takes place during the pause immediately preceding the unit as it must be assumed that at least some level of pre-production takes place during the reading of the ST, i.e., the comprehension process. As argued in section 3.2, the translation process can be regarded as either serial or parallel or as a combination of the two, i.e., with rapid changes between ST and TT. Because of this alternation, it was assumed that at least some level of overlap between the two processes can occur as illustrated in Figure 7. The assumption is that some level of pre-production (i.e., TT formulation) may take place during the comprehension stage, and that some level of comprehension processing may again take place in the pauses preceding production of a text unit.



Figure 7: The translation process

Despite the assumption of overlap between the comprehension and production stages of the translation process, the overriding assumption behind the analyses reported in this thesis is that comprehension takes place mainly during reading and that the cognitive effort invested in the comprehension of the ST is manifested in the eye movements as investigated through the eye-tracking data. Production (both mental and manifested) is assumed to mainly take place immediately preceding and during production, i.e., immediately preceding typing activities and during typing, as investigated through the key-logging data.

As with reading in eye-tracking experiments, several textual factors are believed to have an effect on the production process. Schilperoord found that text locations, in particular paragraph

and also sentence boundaries, had a top-down decreasing effect on pause frequency and duration, meaning that paragraph and sentence boundaries were likely to generate longer pause durations in production than word boundaries (Schilperoord 1996: 89ff). Schilperoord's methodology was analysis of recordings with dictation of business letters and therefore may not be directly applicable to translation process research, but both dictation and translation can be viewed as special forms of text production. Dragsted found that the pause pattern differed for professional translators engaged in a translation task compared with the findings for monolingual text production by Schilperoord (Dragsted 2004: 219). More specifically, Dragsted found that professional translators tended to engage in more micro-planning activities (at word level) resulting in a higher proportion of long pauses at word level than at sentence and paragraph levels, which Dragsted argued is likely to indicate a high degree of problem-solving at lexical and syntactic levels whereas the macro-level is to some degree defined by the ST. Student translators were more similar to normal text production in their pause pattern (Dragsted 2004: 224).

In a closely related study, Immonen (2006) found support for Schilperoord's findings of increasing pause duration and length from word to paragraph level. Immonen asked professional translators to produce monolingual texts as well as translations, all typed and recorded in Translog (Immonen 2006: 315ff.) and, like Schilperoord, Immonen also found pause duration to be longest at paragraph level and to decrease in length at lower level textual categories across both monolingual and translation writing tasks (Immonen 2006: 332). There were manifestations of differences between the monolingual text production and translation task in that pause duration at sentence and paragraph levels were found to be significantly shorter in translation than in monolingual text production, but with longer pauses at clause level and lower. These findings seem plausible as translations generally tend to follow the overall layout of the ST, meaning that there is less need for macro-level planning in translation compared to normal text production. Longer pauses at word and clause levels in a translation task can be explained with decision-making regarding lexical and grammatical choices (Immonen 2006: 332).

The studies by Schilperoord, Dragsted, and Immonen all indicate that pause length is a relevant measure of cognitive effort in text production, of which translation can be regarded as a special form. And the findings of Immonen that pauses are longer at word level in a translation task than in a monolingual text production task would seem to indicate that key-logging (and the Translog application) is a useful methodology for investigating cognitive effort at word level in translation process research.

Similar to the main eye-tracking measure used in Analysis 1, *Total Fixation Time*, a comprehensive measure was preferred in the key-logging Analysis 4. Instead of only investigating pre-production pause length and frequency, it was decided that a measure of total production time would provide a better picture of any differences between the metaphor and the comparison AOIs as it was not deemed unlikely that hesitation would occur mid-production rather than pre-production. By focusing only on pre-production pauses, such hesitations would not have been included in the data. Furthermore, a number of the AOIs consisted of multiple words and by investigating total production time, any potential pauses between words in these units would be included in the data (see section 4.6.3 for a more in-depth description of *Production Time*). Differences in word length were taken into account by including character count as a control-oriented variable in the statistical analysis.

Longer production times in TT production were regarded as indirect signs of increases in cognitive effort required for translation of those specific AOI equivalents, and Analysis 4 thereby provided the possibility of comparing the cognitive effort invested in production with the cognitive effort invested in comprehension as found in analyses 1-3. By combining eye-tracking methodology with key-logging, two distinct stages of the translation process could not only be investigated separately with the methodology best suited to its distinct features (reading in comprehension, writing in production) but the two data streams could be regarded as a whole to offer a comprehensive overview of any potential differences in the processing of the two types of AOIs during the translation process from beginning to end.

3.3.3 Summary

Eye-tracking and key-logging were both regarded as relevant tools. Eye-tracking technology has been used to investigate cognitive effort in reading tasks for decades (see e.g., Rayner 1998, Rayner et al. 2006) following the eye-mind assumption that the mind processes what the eyes are fixating. In other words, eye-tracking offers an online insight into the cognitive processes different from the kind of verbal evidence obtained in TAPs. Research has shown that longer gaze times can reliably be interpreted as indicative of increased cognitive effort caused by some form of processing problem such as lexical difficulties or ambiguity. This is interpreted as support for the cognitive-control view of eye movements, meaning that eye movements and fixations are regarded as controlled by cognitive processes rather than a result of oculomotor control.

Research projects using eye-tracking technology have customarily reported a number of eyetracking measures to ensure the most comprehensive view of the assumed underlying cognitive processes. Regressions have been a popular measure for primarily lexical and semantic ambiguity such as found in garden-path sentences as well as linguistic anomalies. As the view adopted in this thesis was that metaphors are neither ambiguous nor linguistic anomalies as also supported by early research by Inhoff et al (1984), other eye-tracking measures were found to be more relevant to this study. However, regressions were included in the more comprehensive measures used in the analysis, but were not analysed separately.

The eye-tracking methodology has been employed in translation process research in more recent years and has been employed in the investigation of differences between students and professionals (Jakobsen and Jensen 2008), differences in eye movements depending on the task (ibid), as well as investigation of the effect of syntactic differences between L1 and L2 in a translation task (Jensen et al. 2009). The experiment reported in this thesis also includes a comparison of the results from a reading and a translation task in order to verify whether any differences in the cognitive effort found in the metaphor AOIs compared with the non-metaphor AOIs could be argued to result from the translation aspect. The experimental methodology

therefore follows in the footsteps of earlier translation process research, but the online investigation of cognitive effort invested in metaphor translation has not been carried out before.

Research in writing and translation processes has found that pauses in production do not occur randomly but at distinct lexical and syntactic levels in the text (see Schilperoord 1996, Dragsted 2004, and Immonen 2006) and also indicate increased cognitive effort in the processing, similar to how increases in fixation times have been interpreted as indication of increased cognitive effort. Typing speed may of course differ between participants depending on their typing skills (part of Göpferich's psycho-motor competence as described in section 3.2.3). These potential differences were taken into account in the statistical analysis by including Participant as a random factor in the LMER model.

To obtain as comprehensive a key-logging analysis measure as possible, *Production Time* was chosen as the preferred measure. Production time not only investigates the difference in pause length before production of the TT AOI equivalents is initiated but is a temporal measure of the time from immediately after the last keystroke in the preceding word until immediately after the final character is typed in production of the TT AOI equivalent. By deciding on this comprehensive measure, all pauses, whether they take place pre-production or mid-production, are included in the analysis.

The collection of eye-tracking data was restricted to the STs as eye-tracking was deemed to be more relevant to ST comprehension than TT production. This view was based on the assumption that the cognitive processes taking place when a participant was looking at the TT would be related to the TT production and not ST comprehension. In other words, the ST eye-tracking data was assumed to mainly concern cognitive effort invested in the comprehension process, and production was assumed to mainly take place when attention was focused on the TT. Consequently, production was investigated through key-logging data, which was collected via the Translog application in log files. Though this discrepancy in data collection methodology resulted in a certain lack of comparability between the eye-tracking and key-logging analyses and therefore between the two stages of the translation process, this disadvantage was deemed to be outweighed by the benefits of receiving a more comprehensive view of the translation process, which allowed for a greater range of measures to be analysed than if only eye-tracking measures had been investigated.

Chapter 4 Methodological Framework and Experimental setup

4.1 Equipment and Analysis Tools

The eye-tracking equipment used was a Tobii 1750 remote eye tracker, where the eye-tracking camera and infrared LED lights are built into the frame of the monitor and with no head fixation, providing for a more naturalistic research environment. The participants were seated in front of the eye tracker at a distance of approximately 55 cms from the monitor, which previous experiments had confirmed ensured the best eye-tracking quality. The eye-tracking software application ClearView, version 2.7.1., was used to collect the eye-tracking data. The eyetracking and key-logging software application Translog, version 3.3.0.0, collected both eyetracking and key-logging data, but only the key-logging data was used in the analysis. Calibration was done in both Translog and ClearView, the latter running in the background while the participants worked in Translog. Translog User presented the ST in the upper half of the application window while the TT appeared in the lower half as it was produced. For each participant, an eye-tracking recording was started in ClearView and the application minimised to operate unobtrusively in the background while the participant worked directly in the Translog User application window. AOIs, which can be either rectangular or polygonal, were defined in ClearView. AOIs were set around the words to be analysed and the Excel template included with the ClearView software extracted gaze data only from the defined AOIs, allowing the experimenter a better overview of the data. The borders of the AOIs in ClearView were defined to extend halfway into the space to the words on both sides of the individual AOI and also halfway to the lines above and below the line of the AOI to accommodate any inaccuracies in the eye-tracking system recording the eyes' location on the monitor.

The screenshot in Figure 8 shows the ClearView window in which the AOIs are defined. The ClearView application shows the content of the monitor as seen by the participant, which is why the Translog window is shown in ClearView. The experimenter is able to drag the AOI to surround the words to be included in the analysis, which can be done in both the ST and TT windows. The AOIs are defined in blue.



Figure 8: Screenshot of ClearView AOI Definition window

4.2 Participants

17 professional translators participated in the experiment. The participants for this study were all Danish translators with at least 12 months of professional experience. The majority of the participants worked or had worked full-time as professional translators while a few participants only translated part-time. The professional background of the participants varied in terms of the fields they normally work in, ranging from translation of literature to translation of medical texts. All participants except two were female.

4.3 Data Quality

Quality criteria were applied to the collected data to ensure that the results were not skewed by flawed data from the participants. Experience from previous experiments showed that numerous factors such as lighting and whether the participant wore glasses or contact lenses were found to have a potential effect on the quality of the gaze data. The participant's distance from the

monitor was in particular found to have an effect on the data quality and the participants were therefore required to sit no further than 55-60 cms from the monitor.

Two quality criteria were deemed sufficient to ensure that the data were of a sufficiently high quality to ensure that it would be possible to make assumptions on the cognitive processes underlying the gaze data without distortion from flawed data.²¹

The first quality criterion was average fixation duration. As previously mentioned, the average fixation lasts between 200 and 300 milliseconds (Rayner 1998: 373). Any participant recording with an average fixation duration below 180 ms was therefore to be excluded from the analysis. Although the average fixation duration varied greatly among participants, ranging from just below 200 to over 350 ms, none of the participants had an average fixation duration below the threshold of 180 ms or even below 190 ms. As a result, no recordings were discarded based on this quality criterion. It was speculated that the main reason for the high retention rate of the recordings was the relatively short distance at which the participants were placed from the monitor. The average fixation duration was calculated by ClearView, the eye-tracking software application used with the Tobii eye tracker. The average fixation duration was calculated for the fixations within an AOI covering the entire text window and not only the metaphor and comparison AOIs.

The second quality criterion was also adopted from Hvelplund's methodology (although slightly modified). Hvelplund called this criterion Gaze time on screen (GTS), and it is basically a calculation of the percentage of time spent gazing at the text during the translation production (Hvelplund 2011: 104). The assumption underlying this quality criterion was that the participant could reasonably be assumed to be looking at the text on the screen for the majority of the time during the translation task. If the percentage of GTS was low, this could mean that the eye tracker was unable to collect a satisfactory amount of eye-tracking data to provide a reliable image of the participant's actual gaze pattern. Hvelplund had a threshold level of approximately

²¹ The two selected quality criteria were adapted from Hvelplund's PhD thesis (2011) from section 5.1.2 on data quality. The selection process reported here is a simplified version of Hvelplund's as he implemented no fewer than three quality criteria. The two quality criteria implemented in this thesis were considered to be the main indicators, and Hvelplund's results indicated that low quality data were eliminated satisfactorily through the implementation of the first two quality criteria (Hvelplund 2011: 103ff).

30 per cent GTS for his participants, meaning that if a participant's GTS percentage was below approx. 30 per cent, the recording was not included in the analysis. Of all 17 participants reported in this thesis, only two had a GTS percentage of 49 for one text (both had higher percentages for the other text translated). All other participants were well above a threshold of 50 per cent with an average GTS percentage of 65. As Hvelplund's threshold level was around 30 per cent, it was not deemed necessary to exclude the two recordings with a GTS of 49 per cent, in particular as the participants both had higher GTS percentages for the other translation text. The relatively high GTS average of 65 per cent could be seen as another indication of satisfactory quality of the eye-tracking data.

To sum up, the data from all 17 participants were tested against these two relatively simple, yet essential indicators of data quality, and it was not found necessary to exclude any of the participants from the analysis.

4.4 Experimental Texts

To optimise the ecological validity of the data, the study used authentic texts shown in their entirety rather than presenting individual sentences one at a time. The four texts each consisted of approximately 150 words in English (the participants' L2). This was the maximum length of text which could fit into the upper half of the Translog window without text scrolling. The individual sentences for each text were extracted from an English news magazine article²² and combined into an abbreviated version of the original article. No further modifications were made to the sentences. By using authentic texts, it was sought to avoid the pitfalls claimed to be made often in metaphor research according to Goatly. Goatly claims that these pitfalls include using only class of metaphor (either novel or conventional) and using constructed or recycled examples of metaphors presented without context (Goatly 1997: 5).

²² The experimental texts (see Appendix 1) were based on articles from the following sources: Text 1 from The Economist, Text 2 from Time Magazine, Text 3 from Cnn.com, and Text 4 from The Economist. All four articles were published and accessed in 2009.
According to the Flesch reading ease index scores, the difficulty level of the four texts was comparable as can be seen from Table 4. The index score range is from 0-100; the higher the score, the easier the text (www.editcentral.com). Although the Flesch reading ease index was developed for English native readers, the professional background of the participants was deemed sufficiently similar to make it possible to apply the scores to the reading of texts for translation by L2 readers. As can be seen from the table, the measures are relatively crude and may not reflect the cognitive effort required for comprehension and translation, as the measures do not take such factors into account as coherence, topic, and culture specificity. However, the measures provided by Editcentral give an idea of the objective comparability of the texts at least. It should be noted that Editcentral's definition of complex words is a question of number of syllables rather than e.g., lexical frequency, which was instead controlled for in the statistical model.

Table 4 provides an overview of the objective characteristics of the four texts as identified by Editcentral.²³

Text	1	2	3	4
Flesch reading	68.6	79.9	74	68.7
ease score				
Complex words	15	10	21	16
Words	154	149	147	147
Sentences	9	10	9	7

Table 4: Properties of texts 1-4

As all four texts were abridged versions of longer texts, the curtailed versions were subjectively evaluated by a third party to ensure that they read as coherent text units. This evaluation was done by asking the evaluator to read the text and comment upon any abnormalities in the text and evaluate whether or not the text made sense and could be read fluently. The individual sentences were not altered, but several intermediate sentences were eliminated by me to keep the

²³ www.editcentral.com

text length at the maximum of approximately 150 words. Attention was given to ensuring that the contexts of the metaphors were clear from the onset of the text. The subject varied from text to text although all four texts were on financial topics as financial texts often contain many metaphors.

The texts contained 37 linguistic metaphors in total, constituting 37 AOIs, ranging from six metaphors in Text 2 to 13 metaphors in Text 4. For the purposes of this experiment, the boundaries of each individual metaphor were identified using the criterion that the constituents of the metaphorical expressions, i.e. the vehicle, must differ from the text in terms of semantic domain.

To illustrate what is meant by a different semantic domain, an example from one of the texts may be helpful: But the suitors must first gain the approval of regulators, who are sure to supervise the courtship with care because of the size of the dowry (Text 3, see Appendix 1). The subject of the text was the current high number of mergers between companies, and the overriding metaphorical semantic domain for the merger is marriage (and the parties and processes involved in a marriage). Suitors is used as a metaphor for the two companies involved in a specific merger, and as *suitors* differs in terms of semantic domain from the text's general semantic domain of business and mergers, *suitors* is identified as the linguistic metaphor in its entirety, and consequently constitutes the AOI to be analysed. The same applies to the other two metaphors in this sentence, namely *courtship* and *dowry*. This criterion is similar to Goatlys' vehicle (1997) in that the constituents of the individual AOI are deemed to be the core of a metaphor carrying the metaphorical meaning. Furthermore, as Janus and Bever (1985) emphasised, it is preferable to investigate the processing time when the metaphor is first encountered rather than investigate whole sentences or end of sentences because of other integration processes which may interfere. They argued that "the greatest cognitive demands" will be at the point in the sentence at which the metaphor is first encountered (Janus and Bever 1985: 478). In other words, any differences in cognitive effort for processing literal expressions compared with metaphorical expressions will be more likely to be registered at constituent unit level than sentence level.

The majority of the metaphors were single words, but a few metaphors consisted of multiple words, and word length was therefore taken into account as a variable in the statistical analysis

(see section 4.6.1). For this study, ecological validity, i.e. using authentic texts rather than constructed texts, received higher priority than exact text comparability in terms of word length, AOI position, word frequency and other variables, which were instead included as variables in the statistical analysis.

For comparison purposes, 37 non-metaphorical AOIs were selected. Although Lakoff and Johnson (1980) claimed that everything is understood metaphorically, the selection criterion for the comparison AOIs was that the words were within the semantic domain of the text's subject. In other words, the criterion was the opposite of the selection criterion for the metaphor AOIs. A few of the comparison AOIs such as "downturn" could perhaps be argued to be a conventional metaphor, but a lookup in a dictionary²⁴ confirms that the word has lost its metaphoricity to the point of having a lexicalised definition. It is therefore doubtful that the word would be interpreted metaphorically by the participants unless one takes the rather extreme views argued by Lakoff and Johnson.

The comparison AOIs were also chosen with a view to having a length comparable with the metaphor AOIs, and the single-word AOIs were all content words. Another selection criterion, applied to both types of AOIs, was the exclusion of start-of or end-of sentence AOIs, as research has indicated that gaze times may be longer for words at sentence-final positions caused by some form of wrap-up effect (Just and Carpenter 1980: 34) and it was assumed that sentence-initial positions could be influenced by some level of orientation taking place before the actual comprehension of the linguistic unit began. As the texts were authentic texts rather than constructed texts, it was not possible to have comparison AOIs which were directly comparable with the metaphor AOIs in terms of word length and frequency, which were instead taken into account as variables in the statistical analytical model (see section 4.6.1).

The metaphors were also rated for their familiarity by a group of four evaluators, which consisted of three professional translators and one highly experienced interpreter. As it would not be feasible to have the participants in the experiment also evaluating the metaphors in the texts, it was necessary to have another group of evaluators not participating in the experiment do

²⁴ www.dictionary.com

this. The professional profile of the evaluator group matched the professional profile of the participants as a group, which was important in order to be able to reasonably draw inferences from the familiarity ratings of the evaluator group to the assumed metaphor familiarity of the participant group. Sentences containing metaphors were extracted from all four texts and presented to the raters in randomised order. The metaphor vehicle, i.e., the AOI, was highlighted in red. If a sentence contained more than one metaphor, this sentence would be listed once for each individual metaphor and could therefore be listed up to three times. If a sentence contained more than one metaphor aware of the repetition. If the evaluator had encountered the same sentence again but after several other sentences, it is possible that s/he would have rated the metaphor as highly familiar because she had encountered the same sentence before in the evaluator. By grouping the instances of the sentences together and thereby making the evaluators aware of the repetition, any potential influence on the familiarity rating of each individual metaphor in the sentence was deemed minimal.

The evaluators were briefed that the metaphors were taken out of context and were asked to evaluate how familiar they perceived the individual metaphor to be on a scale from 1 to 7, 1 being not at all familiar and 7 being very familiar. The order of the sentences was different for each evaluator. An average was calculated for the ratings from all four evaluators (see Appendix 6) and included as a variable in the statistical model used for the inter-metaphor analyses 1.1 and 4.1.

The output of the reading and retyping task (see subsequent section) was not evaluated in any form as the product is identical to the ST with perhaps a few spelling mistakes. The output of the translation task, i.e., the TT, was not evaluated in terms of translation quality as this is very time-consuming and would merit its own study. Also, the focus of this thesis was not an investigation of metaphor translation quality or translation style. The produced TTs were analysed to determine the choice of translation options chosen for the metaphors. These translation choices were categorised according to Dobrzynska's classification scheme (1995): use of an exact equivalent of the original metaphor (M1-M2) or paraphrase (M-P) (Dobrzynska 1995: 595). This classification was done subjectively, but the benefit of using Dobrzynska's classification scheme with only three categories, which are consequently quite comprehensive,

rather than a more elaborate classification scheme such as Newmark's (1981) was that there were only a few instances of translation choices which could be classified in either one or the other category. Dobrzynska's classification scheme is categorical and enables the experimenter to be more consistent in categorising the translation choices than with a more finely granulated classification scheme with more vague and overlapping definitions. Examples of translations from the experiment can be seen categorised in Table 5 to give an idea of the translations in each category.

	Translation Strategy	Translation Strategy	Translation Strategy
	M-M	M1-M2	M-P
Source text	Securitization is	The market for	The on-again, off-again
(AOI in italic)	radioactive	securitization has	plans of Porsche and
		fallen off a cliff	Volkswagen to tie the
			knot
Target text (AOI	Sekuritiseringer er	Markedet for	Porche og
in italic)	radioactive	sekuritisering er	Volkswagens til tider
	[securitization is	kollapset [the market	vaklende planer om en
	radioactive]	for securitization has	sammenlægning
		collapsed]	[Porche and
			Volkswagen's
			sometime shaky plans
			of a <i>merger</i>]

Table 5: Examples of translations categorised by translation strategy

4.5 Task

Each participant was required to perform two tasks: first, they were asked to read and retype two texts in English. The presentation order of the two texts was interchanged among participants. The brief informed them that, after each text, they would be asked a few questions regarding the content of the text. These subsequent questions served the purpose of ensuring that the participants did not blindly retype the text without paying any attention to the meaning of the content. The purpose of the retyping element of the task was to achieve some level of comparability with the following translation task as the cognitive and physical effort of typing was expected to have an effect on the gaze time. The objective of this first task was to investigate if metaphor comprehension in L2 required increased cognitive effort compared with comprehension of literal expressions. As shown in section 3.1.4, there is an ongoing debate on whether or not metaphor comprehension requires an additional effort.

The main focus of the experiment reported here lies with the translation task in which the participants were asked to translate two texts from English into Danish (L2 into L1). The

presentation order of the two texts was interchanged among participants. The participants were told that they were free to review the translated text and to go back in the text to make revisions. They were informed that the target audience for the translation were readers of a Danish financial news magazine, i.e., an audience similar to the readership of the ST. The participants were also informed that they would be asked questions on comprehension and translation of the text afterwards in order to motivate them to work more carefully with the texts to ensure that the translation process resembled the process during an actual translation task in the participants' work life as closely as possible within the limitations of the experimental environment. After the translation of each text was completed, the participants were asked questions on potential comprehension difficulties, the content, and also on any potential translation difficulties they had identified. The questions were open-ended and were given in Danish to encourage answers given freely and spontaneously (for an English translation of the questions posed to the participants, see appendix 3).

No time constraints were imposed for either of the two tasks. No translation aids of any kind were available for either task. The text order was partially randomised for the two tasks reported here, meaning that the first 10 participants were presented with texts 1 and 2 in randomised order (1,2 or 2,1) for the retyping task and then texts 3 and 4 (also in randomised order, 3,4 or 4,3) for the translation task. The next 7 participants were presented with texts 3 and 4 (also in randomised order) for the first task and then texts 1 and 2 (in randomised order) for the second task.²⁵ All participants were presented with the retyping task before the translation task.

4.6 Data Analysis: Statistical Models

For linguistic research, one of the benefits of a regression model is that the model makes it possible to carry out experiments with authentic texts rather than texts constructed specifically for the purpose of an experiment. The differences in variables such as text length, word frequency and length may be taken into account in this type of statistical model, permitting the researcher to use a more ecologically valid experimental setup. A regression model offers the

²⁵ The initial expectation was to have 20 participants for the experiment, allowing for a higher degree of inter-text randomisation than possible with only 17 participants. It was not possible to meet this goal.

possibility to work with experimental data collected from a more naturalistic experiment because the statistical model is able to isolate effects from the individual variables. In other words, it enables investigation of each variable with all other variables being held constant (Balling 2012). Another benefit of the regression model is the possibility it offers to make generalisations over the population²⁶ based on inferences from the relatively limited sample in this experiment.

Mixed-effects regression models consist of both fixed and random factors. A fixed factor is a variable with a low number of levels such as Text (Texts 1-4) or Domain (Mixed or Same), and an important difference between a random and a fixed factor is that the latter is repeatable in that there may be more than one AOI belonging to the same text or more than one metaphor in a text with mixed metaphorical domains (the variables Text and Domain will be explained in more detail in the following) (Baayen 2008: 241ff, Balling 2008a: 95).

Random factors, on the other hand, are not repeatable and are assumed to have been selected randomly from any given population. Participant is a typical example of a random factor in that the participant is assumed to be representative of a given population and to have been selected randomly (Baayen 2008: 241ff).

More specifically, the statistical model used in this study was a linear mixed-effect regression model (LMER). One of the benefits of this type of statistical model is that it is able to take individual variations into account to allow for a more precise analysis. Examples of such individual variation could be differences in fixation length between participants or differences in typing speed. The adjustments for these individual variations are termed random intercepts (Baayen 2008: 247, Balling 2008b: 181, see also Baayen et al. 2008).

Two separate statistical models using the eye-tracking data and a third statistical model using the key-logging data will help investigate the research questions of the thesis. The first statistical model addresses research question One. This research question asks whether professional

²⁶ Here, population is used in the narrow sense to mean a particular group of people with a shared characteristic. In other words, inferences are made from the sample of translators participating in this experiment to the population of Danish professional translators.

translators will have longer gaze times, more fixations and longer first pass fixation times for metaphors when reading for translation compared with non-metaphors (analyses 1-3). A secondary part of this statistical analysis concerns the investigation of gaze times for metaphors versus non-metaphors in reading for comprehension (see task description in section 4.5).

Analysis 1.1 used a second statistical model and a subset of the same eye-tracking data to investigate what effect the choice of metaphor translation strategy in the TT has on the gaze times for the metaphor AOIs in the ST, and whether there was an effect of the metaphors being from mixed semantic domains or from one semantic domain. In other words, the second statistical model investigated potential inter-metaphor effects whereas the first and main statistical model concerned potential differences between gaze times for metaphor and literal AOIs. This model was also used for a subset of the key-logging data in Analysis 4.1 for a similar inter-metaphor analysis.

The independent and dependent variables included in the two statistical models for the eyetracking data are to a large extent the same, but to achieve a more coherent overview, the variables are listed separately for the two models. The individual variables were fitted to the model one at the time, beginning with the more control-oriented variables and ending with the variables central to the research questions. By including and investigating the significance of the more control-oriented variables first, the effects of the variables more directly concerned with the research questions were more clearly discernible once all other variables were held constant. The variables are listed in the following section in the order in which they were included in the model in the open-source statistical tool R. Variables that turned out to be non-significant were removed before moving on in the analysis to ensure that non-significant variables did not obscure any potentially significant variables (Baayen 2008: 236, Balling 2008a: 99). This procedure also allows for a clearer interpretation of the analysis.

4.6.1 Analyses 1-3: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Reading and Translation

The following figure provides an overview of the statistical model used for the eye-tracking data, analyses 1-3 with the dependent variables *Total Fixation Time*, *Total Fixation Number*,

and *First Pass Fixation Time*. The model illustrates how the dependent variable is influenced by the independent variables. The model is read clock-wise, beginning at the top with AOI ID, with the more control-driven variables first and the more research question-driven variables ending the cycle. Of course, the model should not be interpreted to mean that the independent variables are all independent of each other, as some level of interaction between these variables was expected and also investigated in the analysis. The statistical model and the order in which the independent variable was introduced into the analysis were identical for all three analyses.



Figure 9: An overview of the dependent and independent variables for the eye-tracking analyses

Dependent variables

Total Fixation Time (Analysis 1): The gaze times for all metaphor AOIs and non-metaphor AOIs from all four texts are extracted for each participant and included in Analysis 1 as the dependent variable. The fixation time measure is the total gaze time measure of all fixations

within a specified AOI, including refixations, and is the most comprehensive gaze measure of all three measures.

Total Fixation Number (Analysis 2): The number of fixations for all metaphor AOI and nonmetaphor AOIs from all four texts are extracted for each participant and included in Analysis 2 as the dependent variable. This measure includes all fixations within each AOI, and also includes refixations.

First Pass Fixation Time (Analysis 3): This is a measure of the total duration of all fixations up to the first fixation outside the area for all metaphor and non-metaphor AOIs across all four texts.

Independent variables: random effects

AOI ID: As the metaphors in the four texts occurred in natural texts, they varied in terms of length, whether they were single or multiple words, their degree of familiarity and in terms of whether or not they co-occurred with metaphors from the same or a different semantic domain. The same variability applied to the comparison AOIs chosen in the texts. AOI ID is a random factor because the AOI ID is unique and non-repeatable.

Participant: The variable Participant is classified as a random effect factor, because it was assumed that the participants were a random sample of a general population of translators although of course this randomness was restricted by the availability of participants fulfilling the criteria set for the population of the experiment. The LMER enables the experimenter to make generalisations on a population based on a sample with highly variable data as the model evens out the individual differences in its calculations.

Independent variables: Fixed effects

AOI Length: The length of the AOI was expected to affect the dependent variable as longer words generally receive longer fixations than shorter words.

AOI Position: The position of the AOI in the text was expected to have an effect on the participants' gaze behaviour as a fatigue effect might be expected the further the participant gets in the experiment.²⁷ This would be manifested in longer gaze times for AOIs later in the texts. On the other hand, a form of priming or facilitation effect could also be possible (cf. Jääskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit 1991), which would result in shorter gaze times for later AOI positions, i.e., AOIs that occur later in the text. Another possibility is a form of procedural priming effect in which an earlier translation strategy is retained for following metaphors as well, following Jääskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit's (1991) view on automated processes (see section 3.2.3).

Unigram Frequency: This variable represented the logarithmically transformed frequency of each word in the British National Corpus. In other words, this variable was a measure of the word frequency of the word(s) in the AOIs. The single-word frequency values of the Unigram Frequency enter into the calculation of the trigram probability value and the two variables are consequently highly correlated. The trigram was expected to be more relevant as it indexes the probability of the word in context.

Trigram Probability: Context has been identified by many researchers as having an important effect on the effort required for the comprehension of metaphors, and the trigram probability variable enables the experimenter to investigate the interaction between context and the cognitive effort required as evidenced by the dependent variable. The trigram probability value is a logarithmic value calculated on the basis of word frequency values from the British National Corpus. This variable offers a logarithmically transformed probability for any three consecutive words in a text appearing together in a specific order. The trigram probability variable enables the experimenter to take context into account at least to the extent that three consecutive words can be said to be a context. As Balling (2012a) explained, the trigram probability is a measure of the word frequency of the last word in a given three-word unit divided by the bigram frequency of the two preceding words. In other words, the trigram probability is a measure of the probability of a word appearing after the two preceding words and can therefore be regarded as

²⁷ Fatigue should not be understood in its traditional sense here, i.e. that the participant becomes tired. Fatigue is a term traditionally used in e.g. psycholinguistic experiments for when the participant slows down as the experiment progresses (see e.g. Balling 2008, Balling 2013).

an indirect indicator of word predictability. Word predictability was argued to be an indicator of processing effort by Frisson et al. (2005, see section 3.3.1.5). Metaphors with a high trigram probability were assumed to be more familiar as a high trigram probability value means that the metaphor has occurred within a similar context previously. For the AOIs containing multiple words, the value is an average of the trigram probabilities for each word in the AOI.

Domain: Dickins (2005) argued that mixed metaphors could present a "considerable problem" for the translator (Dickins 2005: 253). This claim was not, however, made on the basis of an empirical study of cognitive effort, but on the basis of a qualitative study of translations from Arabic to English.

For this study, it was speculated that if the individual metaphors in a text were all based in the same semantic domain, a priming effect might occur as the stylistic decision made for the first encountered metaphor could more easily be applied to subsequent metaphors if they were from the same semantic domain as the first metaphor. An example of what is meant by the same semantic domain is the following sentence from Text 3, "*The path from the altar is strewn with failed corporate marriages*" (see Appendix 1),²⁸ in which all metaphors are from the semantic domain of marriage in a text on corporate mergers. In contrast to this is the following sentence from Text 1, "*and the market for securitization [...] has fallen off a cliff. We're now suffering a financial Chernobyl [...]*", in which the metaphors are from a semantic domain of physical movement and toxic radiation. It was speculated that the uniformity of a single semantic metaphor domain would result in shorter gaze times for the metaphors in the texts 1 and 2 were mixed whereas the metaphors in texts 3 and 4 each were from one specific domain.

Text: As all four texts were natural texts and not texts constructed specifically for the purpose of the experiment, the texts differed somewhat in length, overall lexical difficulty, number of metaphors, text topic, etc. For this reason, Text was included in the model as an independent variable or, more specifically, as a fixed factor. The fixed factor Text had four levels: Text 1 through to Text 4, as there were four different texts. This variable overlapped the Domain

²⁸ Metaphor AOIs in bold.

variable and therefore the two variables were tested separately. Only Domain was retained as a variable in the final statistical model.

Task: This independent variable was included in the model to investigate whether there are longer gaze times for reading for translation of metaphors than for reading for translation of non-metaphors (see chapter 2). Since part of the experiment included reading and retyping without translation, this independent variable made it possible to make observations on the reading for translation task alone. In this way, it was possible to answer several questions with one overall model. Translation of metaphor is the focal point of this thesis, but by including Task in the statistical model as a fixed factor with the two levels Translation and Reading, it was possible to investigate differences in the eye-tracking data between reading for comprehension and reading for translation.

As the main focus of this experiment was an investigation of the cognitive effort invested in translation of metaphors compared with translation of literal expressions, the interaction between the variables Task and Type was deemed essential to the research questions of this thesis.

Type: This variable was included in the statistical model as an independent variable, and it permitted investigation of the interaction between Task and Type. The factor had two levels: Metaphor and Comparison, and the interaction of these two levels with the above variable of Task and the effect on the dependent variable was of central importance to the experiment. In other words, was there any difference in the dependent variable when Type was Metaphor compared with when Type was Comparison, i.e., non-metaphor?

4.6.2 Analysis 1.1: Comprehension of Metaphor in Translation

In order to achieve a more finely granulated perspective on the process of metaphor translation, a secondary statistical model was fitted for the eye-tracking data which aimed at determining whether a specific translation strategy for metaphors required greater cognitive effort than other strategies as indicated by longer gaze times. Another point of interest was the question of metaphor familiarity; it was speculated that translation of metaphors with a high familiarity rating may result in shorter gaze times compared with metaphors with low familiarity ratings.

The majority of the variables included in this secondary model were repetitions of the variables in the main statistical model, but they are repeated here to keep an overview of the constituents of this specific model. This statistical model used a subset of the same data used in the main statistical model described in the above section, or more specifically, the subset that consisted only of the data from translation of metaphor. This means that this model differs from the main model in that there is no comparison between metaphors and literal expressions and no comparison between reading and translation. This secondary model was a more finely granulated investigation of the interaction between various aspects of the nature of the individual metaphor and the potential effects on the dependent variable in the translation task.

The procedure used for fitting the main statistical model was repeated for the secondary model. The majority of the variables included in the second model used for Analysis 1.1 are identical to the variables in the model used for analyses 1-3 (see section 4.6.1). The variables that are unique for the second model will be described in the following.

Dependent variable
Total Fixation Time
Independent variables: Random effects
AOI ID
Participant
Independent variables: Fixed effects
AOI Length
AOI Position
Unigram Frequency
Trigram Probability
Domain

Table 6: Identical variables in analyses 1-3 and 1.1

Apart from the variables above, which were described above, two other variables were added specifically to this secondary model for inter-metaphor investigation.

The first element related to the subjective familiarity ratings by the four raters.

Mean Familiarity: This variable represented the means of the four raters' scores given to each metaphor in each text (see Appendix 6). The score ranged from 1 (not at all familiar) to 7 (very familiar) (see appendix 5 for an example of a presentation of the metaphor AOIs to the raters). To ensure that no inter-text priming effect occurred and influenced the raters' perceived familiarity with the metaphors, the metaphors were presented with the sentences in which they occurred in the texts but without the contextual information from the entire text. It was the aim to strike a balance between allowing the raters to receive enough contextual information to make sense of the metaphor without being influenced by the familiarity ratings given to metaphors previously in the text. The presentation order of the metaphor AOIs from all four texts was randomised across participants. The metaphor AOIs were highlighted in red as the task for the raters was not to identify the metaphor and its constituents but only to rate their own perceived familiarity with the metaphor.

The ratings were quite divergent, but the value included as an independent variable was a mean of all four ratings for each metaphor AOI.

Translation Strategy M-M: The second unique aspect of the secondary model investigated the interaction between the dependent variable of *Total Fixation Time* and translation strategy with relevance to research questions three and four. This interaction is investigated by fitting the two factors of Translation Strategy M-P and Translation Strategy M1-M2 to the model, using the Translation Strategy M-M as the basis of comparison. M-M was chosen as the basis of comparison (reference level) because this seemed to be the preferred choice of translation strategy for the majority of participants and because this translation strategy can be claimed to be more faithful to the ST than the other two strategies and was therefore assumed to be a more direct translation requiring less cognitive effort than the two other translation strategies, M-P and M1-M2 respectively.

Translation Strategy M-P: The factor Translation Strategy M-P, in which the original metaphor in the ST is paraphrased into a literal expression, was compared against the reference level, which was the translation strategy M-M in which the original metaphor in the ST is translated with the same image in the TT.

Translation Strategy M1-M2: The factor Translation Strategy M1-M2, in which the original metaphor in the ST is translated using a different metaphorical image in the TT, was compared against the reference level, which was the translation strategy M-M in which the original metaphor in the ST is translated with the same image in the TT.

4.6.3 Analysis 4: Production of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Translation

Analysis 4 concerns the key-logging data, i.e., an analysis of TT production, and is therefore not directly comparable to analyses 1-3, which analysed the eye-tracking data from the ST comprehension (*Total Fixation Time, Total Fixation Number*, and *First Pass Fixation Time*). The statistical model for Analysis 4 was constructed following the same principles as that used for the eye-tracking analyses, i.e., the more control-oriented independent variables were included in the model before the more research question-driven variables. The following figure, which should be read clock-wise beginning at the top with AOI ID, offers an overview of the variables:



Figure 10: An overview of the dependent and independent variables for the key-logging analysis

The variables AOI ID, Participant, Unigram Frequency, Trigram Probability, Domain, and Type were all identical to the variables in the eye-tracking analyses and have been described earlier (in section 4.6.1).

Dependent variable

Production Time: This is a measure in milliseconds of the time spent on production of the translation of the ST AOI (both planning and actual typing of the translation). The time was measured from after the final keystroke of the word preceding the first TT word corresponding to the ST AOI, up to and including the final keystroke in the linguistic unit corresponding to the ST AOI.

The *Production Time* measurement method is illustrated in Figure 11. In the upper half of the window, the ST is shown with the ST AOI underlined in red. In the lower half of the window, Translog's linear representation of the TT is displayed. The TT equivalent to the ST AOI is underlined in green. The purpose of the figure is to show an example of the initial and final boundaries of the TT AOI equivalents. In the middle of the window, the dialog box Event info contains the time stamp for the location of the cursor, which is placed immediately after the full stop as the TT equivalent in this example is located at a sentence-initial position.

Arepeter 20.45 Sector -	In the phase is the stand of the three states is the state of the state state and the three states is a state state of the states is the states is the state of the states is the	[ICLED] [#01.501[(#01.10] Biter steen advised av av atter for Galary der der ut this av 01.001 Generative iter iter iter for Galary der der ut this av 22.705 generative iter iter atter generative dar da Galar France [19.001 Generative iter iter iter det i Galary der der der the spin 22.705 generative iter iter iter iter iter iter iter ite	operations of General Motors to spin at into	Plough-Schering announced their intention to	Iberia have been wooing one another for the	strewn with failed corporate marriages. Still, th	who are sure to supervise the courtship with o	KLM and Delta Air Lines is the latest to make t	Every time you look around, it seems lke comp	Service and the service of the serv
in the Barren Bran	rando analy in the construction and a state and a local construction and a state and a sta	Q		tas lang: 122/KE35 Jacomovement 155 https://a	vet.alogy Tet polution vet Ger."	ie matchmaking continues a	are because of the size of t	he rounds. But the suitors n	panies are trying to hook up	et bet 1 molf lines (reschedelind)
	0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0)のののののののない。 2010年に、「Anather Statest - Name and Statest - Name and Anather - Name and Anather - Name - Second Statest - Name 21.019日 he lit - Sidest - Name - Name - Name - (*01.017)	on-again, off-again plans of Porsche and	s to merge with Chrysler ard the European	ch, pharmaceutical giants Merck and	pace. British Airways and Spanish carrier	he dowry. The path from the altar is	rust first gain the approval of regulators,	. The proposed marriage of Air France-	

Figure 11: Screenshot from Translog Supervisor with the ST in the upper window and the temporal display of the TT production in the lower window

Any pauses preceding the AOI TT equivalents were included in the measure whereas any pauses immediately after the word were taken to be related to subsequent words. Pauses in midproduction of target word(s) were consequently also included in the measure. A few pauses immediately after a typed word may have been the result of revision of the word just typed, but in order to ensure a consistent methodology, it was decided that only pauses preceding a word would be included in the measure. This was in line with Dragsted, who stated that "the mental production of a TU [ed: translation unit] most often starts during the pause preceding the textual TU" (Dragsted 2004: 87). Because the measure was *Production Time* and not pause length, it was not deemed necessary to define a minimum threshold for pause length.

It should be noted that the temporal value of *Production Time* was logarithmically transformed to achieve a more homogenous dataset without any outlying values distorting the results. For the same reason, the statistical analysis removed any residual outliers from the dataset as these outliers would otherwise be given the same weight in the analysis as more standard values.

Independent variables: Random effects

See section 4.6.1 for a definition of the random effects AOI ID and Participant.

Independent variables: Fixed effects

Character Count: Just as the length of the word(s) in the ST AOI was assumed to have an effect on the dependent variables in the eye-tracking analyses, the number of characters typed to produce the equivalent TT AOI was assumed to have an effect on the dependent variable *Production Time* in the key-logging analysis. This measure is control-oriented as the character count was not assumed to be directly correlated with cognitive effort as the typing activity in itself must, to some extent, be regarded as an automated or routine activity. However, as pointed out by Göpferich, a translator with poor typing skills must be assumed to expend more cognitive effort on the typing activity than a skilled touch-typist and may also be likely to be slower (Göpferich 2009: 20). Character Count was therefore an essential independent variable in the statistical model for Analysis 4. An important distinction between final character count and the more comprehensive measure of temporary character count should be made as the participants would in several instances make typing errors or decide on a different translation choice mid-

production. In these cases, some character deletion would occur, and temporary character count will be higher than the final character count. However, the deleted characters will also have taken time to type (and delete) and, for this reason, the measure Character Count was in this model a total measure of all alphabetical characters typed during production of TT AOI equivalents, both deleted and final characters. Note that all other typing events such as pressing backspace, the space bar, and mouse clicks were not included in the variable Character Count as it was not feasible in all cases to determine if the action was related to the production of the TT AOI equivalent or another text unit.

Postedit: This independent variable with the levels Yes and No accounted for the effect of whether the TT AOI equivalent was edited again later in the translation process. The dependent variable *Production Time* measured the time of production from immediately after the preceding word to immediately after the last keystroke in the TT AOI equivalent, but in a few instances, the participant would go back and make minor revisions to the initial translation output. As it was not always possible to ascertain exactly when the postediting of a particular word or words was initiated, the time spent on postediting was not included in the dependent variable Production time. It was instead decided to define the initial and final boundaries of the TT AOI equivalents as previously described²⁹ (as illustrated by the beginning and end of the green line in Figure 11). It was then noted for each TT AOI equivalent translation unit whether or not any postediting was carried out.³⁰

Sentence End: The assumption behind this control-oriented variable was that the participants were likely to engage in sentence-final revision, which could perhaps have an effect on the frequency and duration of pauses as well as typing speed for translation units located at sentence-final positions. It was therefore noted for each AOI equivalent in the TT whether or not the translation was at a sentence-final position. This was dependent on the translation unit's

²⁹ The initial boundary immediately after the word preceding the first word of the target text equivalent and the final boundary immediately after the final keystroke in the final word of the target text AOI equivalent.

 $^{^{30}}$ If the entire translation of the AOI was deleted at a later stage in the translation process and replaced with a new translation, these two translations would be listed separately and the first would be marked as Final No and the second and final translation unit would be marked as Final Yes. There was no significant difference between metaphor AOIs and non-metaphor AOIs in the number of translation proposals (number of Final No's compared with Final Yes) (p-value > 0.05). Comparison AOIs had 18 Final No and 319 Final Yes translation proposals and the numbers were 26 and 314 for the metaphor AOIs.

position in the TT and not the position of the ST AOI. The levels were Yes and No, meaning that that the translation unit would either be listed as having a sentence-final position (Sentence End Yes) or not (Sentence End No).

Sentence Initial: Similarly to the variable Sentence End, it was assumed that the position of the translation unit could have an effect on the pause frequency and duration as well as typing speed. It was deemed likely that the participants would engage in more planning and deliberation activities when initiating production of a sentence resulting in longer pauses (as found by Schilperoord 1996 for monolingual text production), which could have an effect on the production time for translation units at this position. Dragsted (2004) found that professional translators were more likely to pause at word level than sentence level but as these potential pauses at word level are included in the dependent variable *Production Time*, it was deemed relevant to also take into account any potential effect from sentence-initial position. This was done in the same manner as for the variable Sentence End, i.e., by stating for each TT AOI equivalent whether or not it was located at a sentence-initial position (levels Yes and No). Immonen's findings of longer pause duration at paragraph level with decreasing durations for lower levels (Immonen 2006: 329) also indicated the necessity of controlling for sentence-initial positions when investigating *Production Time* as a measure including pauses.

See section 4.6.1 for a definition of the remaining variables Unigram Frequency, Trigram Probability, Domain, and Type.

4.6.4 Analysis 4.1 – Production of Metaphor in Translation

Analysis 4.1 is comparable to Analysis 1.1 in that the analysis used only a subset of the dataset, namely only the data for the metaphor AOIs equivalents in the TT. The purpose of this more finely granulated analysis was to investigate whether the participants' choice of translation strategy had an effect on the cognitive effort invested in the metaphor translation as measured by *Production Time*. In other words, in contrast to Analysis 4, Analysis 4.1 is a comparison of metaphor versus metaphor in terms of translation strategy and also metaphor familiarity.

The procedure used for fitting Analysis 4 was repeated for Analysis 4.1. The majority of the variables included in Analysis 4.1 are identical to the variables in the main Analysis 4, and they will not be described in detail again. Only the variables unique for Analysis 4.1 will be described in depth in the following.

Dependent variable
Production Time
Independent variables: Random
effects
AOI ID
Participant
Independent variables: Fixed effects
Character Count
Postedit
Sentence Initial
Sentence Final
Unigram Frequency
Trigram Probability
Domain

Table 7: Identical variables in analyses 4 and 4.1

Apart from the above variables, which were described in detail in analyses 1 and 4, four other variables were added for inter-metaphor investigation. These variables were Mean Familiarity, Translation Strategy M-M, Translation Strategy M-P, and Translation Strategy M1-M2 (see section 4.6.2 for a definition of these independent variables).

Chapter 5 Eye-tracking Results: a Quantitative Analysis

Three different eye-tracking measures or predictors are reported here to provide a comprehensive analysis, which seeks to provide an account of the cognitive effort invested in the metaphor translation process. The measures reported in this chapter are *Total Fixation Time*, *Total Fixation Number*, and *First Pass Fixation Time* (see also section 4.6.1). Since ecological validity was prioritised highly, and since authentic texts were used, this study included both single and multiple-word AOIs. Because of this heterogeneity, a number of popular measures were not suited for the purposes of this analysis and other measures found to be equally informative, if less often used, were chosen. All three eye-tracking measures were analysed statistically within the same statistical framework, which means that the statistical model for each analysis was set up in the same order and the same independent variables were introduced.

With 17 participants and a total of 74 AOIs for all four texts, the data contained 1153 observations (zero gaze values were not included), but the final analysis was done for a total of 1138 observations in the main statistical model. The discrepancy relates to the fact that 15 observations were removed because they were considered outliers, which could potentially obscure the results (Baayen 2008: 237). For the results reported in the following, the statistical model had Translation as the basis of comparison (reference level) as this was the primary focus of the experiment.

The results will be discussed in order of relevance to the research questions, meaning that the variable Type relating to any differences between metaphor and comparison AOIs will be discussed first. Following this will be a discussion of any significant effect of any of the control-oriented variables followed by a brief summary of the non-significant control-oriented variables. Some of the results may appear trivial and not central to the research questions of the thesis, but as previously discussed, the control-oriented variables enabled a clearer investigation of the research questions without "noise" from uncontrolled factors.

Before any variables were fitted to the model, the distribution of gaze time values were investigated graphically to determine if it was necessary to remove any outliers and perhaps also make a logarithmic transformation of the dependent variable to achieve a more even and meaningful distribution (Baayen 2008: 31). It was found that the logarithmically transformed data resulted in a more normally distributed data set, and the results reported here were therefore investigated with a logarithmic value for the dependent variable.

5.1 Analysis 1: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-Metaphor in Reading and Translation – Total Fixation Time

The eye-tracking data were used for investigation of the measure *Total Fixation Time*, and were analysed in two separate but related statistical models in which the second model (Analysis 1.1) used a subset of the data from the main model. The results will be reported here separately for each of the two analyses.³¹

Figure 12 illustrates the absolute values for *Total Fixation Time* in a simple comparison between the metaphor and non-metaphor AOIs. As can be seen from the illustration, the *Total Fixation Time* is markedly longer (700 seconds) for all metaphor AOIs combined compared with the comparison AOIs (500 seconds).



Figure 12: Total Fixation Time in absolute values for all metaphor AOIs compared with all comparison AOIs when read for translation.

The problem with this form of descriptive statistics is that it doesn't show us whether this difference between the two types of AOIs could be caused by any other factors, such as AOI length, word frequency, etc. The values have also not been logarithmically transformed, nor

³¹ The absolute values grouped by participant, task, and text can be seen in Appendix 7.

have any outliers been removed as has been done in Analysis 1 to ensure that no undue weight is given to any individual values.

Figure 12 only tells us that there is a difference, but we cannot be sure what this difference is really caused by. To be sure that the difference is caused by one type of AOIs being metaphors, we would either have to carry out highly controlled experiments in which all other aspects were equal between the metaphor and comparison AOIs, which would be difficult in a linguistic experiment such as this as well as cause a loss of ecological validity. Another possibility is to use inferential statistics such as the linear mixed-effects regression model reported here. This type of statistical analysis is able to take various systematic characteristics of the items into account as well as adjust for differences between individual participants and items (Balling 2008b: 183).

	Estimate	MCMC	HPD95	HPD95	p-value
		mean	lower	upper	
Intercept	6.3504	6.3501	6.0041	6.7285	0.0001
AOI Length	0.0899	0.0898	0.0750	0.1047	0.0001
AOI Position	-0.0092	-0.0091	-0.0185	0.0007	0.0618
I(AOIPos^2) ³²	0.0001	0.0001	0.0000	0.0002	0.0422
Trigram Probability	-0.0558	-0.0550	-0.1103	-0.0016	0.0470
Domain (Same)	-0.1899	-0.1888	-0.3461	-0.0540	0.0102
Task (Reading)	-0.3190	-0.3148	-0.5023	-0.1244	0.0010
Type (Metaphor)	0.1185	0.1190	-0.0543	0.2847	0.1752
Interaction (Task:Type)	-0.2356	-0.2371	-0.4051	-0.0582	0.0084

Table 8: Summary of the linear regression model for Total Fixation Time

The benefit of inferential statistics becomes clear when seeing the results reported in Table 8 compared with Figure 12. The left-hand column represents the variables included in the final model. The second column, *Estimate*, gives us the estimated effect size of the variables. The remaining columns are based on 10,000 Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulations

³² This second row on AOI Position is included in the model because AOI Position is non-linear, and this second row is quadratic. The two variables must be plotted and interpreted together. The non-linear AOI Position alone would be potentially misleading.

(Baayen 2008: 248) run on the basis of the dataset and the model. As Balling (2013) states, the benefit of the MCMC-based values is that they offer precision for analysis of small datasets. The third column, *MCMC mean*, shows the mean values of the estimated effect size in the MCMC simulations. The columns *HPD95 lower* and *HPD95 upper* give us the interval within which 95% of the population are likely to lie (see also Baayen et al. 2008), i.e. showing how much the effect sizes vary around the estimate, which represents a mean effect size, and this indicating how systematic each effect is. The final column in grey is the one of most interest as it shows the p-values for the linear regression model. An effect is normally considered to be statistically significant when the p-value is below 0.05 (Baayen 2008: 68), and that is also the cut-off point chosen in this study.

The row Intercept states the value of the dependent variable (here *Total Fixation Time*) when numerical variables have a hypothetical value of 0 (Balling 2008b: 181) and for reference levels of factors. The reference level is the default level against which other factor levels are measured, i.e. the basis of comparison (see Baayen 2008: 102). As mentioned in section 4.6., a factor is a non-numerical variable, such as Type (Metaphor and Comparison), which has two categories, called levels (Baayen 2008: 9). The reference level is the intercept for factors. The text in parentheses shows the level analysed against the model's reference level.³³ For example, the row Domain (SAME) means that the variable Domain (as well as the other variables in the analysis) is analysed with the level Same against the reference level Different (not shown). The row Task (Reading) means that Reading for comprehension is compared to the reference level Reading for translation, etc. The values for the other variables in the column Estimate are relative to the value in Intercept.

Metaphor effect and its interaction with task

It is interesting to note that the interaction between the variables Type and Task has a significant effect as seen in the last row of Table 8. In other words, the effect of reading for comprehension versus reading for translation differs for metaphor compared with non-metaphor. Conversely,

³³ The reference level is the same for analyses 1-3.

the effect of metaphor versus non-metaphor differs for reading for comprehension compared with reading for translation.



Figure 13: *Total Fixation Time* distribution for metaphor and literal AOIs, with the y-axis denoting milliseconds. The solid line illustrates the difference between literal and metaphor AOIs when reading for translation, with the dashed line illustrating the difference between literal and metaphor AOIs when reading for comprehension (and retyping).³⁴

This can also be seen in Figure 13 in which the dashed line illustrates *Total Fixation Time* for reading for comprehension. As the dashed line in Figure 13 shows, literal AOIs have longer total fixation times compared with metaphors when read for comprehension, although this difference was found to be non-significant. Conversely, when read for translation (represented by the solid line), metaphors have longer total fixation times, although this difference was also non-significant as shown by the p-value in the row Type. But, the important thing to take note of is

³⁴ The logarithmically transformed values are back-transformed from the logarithmic scale for ease of interpretation.

that this difference in tendency is in fact significant as shown by the significant effect of the variable interaction in the last row of Table 8. So, there is a significant difference in the metaphor effect between reading and translation, which is also apparent from Figure 13, but the effect of metaphor for reading for comprehension and reading for translation respectively does not reach significance.

Consequently, it is important to keep in mind that the variable Type, i.e. metaphor vs. nonmetaphor, did not have a significant effect in itself. But it did enter into significant interaction with the variable Task. In other words, the effect of metaphor (i.e. the factor Type) was different depending on whether the task was reading for comprehension or reading for translation. It is this difference in effect that is significant, i.e. the interaction between the variables, rather than the effect of Type itself.

It would be interesting to follow up on this finding and determine whether this could be taken as support for the view that metaphors may in fact facilitate comprehension, which may also have been indicated by the findings of Noveck et al. (2001), who found a slightly higher number of correct responses after metaphoric references compared with literal references (Noveck et al. 2001: 118, see also section 3.1.4.).

Contrary to what Figure 12 indicates, there was nothing approaching a significant effect of the variable Type alone as shown in Table 8. In other words, the metaphor AOIs did not result in significantly longer gaze times compared with non-metaphor AOIs when read for translation, and the reason for the difference seen in Figure 12 must be explained by the significant effects of the other independent variables stated in the table.

This means that the data indicate that the answer to research question One based on the variable Type in Analysis 1 is that metaphors do not require a greater cognitive effort to read for translation than literal expressions, which is in direct opposition to the view of Dagut (1987) and Newmark, who regarded metaphors as a translation problem (Newmark 1988: 104). However, the significant interaction between the variables Type and Task suggests a tendency that metaphors are in fact more cognitively effortful to read for translation than literal expressions, but less cognitively effortful to read for comprehension only, which was illustrated in Figure 13. But because this tendency is not supported by any significant effect of Type alone, it would

require further investigation in a follow-up study. As can be seen from Figure 13, there seems to be a difference in *Total Fixation Time* between metaphor and non-metaphor, when read for translation, as illustrated by the solid line, but the statistical analysis reveals that this difference is not significant.³⁵

The data lend support to the view that metaphors are not more effortful to comprehend or process than literal expressions as argued by Glucksberg (2001) and Inhoff et al. (1984), as a secondary model with reading for comprehension as the reference level confirmed the findings of the main model. This secondary model investigated the potential differences between the metaphor AOIs and comparison AOIs with reading as the reference level, i.e., the effects of the other variables were analysed against the factor level of Reading (reading for comprehension and retyping task). There was still no significant effect from the Type variable, indicating that the comprehension of L2 metaphors and the comprehension of L2 literal expressions require the same amount of cognitive effort, regardless of whether the task was for reading for comprehension or reading for translation.

Significant control variables

As expected, the variable Task showed a significant effect (p < 0.05) with the level reading for comprehension against reading for translation. In other words, the participants' gaze times were significantly shorter when reading for comprehension (and retyping) compared with reading for translation as illustrated by the dashed line in Figure 13, which represents reading for comprehension. As can be seen in the figure, the dashed line is well below the solid line, which represents *Total Fixation Time* for reading for translation. This finding is in line with findings of Jakobsen and Jensen (2008), who found that participants had longer reading times in a translation task compared with a reading task (Jakobsen and Jensen 2008: 103 abstract).

³⁵ In Figure 13 as well as in the other figures in this chapter, the effects of all other variables are held constant.



Figure 14: *Total Fixation Time* relative to AOI length, with character count on the x-axis and *Total Fixation Time* in milliseconds on the y-axis. Note that the scale on the y-axis differs from the other figures in this chapter because of the stronger effect of length on the dependent variable compared with the other independent variables

As illustrated in figure 14, there was also a significant effect of AOI Length on the dependent variable, *Total Fixation Time*. The longer the word or words in the AOI, the longer the gaze time. This means that the participants had longer fixations and/or more fixations on the AOIs containing long words or multiple words. This observation is consistent with observations of Rayner and others (see e.g., Rayner 1998: 387) and is non-controversial.

As previously discussed in section 4.6.1, both Unigram Frequency and Trigram Probability were investigated initially, but the two values were found to be strongly correlated, which is not surprising as the unigram value constitutes part of the trigram probability value. There was a significant effect of the Trigram Probability variable with shorter gaze times for AOIs with a high trigram probability, i.e. with a high level of contextual predictability, which is in line with

the findings of Frisson et al., who found shorter fixation times for predictable words compared with less predictable words (Frisson et al. 2005, see section 3.3.1.5).

The variance of the effect between participants was found to be quite high. In other words, for some participants, the effect of a high or low Trigram Probability had a strong effect on their fixation times and for other participants, the effect was much smaller. This variance was taken into account in the model as a random intercept, and the appropriateness of including the random intercept was tested, given the loss of degree of freedom, by a log likelihood ratio test, which tests whether the model with the additional random effect fits significantly better than the reduced model (Baayen et al. 2008: 393, Balling 2008b: 183ff), and it was found that it did. The significant effect of Trigram probability is illustrated in Figure 15.



Figure 15: The effect of Trigram probability on *Total Fixation Time*, with the x-axis denoting the conditional trigram probability values. The higher the value, the higher the probability of the word co-occurring with the words on either side of it.

Visualisations of both the frequency (unigram) and probability (trigram) distributions for the metaphor AOIs versus the comparison AOIs illustrated that the metaphor AOIs had a slightly

lower word frequency rate as well as a slightly lower trigram probability, i.e., contextual predictability. Because of the limited number of words to choose from in the texts which could be assigned as comparison AOIs, it was not possible to achieve exact comparability between the two groups of AOIs. The importance of including Trigram Probability as a variable becomes obvious as any results relating to the difference in gaze time between the metaphor AOIs and the comparison AOIs might otherwise have been distorted and interpreted as being more significant than is really the case.



Figure 16: The effect of Domain on Total Fixation Time

There is also a significant effect from the variable Domain with the level Same. However, there does not seem to be any three-way interaction between Type, Task and Domain, which means that the effect must relate to other differences in the text than any form of metaphor priming effect because the metaphors in the text were all based in the same semantic domain. A cursory analysis of the differences between the texts revealed that Text 1 had significantly longer fixation times than the other three texts and that Text 4 had the shortest fixation times. As can be seen from Figure 16, there was a difference in milliseconds between texts with same domain metaphors compared with texts with different-domain metaphors, with AOIs from texts 3 and 4
having a *Total Fixation Time* around 750 ms compared with a *Total Fixation Time* of around 1100 ms for AOIs from texts 1 and 2. However, the statistical model showed that the difference was non-significant and caused by other variables than metaphor versus non-metaphor.

Non-significant control variables

Against expectations, there was found to be no significant effect of AOI Position on the dependent variable. In other words, there seems to be no priming or fatigue effect.



Figure 17: The effect of AOI position on *Total Fixation Time* across all four texts. The x-axis scale represents AOI ID numbers.

As Figure 17 illustrates, the partial effect of AOI position on *Total Fixation Time* is an inverted bell curve, which may perhaps be explained by a need for orientation at the beginning of the experiment as well as some form of review process at the end. Of course, it should be kept in mind that the effect of AOI position is investigated across all four texts and not for each text

individually. Nevertheless, there does seem to be some form of facilitation occurring in the middle of the experiment; however, this effect has been found to be non-significant.

There is no indication that the translation of a metaphor becomes easier further along in the experiment after having translated other metaphors. In other words, the data does not seem to support any automaticity or priming effect. This was investigated in more detail as the interaction between AOI position and metaphor was also analysed separately without the non-metaphorical AOIs, but still no significant effect was found.

5.1.2 Summary

The following table provides an overview of the findings of the above Analysis 1. The variables are listed in the same order in which they appear in the above section with any variables showing a significant effect (p < 0.05) marked in a darker shade of grey. As the table shows, the data showed no indication that reading of L2 metaphors for the purpose of translation is more effortful than reading of L2 non-metaphors according to the measure *Total Fixation Time*.

Variable name	p-value
AOI Length	< 0.05 (0.001)
AOI Position	> 0.05
Trigram Probability	< 0.05
Domain	< 0.05
Task	< 0.05
Туре	> 0.05
Interaction (Type and Task)	< 0.05

Table 9: Summary of independent variables in statistical Analysis 1.

5.2 Analysis 1.1.: Comprehension of Metaphor in Translation – Total Fixation Time

It was assumed that a more granular analysis of the interaction between metaphor and translation was necessary in order to achieve a more in-depth understanding of the effort required in the metaphor translation process. For this reason, a second statistical model was created, which used a subset of the same data as the model described in section 4.6.1. The model in Analysis 1.1 investigated the dependent variable for the metaphor AOIs only without comparison to the non-metaphor AOIs. As previously stated, it was questioned whether specific aspects of the individual metaphors would result in more cognitive effort required than for other metaphors or whether specific translation strategies would be applied with more effort than others. It was assumed that any differences in cognitive effort invested in metaphor processing would emerge as differences in gaze times across the three translation strategies. These research questions could only be investigated in a model specifically designed to compare metaphors. The following Analysis 1.1 will report only on those variables, which are new or different compared with the variables reported in the main statistical model as used for Analysis 1 (see section 4.6.1).

	Estimate	MCMC	HPD95	HPD95	p-value
		mean	lower	upper	
Intercept	52.347	52.011	46.564	57.317	0.0001
Log Length	0.9493	0.9640	0.7265	11.950	0.0001
Translation Strategy	0.1595	0.1945	-0.0298	0.4110	0.0826
M-P					
Translation Strategy	-0.0005	-0.0062	-0.2945	0.2745	0.9646
M1-M2					

Table 10: Summary of the linear regression model for Total Fixation Time for metaphor AOIs only

As can be seen from Table 10, the only variable showing any significant effect was the noncontroversial variable of AOI length, for which reason none of the effects have been plotted.

The effect of translation strategy

Research question Three asked whether the task of moving from a metaphorical image to a literal translation would have required relatively more cognitive effort compared with a direct translation strategy (M-M), and the data indicated that this is not the case. The more direct translation strategy M-M was the basis of comparison in the analysis. There was no significant effect from the M-P translation strategy on the dependent variable.

There was also no significant effect of Translation Strategy M1-M2, indicating that preparing for translation of a metaphor with a different metaphorical image is not cognitively more demanding than a more direct translation of the metaphor or translation of a literal expression.

The direct translation strategy is by far the preferred translation strategy with the participants (207 M-M compared with 64 M-P translations and 36 M1-M2)³⁶, a finding which is in line with earlier findings by Wikberg (2004) (see section 3.2.4.1). To elaborate, this means that across all 17 participants, a total of 207 metaphor AOIs were translated with the direct M-M strategy compared with only 64 paraphrased or M-P translations and the even lower number of 36 new

³⁶ Because of the disparity in distribution of the three translation strategies, it was found that the absolute values would not be illustrative for which reason they have not been included in an appendix.

TT metaphorical images or M1-M2 produced. It is not clear if this strong preference for the M-M translation strategy was based on a strategic evaluation of the salience of the ST metaphorical image in the TT language or if it should be seen as support of Andersen's claim that translators lack the necessary metaphor translation competence to engage in a metaphor translation strategy at macro-level (Andersen 2004, see section 3.2.3.1).

To ensure that this disparity in the distribution of the translation strategies did not influence the statistical analysis, a comparison was also made between the direct metaphor translation strategy (M-M) and the indirect metaphor translation strategies combined (M-P and M1-M2). However, there was still no significant effect on the dependent variable.

Significant control variables

As mentioned above, the only control variable showing any significant effect was the noncontroversial AIO Length.

Non-significant control variables

Contrary to expectations, the metaphors' mean familiarity rating had no effect on the dependent variable, which is counter to the findings of Gentili et al. (2008), who found significant differences in the processing of familiar versus non-familiar metaphors. It remains unclear whether the lack of significant difference in this experiment was because the metaphors were in the participants' L2, meaning that any differences in cognitive load caused by familiarity or lack thereof may have been masked by the cognitive load required for the comprehension of an L2 expression or the effect of translation. Because the variable had no significant effect, it was not included in the final statistical model reported here for reasons explained in section 4.6.

5.2.1 Summary

As with the above statistical Analysis 1, the more finely granulated Analysis 1.1 is summarised in the table below, which shows the lack of any significant effects to be found for the measure of *Total Fixation Time*. It should be noted that other independent variables not unique to Analysis 1.1. (i.e., identical to variables discussed in Analysis 1) were also investigated but not elaborated on in the above. However, only the logarithmically transformed AOI length was found to have an effect on the dependent variable.

Variable name	p-value
Mean Familiarity	> 0.05
Translation Strategy M-P	> 0.05
Translation Strategy M1-M2	> 0.05

Table 11: Summary of independent variables in statistical Analysis 1.1.

5.3 Analysis 2: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-Metaphor in Reading and Translation – Total Fixation Number

The second analysis reported in this section is for the measure *Total Fixation Number*.³⁷ Although the number of fixations within an AOI may not be as reflective of cognitive effort as the measures *Total Fixation Time* and *First Pass Fixation Time*, the measure *Total Fixation Number* should nevertheless be able to reveal any differences in the reading process not necessarily related to differences in cognitive load but perhaps more to differences in reading patterns related to e.g., the task (reading for comprehension or reading for translation). Rayner et al. (2006) found that the number of fixations was a strong predictor of perceived text difficulty. As Rayner et al. also emphasised, there is a natural strong correlation between fixation number and total fixation time (Rayner et al. 2006: 246ff.), but the two measures should nevertheless not be regarded as identical. The statistical model for Analysis 2 was set up using the same criteria as in the previous analysis, which means that the interaction between the individual independent variables and the dependent variable was examined to identify the best statistical model in which only variables with any significance for the results were included. In other words, Analysis 2 should not be seen as an independent analysis, but rather as a supplement to and a replication of Analysis 1.

As in Analysis 1, the absolute values illustrated in Figure 18 show us that there is a difference in *Total Fixation Number* depending on the type of AOI.

³⁷ The absolute values grouped by participant, task, and text can be seen in Appendix 8.



Figure 18: Total Fixation Number categorised by AOI type in absolute values.

Metaphor effect and its interaction with task

But as it was also the case in Analysis 1, once these values had been analysed in the linear mixed-effects regression model, it turned out that the difference seen in Figure 18 could not be assigned to the type of AOI, as AOI Type showed no significant effect in Table 12.

Table 12: Summary of the linea	r regression mo	odel for Total F	ixation Number		
	Estimate	MCMC	HPD95	HPD95	p-value
		mean	lower	upper	
Intercept	0.8126	0.8132	0.5006	1.1312	0.0001
AOI Length	0.0870	0.0869	0.0739	0.0994	0.0001
AOI Position	-0.0056	-0.0055	-0.0135	0.0021	0.1688
I(AOIPos^2)	0.0001	0.0001	0.0000	0.0002	0.0802
Trigram Probability	-0.0436	-0.0421	-0.0854	0.0009	0.0572
Domain (Same)	-0.0998	-0.0998	-0.2212	0.0238	0.1138
Task (Reading)	-0.5805	-0.5760	-0.7347	-0.4271	0.0001
Type (Metaphor)	0.0959	0.0950	-0.0491	0.2389	0.1922
Interaction (Task: Type)	-0.2131	-0.2112	-0.3519	-0.0734	0.0032

In other words, there was no significant difference in the number of fixations between metaphor AOIs and comparison AOIs when read for translation. The measure *Total Fixation Number*

confirmed the findings of Analysis 1, indicating that metaphors are not more cognitively effortful and do not involve more fixations to read for translation than non-metaphors, which was research question One (see chapter 2). However, Analysis 2 finds the same significant interaction between the variables Type and Task as was found in Analysis 1, indicating a certain facilitation effect of metaphor when reading for comprehension, although this effect is nonsignificant when looking at the effect of Type alone. In other words, the findings of Analysis 2 support the findings of Analysis 1, and therefore the findings of Analysis 2 were not plotted, as Analysis 2 should be regarded as supplementary to Analysis 1.

Control variables

Of the control variables, only Task and AOI Length showed a significant effect. The significant effect of AOI Length indicates that a longer AOI meant a higher number of fixations (as indicated by the positive value of Estimate). This was in line with Analysis 1. Longer words generally receive more fixations and AOIs with multiple words would also be expected to receive more fixations than single-word AOIs. As with the previous analyses, the values for AOI Length were logarithmically transformed.

As shown in Table 12, the Task variable has a significant effect on the dependent variable, meaning that the participants had fewer fixations in the reading for comprehension task compared with the reading for translation task as indicated by the negative value of Estimate because the reference level (i.e. basis of comparison) was Translation. This is in line with the findings of Jakobsen and Jensen (2008) (see section 3.3.1.7), who argued that the shifts between ST and TT cause more fixations because it becomes necessary to re-fixate the word fixated before a shift (Jakobsen and Jensen 2008: 118). Unlike the experiment conducted by Jakobsen and Jensen in which typing was only part of the translation task, this lack of comparability was not an issue in the current study.

Unigram Frequency was found to be closer to having a significant effect than Trigram Probability in Analysis 2 and was therefore included in the final statistical model. This finding is counter to the results of Analysis 1. However, the Unigram variable had no significant effect in the final results, whereas the Trigram variable was significant in Analysis 1. This could again indicate that *Total Fixation Number* is a less sensitive predictor than *Total Fixation Time*.

5.3.1 Summary

The following table provides an overview of Analysis 2. The variables are listed in the same order in which they have been discussed in this section with any variables showing a significant effect (p < 0.05) marked in dark grey. As the table shows, Analysis 2 indicates that the answer to research question One is that metaphors are not more cognitively effortful to process according to the measure *Total Fixation Number*.

Variable name	p-value
AOI Length	< 0.05 (p < 0.01)
AOI Position	> 0.05
Unigram	> 0.05
Domain	> 0.05
Task	< 0.05 (p < 0.01)
Туре	> 0.05
Interaction (Task and Type)	< 0.05

Table 13: Summary of independent variables in Analysis 2.

5.4 Analysis 3: Comprehension of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Reading and Translation – First Pass Fixation Time

The measure reported in Analysis 3 is *First Pass Fixation Time*,³⁸ which in this analysis is taken to mean the value of all fixations within any given AOI up to and including the last fixation before the eyes leave the AOI, either to the left or right.³⁹ In other words, regressions back to the AOI are not included in this measure. Again, the statistical model was set up according to the same structure as defined in analyses 1 and 2 with the same independent variables introduced in the same order.

	Estimate	MCMC	HPD95	HPD95	p-value
		mean	lower	upper	
Intercept	5.5353	5.5334	5.4217	5.6427	0.0001
Domain (SAME)	-0.1509	-0.1498	-0.2304	-0.0729	0.0001
Task (Reading)	0.2480	0.2489	0.1488	0.3524	0.0001
Type (Metaphor)	0.1027	0.1036	0.0099	0.2060	0.0374
Interaction	-0.1463	-0.1475	-0.2901	-0.0114	0.0408
(Task: Type)					

Table 14: Summary of the linear regression model for First Pass Fixation Time

Metaphor effect and its interaction with task

As can be seen from the right-hand column of Table 14, there is a significant effect of Type. That the estimate in the left-hand column is a positive value means that the *First Pass Fixation Time* is longer for metaphor AOIs compared with the reference level, which is non-metaphor AOIs. In other words, when read for the purpose of translation, metaphors have a significantly longer first pass fixation time than non-metaphors.

³⁸ Starr and Rayner use the term *first pass reading time* for analysis of units larger than a single word (Starr and Rayner 2001: 158). In Analysis 3, First Pass refers to both single and multiple word AOIs for ease of reference. Both single and multiple fixation values are included in the analysis.

³⁹ The absolute values grouped by participant, task, and text can be seen in Appendix 9.



Figure 19: *First Pass Fixation Time*, with first pass fixation times in milliseconds on the y-axis. The solid line represents the first pass fixation times for reading for translation, with the dashed line illustrating first pass fixation times for reading for comprehension (and retyping).

As can be seen from the solid line in Figure 19, literal AOIs have a *First Pass Fixation Time* of around 255 ms compared with approx. 280 ms for metaphor AOIs when read for translation. This difference was found to be a significant effect of AOI Type.

That Type would have an effect on the dependent variable *First Pass Fixation Time* only, and not also on the more comprehensive *Total Fixation Time* in Analysis 1, can perhaps be explained by the lower predictability of the metaphors, which require more orientation than more predictable literal expressions. This would be in line with Frisson et al.'s (2005) findings that more predictable words resulted in shorter fixations (Frisson et al. 2005: 862). *First Pass Fixation Time* is perhaps a more sensitive predictor of this increase in orientation effort compared with *Total Fixation Time*, which may be more reflective of the total sum of cognitive effort. This is also supported by Demberg and Keller's observation that first pass reading times are indicative of early syntactic and semantic processing (Demberg and Keller 2008: 197).

The fact that an early measure such as *First Pass Fixation Time* shows a significant effect of Type could indicate that the effect of metaphor is somehow an effect of predictability beyond the word-in-context predictability which the variable Trigram Probability was assumed to account for. In other words, the unexpectedness of the metaphorical expression caused longer first pass fixation times, which were then compensated for somehow in total fixation times. However, this speculation would require further investigation to be claimed with any level of certainty. Whether or not this potential unexpectedness is a sign of lower saliency in the metaphor AOIs compared with the non-metaphor AOIs is unclear, and it was therefore not possible to find any evidence either for or against Giora's graded salience hypothesis (1997) (see section 3.1.5).

As in Analysis 1 and 2, there is also a significant interaction between the variables Type and Task for *First Pass Fixation Time*, meaning that the interaction of the effects of those two independent variables on the dependent variable was significant. As was also the case in Analysis 1, Figure 19 shows that there is some indication that metaphors result in faster first pass fixation times compared with literal expressions when read for comprehension and, conversely, in longer first pass fixation times when read for translation. Whereas the effect of metaphor alone was not significant in reading for translation alone in Analysis 1, this effect was found to be significant in Analysis 3, which also lends further support to the interpretation of the significant interaction found across all three analyses as indication that metaphors may facilitate comprehension, but not translation.

Significant control variables

As shown in Table 14, there is a significant effect of Task, such that first pass fixation times are significantly shorter for reading for translation than for reading for comprehension. This is also illustrated in Figure 19, with the solid line illustrating reading for translation being below the dashed line illustrating reading for comprehension, which is in contrast to the findings of Analysis 1. This is quite interesting as the expectation was longer first pass fixation times for the reading for translation task as reading for translation is considered more cognitively effortful than reading for comprehension.

However, a possible interpretation of the significant effect of Task could be that, when reading for translation, the participant performs more switches between ST and TT for orientation and revision purposes, resulting in shorter first pass fixation times. This would also explain why *Total Fixation Time* in Analysis 1 did not yield the same result because, overall, reading for translation results in longer fixation times, but with more switches between ST and TT. This explanation is supported by the results of a supplementary analysis of fixation duration (not reported) in which reading for translation had significantly shorter fixation durations compared with reading for comprehension.

As previously stated, the experimental setting was designed such that the reading task also included retyping of the ST in order to ensure a higher level of comparability with the translation task. In other words, the difference cannot be ascribed to the typing activity and its interference in the eve movements' focus on the monitor. However, it seems likely that the translator's need to switch attention between the processes of comprehension in the ST and reformulation in the TT is the cause behind the shorter first pass fixations and fixation durations. This is indirectly supported by Hvelplund (2011), who argued that it is very likely that attention will switch very quickly between ST comprehension and TT reformulation during reading for translation (Hvelplund 2011: 64). This view is an adaptation of the parallel view of translation, which states that ST comprehension and TT reformulation take place in parallel (see e.g., Mossop 2003, section 3.2.1), i.e., simultaneously. Hvelplund argued that constraints on the central executive in the reader's working memory (WM) makes it impossible for the WM to run two conscious processes in absolute parallel but that the allocation of cognitive resources will in fact alternate very rapidly between the two translation processes (Hvelplund 2011: 64). These rapid changes between ST comprehension and TT reformulation are perhaps evidenced by the significantly shorter first pass fixations in the reading for translation task compared with the reading for comprehension task as all other potential influences are equal in the two tasks.

However, this assumption would certainly require further investigation. It does receive some support from the findings in Analysis 2, in which the translation task involved a far higher number of fixations than the reading task. The effect of the translation task was therefore interpreted to a monitoring of own output, which did not take place during the reading (and retyping) task. The monitoring of own output resulted in more shifts between the ST and TT, leading to shorter first pass fixations in the translation task.



Figure 20: The partial effect of Domain on First Pass Fixation Time

As in Analysis 1, Domain was found to have a significant effect on the dependent variable, and as can be seen from Figure 20, experimental texts with metaphors from the same semantic domain (texts 3 and 4) resulted in first pass fixation times of approx 220 ms compared with first pass fixation times of around 255 ms for texts with metaphors from mixed semantic domains (texts 1 and 2). However, because Type did not have a significant effect in Analysis 1, it is not quite clear if the explanation of the significantly shorter first pass fixation times is to be found in some more general form of textual coherence in texts 3 and 4 rather than in the coherence within the metaphors only or if *First Pass Fixation Time* is simply a more sensitive predictor than *Total Fixation Time*.

Non-significant control variables

There was no significant effect of AOI length on the dependent variable. There seems to be some indication that word length has more effect on *Total Fixation Time* than on the individual fixations, which means that the number of fixations within an AOI must be affected by AOI

length. Otherwise, it is difficult to explain the discrepancies between analyses 1 and 2 compared with analyses 3 as there was a highly significant effect of AOI length in analyses 1 and 2.

There was no effect of AOI position on *First Pass Fixation Time*, in line with the results of Analysis 1. This was taken to mean that there was no form of either a fatigue effect nor a facilitation or priming effect taking place.

The findings of Analysis 3 are in concurrence with the findings of Analysis 2 but not with Analysis 1. There was no significant effect of either the unigram or trigram probabilities (p > 0.05) on *First Pass Fixation Time*, indicating that lexical frequency and word collocation probability are not optimal predictors for the first pass measure. This lack of significant effect in Analysis 3 is in line with the findings of McDonald and Shillcock that word frequency only affects total gaze durations and not first fixations or single fixation duration (McDonald and Shillcock 2003, see section 3.3.1.5).

5.4.1 Summary

The following table provides an overview of Analysis 3. The variables are listed in the same order in which they have been stated in this section with any variables showing a significant effect (p < 0.05) marked in dark grey. As the table shows, Analysis 3 with the measure *First Pass Fixation Time* offers a different answer to research question One than analyses 1 and 2, namely that there is a significant difference in the cognitive effort invested in processing of L2 metaphors compared with L2 non-metaphors whether reading for comprehension or for translation.

Variable name	p-value
AOI Length	> 0.05
AOI Position	> 0.05
Unigram and Trigram Probability	> 0.05
Domain	< 0.05
Task	< 0.05
Туре	< 0.05
Interaction (Task and Type)	< 0.05

Table 15: Summary of independent variables in Analysis 3.

5.5 Discussion of Eye-tracking Results

Before discussing the results reported for the three eye-tracking measures, Table 16 provides a simple overview of the independent variables and the analyses in which the variables had a significant effect.

Variable name	Total	Total	First Pass
	Fixation	Fixation	Fixation
	<i>Time</i> (1)	Number (2)	Time(3)
AOI Length	Х	Х	
AOI Position			
Unigram	Х		
Frequency and			
Trigram			
Probability			
Domain	Х		Х
Task	Х	Х	Х
Туре			Х
Interaction	Х	Х	Х
between Task and			
Туре			

Table 16: Summary of analyses 1-3: eye-tracking measures

There are several interesting findings from the analyses of the eye-tracking data. Seen as a whole, the eye-tracking analyses do not offer an unambiguous reply to the question of whether or not metaphors are more cognitively effortful to translate than non-metaphors. However, the individual eye-tracking measures, in particular *Total Fixation Time* and *First Pass Fixation Time*, offer some important contributions to the fields of metaphor translation research and translation process research, and the divergent findings of these two measures are seen as indication that the measures are reflective of different stages of processing.

The most interesting finding of the eye-tracking analyses is the significant effect of Type (i.e. metaphor versus literal expression), when reading for translation, in Analysis 3 where the dependent variable was First Pass Fixation Time. Following Demberg and Keller's (2008) claim that the measure First Pass Fixation Time is a measure of early semantic (and syntactic processing), it makes sense that this measure would seem to be the most sensitive predictor of cognitive effort in metaphor comprehension when reading for translation compared with more comprehensive eye-tracking measures. Based on the findings of Analysis 3, the answer to Research Question One is that metaphors are in fact more cognitively demanding to process than literal expressions when read for the purpose of translation. This finding lends support to earlier non-empirical studies of metaphor translation in which the translation of metaphor has historically been viewed as a particular translation problem. Of course, the answer to Research Question One is not unambiguous as the answers from analyses 1 and 2 go in the opposite direction. There was no significant effect of Type alone on either Total Fixation Time or Total *Fixation Number*. However, all three eye-tracking analyses showed a significant interaction between the variables Type and Task, meaning that the effect of metaphor was significantly different depending on the reading task (i.e. reading for comprehension or reading for translation).

As previously stated, several researchers have argued that metaphor comprehension is not more cognitively effortful than comprehension of literal expressions and that a metaphorical interpretation is accessed directly and not only after a literal interpretation has been tested (Glucksberg 2001). The findings of analyses 1 and 2 would seem to indicate that this is in fact the case even when the comprehension is of an L2 metaphor and the reading is for translation purposes rather than only for comprehension. Perhaps the disparity of findings in the eye-tracking analyses should not be seen as indication that the eye-mind assumption does not hold, but rather as evidence that metaphors are not processed in the same way as literal expressions, even though they are not more cognitively effortful to process. Furthermore, the disparity could be seen as confirmation of the eye-mind assumption as the individual measures are regarded as being reflective of different stages of processing.

Katz and Ferreti's constraint satisfaction model (Katz and Ferretti 2001, see section 3.3.1.5) posits that interpretation of a given lexical unit will depend on constraints such as e.g. syntactical and lexical information as well as disambiguating contextual information. The

constraint satisfaction model perhaps offers the best explanation for the significantly longer first pass fixation times for metaphors as found in Analysis 3 contrasting with the lack of any significant difference between metaphors and literal expressions as investigated by the variable Type in Analysis 1, *Total Fixation Time*. It may be that the metaphor AOI initially requires more disambiguating information for comprehension compared with the non-metaphorical AOIs, but once this disambiguation has been achieved during first pass fixations, there is no overall significant difference in cognitive effort as evidenced by the lack of significant effect in *Total Fixation Time*.

It must be remembered that analyses 1-3 were assumed to primarily investigate the comprehension stage of the translation process. The eye-tracking data only contained information on gazes on the ST, which consequently can only be used to speculate on the comprehension stage. Hvelplund (2011) argued that working memory is only able to actively engage in one process at a time, meaning that, rather than parallel processes of comprehension and production, working memory will perform rapid switches between the two processes (Hvelplund 2011: 64). Following this line of thought, translation should not be regarded as either a sequential or a parallel process but rather a hybrid. However, although it is possible that some form of reformulation is taking place to some extent in the mind of the translator while reading and comprehending the ST, it seems highly likely that the majority of the cognitive effort is involved in the comprehension aspect when attention is on the ST. This is in continuation of Just and Carpenter's (1980) *eye-mind assumption* that the mind is processing what the eyes are fixating, and Hvelplund (2011) worked from the same premise in his research on allocation of cognitive resources in translation.

Not surprisingly, there was a significant effect of AOI length on *Total Fixation Time* and *Total Fixation Number* (see e.g., Rayner 1998: 375ff.). Following this observation, it may also be assumed that there was some effect of multiple-word AOIs although this effect was not controlled for. This independent variable was not controversial and will not be discussed any further, other than that it seems plausible that the lack of effect on the dependent variable *First Pass Fixation Time* is an indication that AOI length is not a relevant predictor of processing difficulty but rather has a more mechanical effect as the eyes and mind need to assimilate and process the information from the word (or words) in their entirety, which may well require

additional fixations and/or longer processing times for longer words (see e.g., Just and Carpenter 1980: 338).

The significant effect in Analysis 1 of word co-occurrence probability as investigated by the independent variable Trigram Probability is non-controversial in relation to Total Fixation Time as the effect of lexical frequency on reading time has been firmly established in earlier studies with less frequent words resulting in longer gaze times (see e.g., Rayner 1998: 376). Trigram Probability was found to be significant, which was not the case with Unigram, which is a value of lexical frequency whereas Trigram is a measure of probability of a word occurring in a specific collocation. The significant effect of Trigram Probability could be seen as indirect support of word predictability as an indicator of processing effort following Frisson et al. (2005, see section 3.3.1.5). Especially with regard to a metaphor study, word collocations must be a more meaningful measure, because metaphors can be said to be more unexpected, and since the unigram values are constituents in the trigram values, it was not regarded as any loss to the statistical model that only trigram values were investigated in analysis 1. The lack of significant effect from Trigram Probability in Analysis 3 is in line with the findings of McDonald and Shillcock who only found an effect of word frequency in total gaze durations and not on first fixations or single fixations. They interpreted these results to mean that word frequency only influences later stages of processing (McDonald and Shillcock 2003: 648, see also section 3.3.1.5).

Against expectations, there was no effect of AOI position on any of the dependent variables. As the texts were quite short (approx. 150 words), there was little expectation of a fatigue effect, which would have been evidenced by an increase in total fixation time, etc., for AOIs positioned later in the text compared with earlier AOIs. However, in continuation of Jääskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit's (1991) observations on some form of automaticity effect occurring for professional translators, it was assumed that later AOIs would have shorter fixation times, fewer fixations etc. because of a facilitation effect, meaning that the translation of later AOIs would be less cognitively effortful than the translation of earlier AOIs because the earlier translations would facilitate the translation of later AOIs. This was not confirmed by the data.

There was a significant effect of Domain on the dependent variables *Total Fixation Time* and *First Pass Fixation Time* with a negative correlation between reading times and fixation

durations and the level Domain Same, i.e., for texts 3 and 4 with metaphors based in the same semantic domain in each text. However, there was no significant interaction between the variables Type, Task, and Domain, meaning that any facilitation effect taking place in texts 3 and 4 was not a result of the metaphors in the texts.

It was expected that translation of metaphors in the texts 3 and 4 would require less cognitive effort because of some form of metaphor priming effect in which it would be easier to comprehend and translate subsequent metaphors in the individual texts because they were all connected within the same domain requiring no semantic shifts. However, the lack of significant effect from Domain could suggest that Kimmel (2010) is right when stating that mixed metaphors are no less comprehensible than non-mixed metaphors (Kimmel 2010: 97). Following Kimmel's arguments, the lack of significant interaction between the variables Type, Task, and Domain becomes more understandable. There would seem to be some support for his observation in the results reported here, as there is no suggestion that the metaphor AOIs from the texts with mixed domain metaphors (texts 1 and 2) required increased cognitive effort for the comprehension aspect of the translation process.

It is not clear what textual factors drive the increase in fixation time for texts 1 and 2 compared with the other two texts, but the explanation seems to lie outside any differences in the metaphors found in the individual text. A possible explanation could be familiarity with the topic of the text, which the participants were not asked about, however, in the subsequent interview. Of course, there is also the possible explanation that the topics and terminology of texts 1 and 2 could be said to be slightly more technical than texts 3 and 4 and that the reason for the differences between the texts should be found there although the Flesch reading ease index scores (see section 4.4) indicated that the texts were at comparable technical difficulty levels.

It is interesting to note, however, that texts 1 and 2 contained approximately half the number of metaphor AOIs compared with texts 3 and 4.⁴⁰ It could be speculated that the higher number of metaphors in texts 3 and 4 is part of the reason for the lesser cognitive effort, which would seem to be required for the comprehension of these two texts as a whole compared with texts 1 and 2.

⁴⁰ Text 1: 7 metaphor AOIs, Text 2: 6 metaphor AOIs, Text 3: 11 metaphor AOIs, Text 4: 13 metaphor AOIs

Perhaps metaphors facilitate overall textual coherence and consequently the comprehension process, which would be in continuation of the line of thought of Black (1981) and Koller (2004), who both argued that metaphors serve a purpose other than a decorative one. Perhaps the findings of this thesis confirm the tentative findings of Noveck et al. that metaphors have "the potential to yield benefits" (Noveck et al. 2001: 118, see section 3.1.4), which they found in the form of a slightly higher number of correct responses to questions after a metaphoric reference compared with after a literal reference.

This tentative claim is supported by the significant effect of Task on *First Pass Fixation Time* to the effect that, when reading for comprehension only, first pass fixation times were significantly longer for comparison AOIs compared with metaphor AOIs, which would seem to indicate a facilitation effect of the metaphors. This thought receives further support from the significant interaction found between the variables Task and Type in all three eye-tracking analyses. This significant interaction means that the effect of metaphor was different depending on whether the task was reading for comprehension or reading for translation. Furthermore, the effect of Task was different depending on whether Type was Metaphor or Comparison. The values were lower, i.e. faster, for the reading for comprehension task compared with the values for reading for translation, but even more so when Type was metaphor. In other words, there is some indication that metaphors facilitate comprehension, but not translation.

This finding also shows the scope of empirical translation process research, which may also contribute to a broader aspect of metaphor research. As previously mentioned, there is a broad portfolio of psycholinguistic research on monolingual metaphor comprehension, but the range of empirical research in metaphor translation, and in particular in metaphor translation process research, has been relatively limited so far. It is hoped that the findings of this thesis may help bridge the gap.

The eye-tracking data did reveal some surprising findings regarding the differences in reading patterns depending on the task. As expected, Analysis 1 revealed longer total fixation times for reading for translation compared with reading for comprehension (and retyping). This correlated well with the findings of Analysis 2, confirming a far higher number of fixations in the translation task. What is more interesting is that the difference in *Total Fixation Time* appears to come only from the difference in number of fixations and not also from longer fixation durations

or first pass durations as these were in fact significantly shorter for the translation task. However, this finding fits well with the observations by Hvelplund (2011) that the translation process should perhaps not be viewed as either strictly sequential or parallel but rather as a hybrid form, consisting of rapid shifts, which are too short for processing to be concluded as the sequential processing model would suggest while the high number of fixations seems to run counter to a strictly parallel processing model. These rapid changes were assumed to be a result of the need for monitoring own output in the TT. These assumptions require further investigation but are offered here as a possible explanation for seemingly contradictory data.

Analysis 1.1 represented a more finely granulated investigation of the metaphor comprehension process in a translation task. Here, the focus of the analysis was not a comparison between metaphors and literal expressions but between metaphor and metaphor. This allowed for additional independent variables to be introduced into the statistical model, which applied solely to the metaphor AOIs. These independent variables were metaphor familiarity and translation strategy. However, contrary to expectations, none of the new independent variables showed any significant effect on the dependent variable, which was the same as in Analysis 1, *Total Fixation Time*.

It was assumed that familiarity would be a better indicator of processing difficulty than conventionality. Although conventionality is often discussed in relation to metaphor research, very often the concept is not defined formally or operationalised. Familiarity was also expected to have the further advantage as being a more subjective indicator and therefore perhaps more likely to show an effect because the measure was more specifically designed for this particular group of participants with their particular professional background. However, there was no significant effect from the variable Familiarity, which is counter to the findings of Gentili et al. (2008), who found significant differences in the processing of familiar versus non-familiar metaphors. Perhaps the lack of significant effect of metaphor familiarity is indirect support of Giora's (1997) graded salience hypothesis, arguing that it is an expression's salience rather than frequency, familiarity or metaphoricity, which determines the cognitive effort required for comprehension.

There are, however, also other reasons which should be considered as explanations for the lack of significant effect from the variable Familiarity.

First of all, the metaphors were all rated out of context, i.e., they were presented within the sentence but without the supporting context of the entire text or paragraph. This was done to be able to randomise the order in which the evaluators rated the metaphors as there was expected to be a risk that metaphors presented later in the rating sequence could receive higher ratings because of a priming or warm-up effect. However, this does present the problem that the raters were presented with the metaphors in a different manner than the participants and without the context in which the participants read and translated the metaphors. The procedure for the familiarity rating conflicts with the priority of ecological validity as one of the key arguments for using authentic texts in the experiment was to enable presentation of the metaphors within context. However, it was a matter of choosing the lesser of two evils as the concern for the lack of context was outweighed by the priority of randomisation.

It could be speculated that the reason for the lack of effect from the mean familiarity rating on the dependent variable is that it is not possible to give a realistic evaluation of a person's familiarity with a metaphor when reading the metaphor out of context. And as the context of a metaphor will almost certainly be unique each time, the experience of familiarity with a metaphor may in fact be influenced by the similarity of the contexts in which the metaphor appeared. For this reason, it is possible that the mean familiarity rating of the metaphors without context cannot be assumed to be comparable to the participant's experience of familiarity with the metaphors in context. On the other hand, Blasko and Connine argued that not only direct experience with a metaphor but also "less direct experience with a class of metaphors may serve to clarify the intended meaning so that later comprehension is facilitated" (Blasko and Connine 1993: 305). Following Blasko and Connine's argument, it would not be necessary for the rater (and the participant) to have encountered the exact same metaphor in the same specific context in order to experience some level of familiarity with the metaphor.

Secondly and perhaps more importantly, the familiarity ratings were not done by the participants themselves as it was not deemed desirable to present the participants with the metaphors before the retyping and translation tasks. This was assumed to have resulted in some form of warm-up effect, and after the retyping and translation tasks, the familiarity ratings would have been likely to have been influenced by the participants' recent exposure to the texts.

A third explanation is that the effect of familiarity was obscured by the even larger effect of the cognitive effort required for L2 metaphor comprehension and translation. In other words, measures which are found to have an effect in monolingual metaphor studies may not necessarily be equally relevant in L2 metaphor studies.

Another variable which showed no significant effect in Analysis 1.1 was Translation Strategy. If ST gaze data primarily reveals information about comprehension and not production, this might explain why there was no significant effect from the three individual translation strategy variables (M-M, M1-M2, M-P) in interaction with the dependent variable. It would also explain why there were no significant differences between the individual strategies. However, this latter lack of effect could also be caused by too few data points in the statistical analysis as the translation strategy M-M was by far the dominant one.

Of course, the lack of any significant effect from the translation strategies could also be because professional translators do not spend more cognitive effort on choosing and working with a specific translation strategy, as part of their translation expertise consists of strong problem-solving capabilities, which is developed and strengthened throughout their work life (Shreve 2006: 32).

Although all participants in the current experiment were professional translators, the participants' translation expertise and general problem-solving skills were not evaluated. The random factor Participant revealed strong individual differences, but it was not investigated whether there was any correlation between the amount of cognitive effort invested by the participant and years of experience, translation quality or field of expertise. In future experiments, it would be relevant to investigate the participants' background in further detail and include this as a variable in the analysis. A short qualitative analysis of some of the different choices made by the participants is presented in section 7.2.

There is also the possibility that the participants did not make any deliberate choice of translation strategy but instead just used the first translation idea that came into their minds, which in most cases seemed to be the direct transfer strategy (M-M). Although the experiment was designed to simulate an authentic translation assignment to the widest extent possible, there were limitations. The participants were not paid for their translation services, and no translation

aids were available, which seemed to be the difference from an authentic assignment that the participants felt the most. The brief instructed the participants on the intended target audience for the text in order to promote strategic decision-making from the participants but it is obvious that the experimental setting did not allow for a realistic translation process to be fully replicated.

To summarise, the results of the analyses of the eye-tracking data indicated that the answer to Research Question One is not an unequivocal answer. *First Pass Fixation Time* had significantly higher values for the metaphor AOIs compared with the literal comparison AOIs, indicating an increase in cognitive effort when reading for translation purposes. However, the more comprehensive measure, *Total Fixation Time*, did not show any significant effect of Type in the analysis, although in absolute values, total fixation times were longer for metaphor AOIs compared with literal AOIs. It may be speculated that *First Pass Fixation Time* is a more sensitive measure that *Total Fixation Time*, reflecting early semantic processing, which would account for the different results, but the findings of Analysis 2, *Total Fixation Number*, were in overall concurrence with the findings of Analysis 1, which was not surprising as Analysis 2 was regarded as a supplementary analysis to Analysis 1.

The conclusion to be made on the basis of analyses 1-3 is that metaphors may be more unexpected than non-metaphors, as reflected in the longer first pass fixation times, but the effect of the unexpectedness disappears when looking at a more comprehensive measure such as *Total Fixation Time*.

The eye-tracking analyses mainly investigated the comprehension process as the data was only collected from eye movements in the STs, and the following section will therefore focus on the production process as analysed through key-logging data.

Chapter 6 Key-logging Results: a Quantitative Analysis

Chapter 5 on the analysis of the eye-tracking data showed a significant difference in only one of the measures between the metaphor and literal AOIs, namely *First Pass Fixation Time*. The other eye-tracking measures showed no significant effect of Type.

This section will report on the key-logging analysis, Analysis 4 and Analysis 4.1, which were done with the data collected with Translog. The underlying assumption was that, overall, cognitive effort related to the production of the TT metaphors would be present when attention was allocated to the TT, i.e., during typing, whereas cognitive effort related to comprehension of the ST metaphors would be present when attention was allocated to the ST, i.e., during reading of the ST.

Although the eye-tracking analysis reported in chapter 5 and the key-logging analysis reported here in chapter 6 are not directly comparable for a number of reasons, which will be discussed in more detail below, the two analyses combined offer an in-depth and comprehensive overview of where cognitive effort is invested in the process of metaphor translation. As stated in section 4.6, the statistical model used for analysis of the key-logging data was constructed following the same principles as applied in the statistical model for the eye-tracking data. Again, an LMER model was fitted, and the independent variables were introduced individually and removed again if they showed no statistical significance. This provided a clearer picture of the effect of the individual variable. Identical to the procedure used in the eye-tracking analyses, the more control-oriented variables were introduced first with the more research question-driven variable introduced last (also in this case the variable Type with the levels Metaphor and Comparison). Again, the variables central to the research questions were not removed if non-significant in order to allow for discussion of the results relevant to the research questions.

The findings from Analysis 4 cannot be directly correlated with the findings from the eyetracking analyses because the two types of analyses concerned two different stages of the translation process, i.e., production and comprehension. Another reason for the lack of comparability was that the data for the eye-tracking analyses were extracted on a uniform basis as the AOIs were identical for all participants and only fixations within the AOIs were included. The data for the key-logging analysis had to be extracted on a case-by-case basis as the participants naturally did not all choose identical translations for the ST AOIs. It was therefore necessary to identify the boundaries of the TT AOI equivalents individually for each text by each participant.

In some cases, this was made more difficult by issues such as different constituent order in English and Danish, which was not taken into account in the selection of the texts and the AOIs. In a few cases, this resulted in TT words not linked to the ST AOI occurring between constituents in the TT AOI equivalent. To exemplify this, AOI ID 25 in Text 4 was the metaphor "donned their white coats".⁴¹ In Danish, when the main clause is preceded by another constituent such as an adverbial or subordinate clause, as was the case here, the finite verb precedes the subject (Jensen et al. 2009: 320) thus *"donned the central bank's senior consultants their white coats". As the subject was not included in the ST AOI, it would either be necessary to include more than was in the ST AOI or to exclude the finite verb from the TT AOI equivalent, which was the preferred procedure. The difference in word order led to this specific TT AOI equivalent to include fewer constituents than in the original ST AOI as it was deemed better not to include the subject in the TT AOI equivalent because of the relatively complex compound expression it consisted of. It was not investigated if the missing finite verb had any effect on the final results but as this was only one AOI equivalent in one text, it was assumed to not skew the results. However, it is an example of the complexities of mapping ST AOIs to TT AOI equivalents with some degree of accuracy and conformity across participants.

Another issue concerning the identification of the TT AOI equivalents was the instances in which the participant had chosen to paraphrase the metaphor. This often made it quite difficult to identify the boundaries of the TT AOI equivalent and, in some instances, meant that it was deemed more prudent not to include the TT AOI equivalent in the data set. This was done in instances where it was not possible to determine the boundaries with a satisfactory level of certainty. Although those instances were few, they added another concern about the conformity with which the boundaries of the TT AOI equivalents were identified as it was a priority to keep

⁴¹ The full sentence read "As the economic downturn became a full-blown collapse late last year, the central bank's senior consultants donned their white coats and got to work" (see appendix 1).

the data selection criteria as objective and uniform as possible to keep the level of comparability to the eye-tracking analyses as high as possible. This issue could be avoided in a follow-up study with sentence-based AOIs comparing sentences with or without metaphors.

6.1 Analysis 4: Production of Metaphor versus Non-metaphor in Translation – Production Time

The assumptions behind the independent variables and their characteristics have been described in depth in the methodology section (section 4.6) and the following will describe the effect, if any, the independent variables had on the dependent variable of *Production Time*. As described in more detail in section 4.6.3, *Production Time* is a temporal value expressed in milliseconds, which extends from the time immediately after the final keystroke in the word preceding the first word in the TT AOI equivalent until immediately after the final keystroke in the TT AOI. By including any time before actual production of the TT AOI equivalent is initiated, the measure also included any pauses which may occur before production and which could be interpreted as a sign of increased cognitive effort. Production was assumed to have been initiated mentally before actual physical manifestation of the translation was produced through typing events. Therefore, any preceding pauses (as included in *Production Time*) were assumed to be related to the mental production of the following translation unit.⁴²

By investigating the effect on *Production Time* of the more comprehensive temporary character count rather than the character count of the final TT AOI equivalents, the analysis took a more process-oriented approach by using a measure of characters typed during the process rather than a measure of characters in the final product. The independent variables Domain, Unigram Frequency, Trigram Probability, and Type related to the STs whereas the rest of the independent variables concerned the TTs. Character Count, for example, could also have been a count of characters in the ST AOIs, to take into account any difference in elaboration considered necessary for the metaphor TT AOI equivalents compared with the comparison TT AOI equivalents. However, a character count reflective of the process of producing the TT AOI equivalents was deemed to be more relevant to the investigation of *Production Time* and to the amount of cognitive effort involved in the production process.

⁴² The absolute values grouped by participant and text can be seen in Appendix 10.

The following will outline the main results from Analysis 4. Although some of the independent variables were left out of the final version of the statistical analysis because of lack of significant effect, they are still discussed here because it was decided that a lack of significant effect could be as interesting or surprising as a significant effect.

	Estimate	MCMC	HPD95	HPD95	p-value
		mean	lower	upper	
(Intercept)	6.9536	6.9410	6.7886	7.1019	0.0001
Character	0.0772	0.0784	0.0689	0.0875	0.0001
Count					
Туре	0.1814	0.1779	0.0227	0.3251	0.0198
(Metaphor)					

Table 17: Summary of the linear regression model for Production Time

Metaphor effect

As can be seen from the right-hand column of Table 17, there was a significant effect of Type on *Production Time*. In other words, the participants took longer to produce the translation of the ST metaphor AOIs than the comparison AOIs. Following Schilperoord (1996) and Immonen (2006), slower production speed can be indication of a more cognitively effortful translation unit, which means that the answer to Research Question Two is that, based on the key-logging data reported here, metaphors have been found to be more cognitively effortful to translate than literal expressions.



Figure 21: Production Times for comparison and metaphor AOIs in the TTs

This difference is illustrated in Figure 21, which shows that the translation of comparisons AOIs have a total production time of around 2200 ms compared with production times around 2700 ms for translation of the metaphor AOIs, a temporal difference which has been shown to be significant.

This finding offers an important contribution to earlier non-empirical research on metaphor translation and lends support to the claim that metaphor does present a particular problem in translation (see e.g. Dagut 1987), as the increase in production time for the metaphor AOIs is interpreted to mean that the translation of these metaphors was more cognitively effortful than the translation of the non-metaphorical AOIs. Conversely, the results do not support the claim put forth by Mason (1982) that the problems of metaphor translation are not specific of metaphors, but rather of translation in general, as the metaphor AOIs reported here were compared with non-metaphor AOIs from the same texts. Following Shreve and Diamond (Shreve and Diamond 1997, see section 3.2.2), it would seem that activation of the mental representations of the L2 metaphor and the corresponding (or lack thereof) L1 metaphor is more

cognitively demanding than activation of mental representations of literal expressions in the L2 lexicon and the L1 lexicon.

The results of Analysis 4 are supported by the findings of Analysis 3 in which first pass fixation times were significantly longer for the metaphor AOIs in the STs. The fact that both the eye-tracking and key-logging data show a significant effect of metaphor, but only when the task is for translation and not only comprehension,⁴³ indicates that it is the transfer from L2 into L1 that poses the most cognitively demanding task rather than the comprehension of the metaphor by itself.

Significant control variables

There was a strong and significant effect of Character Count on *Production Time* as illustrated in Figure 22.



⁴³ Or put more precisely for the eye-tracking data, when reading for translation purposes compared with reading for comprehension.

Figure 22: The partial effect of Character Count on *Production Time*. Please note the different scale on the y-axis compared with the other figures because of the stronger effect of Character Count.

In other words, the number of characters needed to produce a translation equivalent of the ST AOI, including typos and mid-production change of words, affected the time it took to produce the final result. This effect was as expected and indicated that Character Count was an essential independent variable comparable to the independent variable AOI Length in the eye-tracking analyses.

Non-significant control variables

The independent variable Postedit with the levels Yes and No investigated whether the fact that a number of the TT AOI equivalents were postedited had an effect on *Production Time*. There was no significant effect of this variable (p-value > 0.05), which was in line with expectations. This expectation of no effect was based on the low number of translations which were in fact postedited as well as the observation that the postediting mainly resulted in very minor changes to the original translations. This indicates that the postediting was not caused by a need for major changes in unsatisfactory original translations.

The variable Sentence End (levels Yes/No) investigated whether there was an effect on *Production Time* from the translation units' sentence-final position. This assumption was based on findings from eye-tracking indicating some form of wrap-up or revision effect when reading words located at the end of sentences. This wrap-up effect was assumed to be equally likely in both a production task and a comprehension task. Also, the findings from Schilperoord (1996) and Immonen (2006) on pause frequency and duration suggest that pauses are more likely to occur and to be of a longer duration at sentence breaks than at mid-sentence. However, contrary to expectations, there was no significant effect of a sentence-final position on *Production Time* (p-value > 0.05).

The variable Sentence Initial (levels Yes/No) was identical to the variable Sentence End apart from the difference that this variable investigated if there was any effect of the TT AOI equivalents being located at a sentence-initial position. The findings from Schilperoord (1996), Dragsted (2004), and Immonen (2006) on the frequency and duration of pauses varying according to lexical and syntactic level were assumed to apply equally to sentence-initial and sentence-final positions in the experiment reported here. Furthermore, it was hypothesised that some form of orientation may occur when production of a new sentence is initiated, and it was assumed that this would have an effect on the amount of cognitive effort required to produce the initial words in a sentence, resulting in longer *Production Time* for words at this position. However, this was not the case in this experiment as there was no significant effect from a sentence-initial position on *Production Time* (p-value > 0.05).

The frequency values of the word(s) in the ST AOIs had no significant effect (p-value > 0.05) on the dependent variable *Production Time*. This was not entirely surprising as the word frequency values applied to the ST AOIs, and the words chosen by the translator for the TT AOI equivalents were retrieved from the translator's mental lexicon as no translation aids were available. In other words, the translator would have to be familiar with the words she chose for the translation.

The results were a little less clear-cut for the independent variable Trigram Probability. The variable had a significant effect on *Production Time* and was therefore included in the statistical analysis. However, once Type was included as an independent variable as well, the effect of Trigram Probability became non-significant (p-value > 0.05). The results from the eye-tracking Analysis 1 showed a significant effect from Trigram Probability and showed that the metaphor AOIs had lower probability values than the comparison AOIs, and the results from the key-logging analysis seem to indicate that the effect from this difference is carried over into the production in the TT.

Contrary to expectations, there was no significant effect of Domain on *Production Time* (p-value > 0.05). The expectation was that metaphors stemming from the same semantic domain would require less cognitive effort to translate than metaphors from mixed domains as a result of facilitation or automaticity following Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit (1991, see section 3.2.3). The priming effect expected in the eye-tracking analysis investigating cognitive effort in comprehension was assumed to be stronger in production, as development of translation automaticity was expected. This assumption was based on the arguments of Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit that earlier stylistic decisions would to some extent automatise later stylistic
choices (Jäaskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit 1991: 98ff). However, this assumption was not confirmed by the key-logging data.

6.1.2 Summary

The following table provides an overview of Analysis 4. The variables are listed in the same order in which they have been discussed in this section with any variables showing a significant effect (p < 0.05) marked in a darker shade of grey. As the table shows, the data indicated that metaphors are more cognitively effortful to translate than literal expressions according to the measure *Production Time*.

Variable name	p-value
Character Count	< 0.05
Postedit	> 0.05
Sentence Final	> 0.05
Sentence Initial	> 0.05
Unigram Frequency	> 0.05
Trigram Probability	> 0.05
Domain	> 0.05
Туре	< 0.05

Table 18: Summary of independent variables in Analysis 4.

6.2 Analysis 4.1 – Production of Metaphor in Translation – Production Time

As with Analysis 1.1, this analysis investigated a subset of the key-logging data in which only the metaphor AOI equivalents in the TTs were analysed. This allowed for a more finely granulated analysis in which the effects of metaphor familiarity and translation strategy on the cognitive effort invested in the translation task could be analysed. The measure of cognitive effort was the same as that used in Analysis 4, i.e., *Production Time*.

Analysis 1.1 investigated the effects of metaphor familiarity and translation strategies on the comprehension process and found no significant effect of either metaphor familiarity or translation strategy. The direct translation strategy M-M was not found to be less cognitively effortful in the comprehension process than the indirect translation strategies M-P and M1-M2. However, it was speculated that any potential effects would be more likely to be found in an analysis of production data rather than comprehension data, and Analysis 4.1 investigated the cognitive effort invested in the production process. The control-oriented independent variables included in Analysis 4 were also investigated in Analysis 4.1 with the addition of the variables Metaphor Familiarity and Translation Strategy.

In the following, focus will be on a discussion of the effects from Metaphor Familiarity and Translation Strategy, which are unique to Analysis 4.1 compared with Analysis 4. The results of the independent variables repeated in Analysis 4.1 were in line with the findings from Analysis 4, i.e., no significant effect with the exception of Character Count and Trigram Probability, and will therefore not be discussed in detail again.

The translation strategy M-M, i.e. a direct transfer of the ST metaphorical image, was by far the preferred translation strategy (217 M-M compared with 55 M-P and 44 M1-M2),⁴⁴ which is in line with Wikberg's findings that "innovative metaphors" were mainly translated with the equivalent metaphorical image (Wikberg 2004: 248), and this translation strategy was therefore chosen as the basis of comparison or reference level against which the effect of the other two

⁴⁴ These numbers differ slightly from the numbers used in Analysis 1.1, as a few of the target text metaphor translations were found to have been categorized inaccurately in Analysis 1.1 upon closer inspection. The changes were minor and had no effect on the results of Analysis 1.1.

translation strategies was investigated. Any significant difference in *Production Time* for the other two translation strategies was therefore a difference compared with translation strategy M-M, which was also assumed to be the less cognitively effortful translation strategy, as it involved a direct transfer of the metaphorical ST image.

	Estimate	MCMC	HPD95	HPD95	p-value
		mean	lower	upper	
Intercept	7.2415	7.2084	6.9565	7.4710	0.0001
Character Count	0.0698	0.0712	0.0628	0.0790	0.0001
Trigram	0.0129	0.0116	-0.0332	0.0568	0.6048
Probability					
Translation	0.0816	0.0976	-0.0578	0.2490	0.2132
Strategy M-P					
Translation	0.1639	0.1900	0.0214	0.3661	0.0308
Strategy M1-M2					

Table 19: Summary of the linear regression model for Production Time for Analysis 4.1

The effect of translation strategy

The translation strategy M1-M2, i.e. reproducing the ST metaphorical image with a new metaphorical image in the TT, was the least frequently used translation strategy (only 44 instances compared with 217 M-M instances across all participants and texts)⁴⁵ and research question Four asked whether this strategy would be more cognitively effortful than the direct translation strategy M-M, which was the reference level in the statistical model. Based on the findings of Analysis 4.1, the answer to research question Four is yes, as the analysis showed a significant effect of translation strategy M1-M2 with a positive Estimate, indicating slower production times for this strategy compared with production times for the M-M translation strategy (the reference level). This significant effect is illustrated in Figure 23.

⁴⁵ Because of the disparity in distribution of the three translation strategies, it was found that the absolute values would not be illustrative for which reason they have not been included in an appendix.



Figure 23: Partial effect of Translation Strategy on Production Time

This result would seem to confirm Dagut's claim that metaphor translation is most challenging when a TT equivalent cannot be found to the ST metaphorical image (Dagut 1987: 78). A possible explanation for this result could be that the M1-M2 strategy not only includes the processes of recognition of the ST metaphor and search for an appropriate equivalent in the TT, as do all three translation strategies; it also includes the extra element of having to discard the ST metaphor image, which is also the case in the process of using the M-P strategy. Most importantly, the strategy M1-M2 includes the element of having to produce a new metaphorical image, assumed to be drawn either from a mental lexicon in which the TT metaphor image was stored or produced from scratch. Even though the two language cultures English and Danish may share some cognitive grounding, the linguistic metaphors used to express meaning can still be different as also illustrated by Trim (2007) (see Figure 1 in section 3.1.2). The search for the TT equivalent and production of the new image has been shown in Analysis 4.1 to be more cognitively effortful than a direct transfer of the metaphorical image. The increase in cognitive effort as indicated by the longer *Production Time* was assumed to be a result of the duality of this translation strategy.

Unfortunately, we do not know the reasoning behind the participants' choice of translation strategy or if the choice of the M1-M2 translation strategy was because a TT equivalent could not be found. It is therefore not possible to claim with any certainty that Dagut's claim is confirmed, nor whether the metaphors translated with M1-M2 did in fact have a lower level of translatability because of their cultural specificity (cf. Trim 2007 in section 3.2.4.1). It is also not possible to verify if the choice of the M1-M2 translation strategy was a result of a more sense-oriented translation approach, an approach characteristic of professional translators according to Lörscher (Lörscher 1992, see section 3.2). In other words, within the experimental design reported here, it is not possible to verify if the translation choices were made as a result of strategic decision-making or simply ad-hoc decisions, a difficulty in translation research also pointed out by Schäffner (Schäffner 2005, see also section 3.2).

In some cases, it seemed as if the participant had searched for a metaphor in the target language with which she was familiar and then applied it to the translation even if it was not directly comparable to the ST metaphor. An example of this was participant 12's translation of AOI ID 36 in Text 2, *"fallen off a cliff"*, which was translated with the new metaphorical image *"collapsed"* (author's translation), which could perhaps be argued to be less dramatic and at least more conventional and therefore likely to be more familiar to the participant, perhaps leading her to regard this as a safer choice. However, AOI ID 36, *"fallen off a cliff"*, did receive a relatively high mean familiarity rating of 5 (7 indicates the highest familiarity), which would seem to be counter to this assumption and could perhaps raise doubt about the suitability of familiarity as an independent variable. Perhaps, the preference for *"collapsed"* was rather a matter of aptness or perhaps metaphorical strength with the participant preferring a metaphor translation, which could perhaps be said to be more conservative than the ST metaphor – a tendency which was seen repeatedly across participants (discussed in more detail in section 7.2).

It remains unclear if the M1-M2 translation strategy was the least used translation strategy because it was more effortful or because the participants only used this strategy in cases where they were less certain of the optimal translation, which is perhaps the more likely explanation. Following Wilss (2001), the participants may have been aware that the ST metaphor was not equally suitable in the TT but did not have the necessary problem-solving skills to find the optimal translation. This could perhaps explain why a few of the M1-M2 translation

choices could be argued to be less apt than the ST metaphors. Another possibility is that the ST metaphor was deemed to have less language-specific salience in the TT, following Trim's (2007) terminology, or that the ST metaphor was less salient in more general terms in the target language, following Giora's (1997) terminology.

The exchange of the ST metaphorical image with a different TT metaphorical image can reasonably be argued to be the least direct of all three translation strategies, and it is possible to speculate that the participants had compelling reasons to choose this strategy over a direct transfer or paraphrase.⁴⁶ Such reasons could perhaps be unfamiliarity with the ST metaphor or deeming it unsuited for the target language and culture but still wishing to keep the expression metaphorical. It would be relevant to replicate this study, but with a far more comprehensive and in-depth retrospective interview of the participants.

There was no statistically significant effect of the M-P translation strategy on *Production Time*, although there was an absolute difference in production time compared with the M-M translation strategy as shown in Figure 23. In other words, it must be concluded that the indirect translation strategy of paraphrasing was not significantly more cognitively effortful than a direct translation strategy (M-M). Research question Three asked whether the choice to paraphrase the ST metaphor into a literal expression in the TT would be more cognitively effortful than a direct transfer of the ST metaphor image into a TT metaphor with the same image, as evidenced by an increase in *Production Time*. An example of such a paraphrase was the translation of AOI ID 6 in Text 3, "*The path from the altar is strewn*", which participant 3 paraphrased into "*There are plenty of examples*" (author's translation). Another example is participant 4's paraphrase of AOI ID "*[to] wed*" into "*[to] merge*" (author's translation).

The findings of analyses 1.1 and 4.1 lead to the same conclusion, namely that the indirect translation strategy M-P is not more cognitively effortful than a direct translation strategy (M-M) in either the comprehension or the production stage.

⁴⁶ An analysis was also carried out comparing the direct M-M against the two indirect strategies M-P and M1-M2 combined, but no significant difference was found in this comparison of direct versus indirect translation strategies.

Significant control variables

The only control variable which showed any significant effect was Character count, which was in line with the findings of Analysis 4 and is non-controversial. This finding will not be discussed any further.

Non-significant control variables

There was also no significant effect of Metaphor Familiarity (p-value > 0.05), as in Analysis 1.1, which could be an indication that the effect of metaphor familiarity found in monolingual metaphor research does not always apply to L2 metaphor comprehension where other more cognitively effortful factors may take over, such as the effort of L2 comprehension and transfer to L1 when reading for translation. Another possibility is that, by having the experimental metaphors rated by others than the participants themselves, the results were skewed and not reflective of the participant group's familiarity with the metaphors.

Following the views of Mason (1982) and Nida (2001), the lack of significant effect of Metaphor Familiarity may also be due to problems with generalising about metaphor translation as each occurrence of metaphor translation is unique and cannot be generalised. In other words, an objective familiarity rating will have less effect than the particular circumstances surrounding each particular instance of metaphor translation (see section 3.2.4.2). However, this speculation cannot be directly confirmed by the data and therefore remains speculation.

Also in line with the findings of Analysis 4 was the lack of significant effect of Trigram Probability, which was not surprising as these values relate to the ST words.

6.2.1 Summary

Analysis 4.1 showed a significant effect of the independent variable Translation Strategy M1-M2. The results indicated that there was a significant difference between the reference level of translation strategy M-M and the M1-M2 translation strategy, resulting in longer production times for the M1-M2 translations. This significant effect was regarded as indication that replacing the ST metaphorical image with a new TT metaphorical image was more cognitively effortful than a direct transfer of the ST metaphor or a literal paraphrase. A possible explanation for the increased cognitive effort could be the task of finding a more salient metaphorical image in the target language if the participant deemed the ST metaphorical image to be less salient in the target language.

6.3 Discussion of Key-logging Results

The majority of process-oriented metaphor research has focused on the cognitive processes involved in monolingual metaphor comprehension and production. Research on metaphor translation has been of a more didactic nature and less empirically oriented than the experiment reported in this thesis. The purpose of the triangulation of data was to ensure a more complete picture of the cognitive effort invested in metaphor comprehension and production from a translation perspective. The conclusion drawn on the basis of the eye-tracking analyses was ambiguous as *First Pass Fixation Time* indicated a significant effect of Type (metaphor versus non-metaphor) whereas *Total Fixation Time* did not. In the following, the results of the key-logging results, as summarised in Table 20, will be discussed and parallels will be drawn to the eye-tracking analyses where relevant.

Table 20: Summary of analyses 4 and 4.1: key-logging data (the effects of translation strategy and metaphor familiarity were only investigated in Analysis 4.1)

Variable name	Production	Production
	Time (4)	<i>Time (4.1)</i>
Character Count	Х	X
Trigram		Х
Probability		
Sentence Initial		
Position		
Sentence Final		
Position		
Translation	NA	
Strategy M-P		
Translation	NA	Х
Strategy M1-M2		
Metaphor	NA	
Familiarity		
Туре	Х	NA

Whereas the eye-tracking analyses investigated cognitive effort in L2 metaphor comprehension mainly, the key-logging analysis investigated cognitive effort in L2 metaphor translation into L1. The translation process was not regarded as made up of distinct and separate stages of comprehension and production but rather as a flow of overlapping sequences, in which either comprehension or production was the main activity. The production of the TT was therefore regarded as a result of cognitive effort invested in this production process and, parallel to fixation time as a measure of cognitive effort in comprehension, production time was regarded as indicative of cognitive effort in production.

The conclusion to be drawn on the basis of Analysis 4 is that metaphors are in fact more cognitively effortful to produce as indicated by the longer production times. As this claim is made on a direct comparison of metaphors and literal expressions occurring in the same texts, it would also seem to refute Mason's claim that metaphor represents the same potential translation problem as any other translation unit (Mason 1982, see section 3.2.4.2). Rather, this study offers empirical evidence in support of the claims of Dagut (1987) and Newmark (1988) that metaphor is a particularly challenging problem in the field of translation.

In order to ensure some level of comparability with the eye-tracking analyses, the statistical model used for analysis of the key-logging data involved some of the same independent variables. Experience both from eye-tracking research and research by Schilperoord, Dragsted, and Immonen suggested that the position of the words in the TT could have an influence on the frequency and duration of pauses, which would consequently have an effect on the production time, as this measure was a combined value of preceding pauses and typing speed. The statistical analysis therefore investigated the effect of final and initial positions on the production time, but no significant effect from these independent variables was found. It might be questioned whether this lack of effect was because these positions truly did not have any effect on production time or whether it was because the number of data points was insufficient to achieve an accurate analysis of the effect. This question could perhaps be answered by a follow-up study in which the focus would be to investigate any potential differences in cognitive effort related to the translation units' position in the sentences and text as well as any effect from having entire sentences as AOIs.

As the independent variable Trigram Probability was found to have a significant effect in Analysis 1 of the eye-tracking data, it was considered necessary to include this variable in the key-logging analysis as well. Any correlation between the word-in-context probability value and *Production Time* was expected to be less direct than the correlation found in Analysis 1 as the trigram values were for the AOIs in the ST and the *Production Time* was measured for the TT AOI equivalents produced in the target language. This expectation was confirmed by the lack of significant effect of *Trigram Probability* on Production Time in Analysis 4.

The subanalysis 4.1 was comparable to Analysis 1.1 in that it was a comparison of metaphor versus metaphor. In other words, Analysis 4.1 investigated the potential effect of Metaphor Familiarity and Translation Strategy on the cognitive effort invested in metaphor translation as manifested as differences in *Production Time*. The analysis shared the same dependent variable and several independent variables as Analysis 4, which were therefore not discussed again. The new elements were Metaphor Familiarity and Translation Strategy.

It was assumed that the more familiar metaphors would mean faster production times, because the metaphor had been processed before on previous occasions, leading to stronger networks or mappings between the stored expressions in the L1 and L2 lexicons. However, there was no significant effect of metaphor familiarity on *Production Time*, as was also the case in Analysis 1.1, and perhaps the ratings were not reflective of the participant group's familiarity with the metaphors as the ratings were done by a separate group of raters with the same professional background as the participants. Another possibility is that familiarity was less relevant to the level of cognitive effort required compared with other factors such as salience, which was argued by Giora (1997) to be a stronger predictor of cognitive effort than familiarity or compared to the effect of L2 processing and translation.

The second element of Analysis 4.1 was an investigation of the effect of translation strategy on *Production Time*, as it was speculated whether a direct transfer of the metaphorical image (M-M) would be less cognitively effortful than an indirect translation strategy (M-P or M1-M2). The analysis found that there was a significant effect of translation strategy M1-M2 resulting in slower production times compared with translation strategy M-M, which was used as the reference level as this direct translation strategy was about four times as frequent as the indirect translation strategies, a finding in line with earlier findings by Wikberg (Wikberg 2004). It was

speculated that the duality of the M1-M2 strategy, i.e., not only processing and discarding the ST image but also producing a new TT image, was the cause of the increase in cognitive effort.

The M1-M2 translation strategy was the least preferred of all three translation strategies with only 44 instances, and a few of the translations produced with this strategy suggested that the M1-M2 strategy was preferred for the translation of ST metaphors, which the participant felt contained a too strong metaphorical image or that a more conventional or familiar metaphor was more suited for the TT. It remains unclear whether the increase in *Production Time* was because the participant was having trouble deciding on a translation strategy before choosing M1-M2 or because it simply takes longer to choose a new metaphorical image. Perhaps the explanation is a hybrid: that the participant found it difficult to determine the suitability of the ST metaphor image in the TT, but still wished to keep a metaphorical image to keep the stylistic element of the ST in the translation. The participant therefore decided to produce a new metaphorical image in the TT. Although outside the scope of this thesis, it would be interesting to do a later qualitative analysis of the translation quality of the M1-M2 translations in terms of aptness and target language suitability and compare these values with those of the original ST images to investigate if the increased cognitive effort resulted in better translations more suited for the target language than the original metaphors. It is possible to speculate that the translator chose to discard the original ST metaphor image because it was found to be less salient in the target language following Trim (2007) and Giora (1997) and that the translator deemed a different metaphor image to be more salient in the target language while expressing the same concept as the original ST metaphor.

Chapter 7 Translation Results: a Qualitative Analysis

Whereas the previous section highlighted the benefits of a quantitative analysis with as many objective factors as possible taken into account, this section takes a different perspective. Many translation studies take a qualitative approach by discussing e.g., translation quality and recommended procedures. The current study sought to move away from a purely qualitative study, as it was anticipated that an experimental methodology and data analysis would uncover cognitive mechanisms that are characteristic of the way translators manage metaphor translation. It was not a primary aim to try to connect such mechanisms either with good or bad quality in the translational outcome or in any detailed way to translators' subjective statements about their experience of translating metaphors.

However, qualitative methodology was employed to a limited extent in short retrospective interviews conducted immediately after each task had been completed. The qualitative data elicited in these sessions offers leeway for discussion of details such as why one participant may have preferred one translation strategy over another, based on the participants' subjective responses in the retrospective session.

A full analysis of the translation quality produced by the participants will not be given as this is outside the scope of the thesis. Nor will it be an exhaustive analysis of all the potential qualitative elements available for discussion. The aim of this chapter is to complement the quantitative analyses in chapters 5 and 6 with examples from the participants' output, either in the form of responses or solutions which bring up questions concerning quality potentially connected with cognitive processing.

7.1 Retrospective Interview: Questions and Responses

None of the participants provided elaborate answers to the questions posed to them after completion of each text (for an English translation of the questions posed, see appendix 3). This is very likely due to a flawed methodology rather than a lack of responsiveness on the part of the participants. Although the questions posed were given after each text rather than after completion of all four texts, there were clear indications that the participants did not remember

many details of the text immediately upon completion. This was not only the case with the reading and retyping task but also with the translation tasks, in which the participants must be assumed to have become more immersed in the details of the text in order to be able to produce a translation. The participants all demonstrated that they had understood the texts by producing correct responses to the control questions concerning the topic of the text, e.g., whether or not it was a good or bad time for the credit card industry in the case of text number 1. However, when asked if they remembered any specific terms or phrases which had been particularly difficult to understand or translate, the answer was almost universally no. Of course, as the texts' levels of lexical difficulty were not that high, it may simply be that no particular words had presented any problems. It could be speculated, however, that the participants were simply unable to remember specific lexical items, even when the eye-tracking data showed several prolonged fixations in several instances, fixations as often as not on words outside the AOIs.

One reason for this general perceived lack of experiencing lexical difficulty could either be because the participants were unable to remember any perceived difficulties or perhaps it was because professional translators do in fact focus more on a macro level of a text, as posited by Jääskeläinen and Tirkkonen-Condit (1991), than on a micro level of single lexical units. This speculation may perhaps have been answered more easily if the participants had been exposed to cued retrospection by replaying the eye-tracking recordings and perhaps even the key-logging files to the participant to see if the replay would trigger any recollections. This approach was considered but was eventually rejected because it was time-consuming, and there was a limit to the amount of time one could reasonably expect the participants to contribute. In retrospect, the replaying of the recordings could perhaps have elicited important offline information from the participants on any conscious decisions or perceived difficulties. They may have had a better chance of remembering their thought process when seeing their own production processes replayed. However, there is of course still the possibility that the participants perceived no difficulties and no salient problems, leaving little of interest to report.

Out of 17 participants, 11 commented on the metaphorical images in the retrospective interview following the translation tasks.⁴⁷ These comments could be interpreted as signs of perceived salience or increased effort required for the translation of the metaphorical images, relating to the findings of the quantitative Analysis 4, ProductionTime. Another explanation is that the high number of metaphors in the relatively short texts prompted the participants to take more note of the expressions than they would have if the metaphors had been embedded in longer units of text. As previously mentioned, whereas texts 1 and 2 had only 7 and 6 metaphors respectively, texts 3 and 4 had 11 and 13 respectively. As many of the metaphors were quite colourful and creative, it is perhaps not surprising that the participants noted the expressions enough to remember them in the retrospective interviews. Examples of memorable metaphors include a financial Chernobyl (Text 2) and central bank consultants using a syringe to inject money into the economy (Text 4). With regard to Text 4 on the ailing British economy, one of the participants who happened to have many years of experience in translating financial texts commented on the image of the economy as a patient, which she had recognised as a wellknown metaphor often used and equally appropriate across cultures. Not surprisingly, the participant chose to transfer the metaphorical images directly into the translation using the M-M translation strategy.

This specific participant was probably the most experienced translator with this specific type of text and not representative of the participants as a group. The example with this participant's comments should therefore be taken as illustrative of the span of the participants' level of reflection on their translation and general metaphor competence, where this specific participant could be regarded as being at the top end of an imaginary scale of competence for this translation task. Other participants who voiced no reflections on the metaphors in the retrospective interviews were not necessarily less competent in their translations but perhaps less deliberate in their translation choices.

Another participant with a very different background as she was more specialised in literary translation observed that she found Text 1 difficult to translate because of the many metaphors.

⁴⁷ This number constitutes all instances in which the participant remarked on metaphors, images or idioms in either one or both translation tasks.

She found them difficult to transfer because she regarded economic metaphors to be less appropriate in Danish and therefore chose to use a different image in some instances (M1-M2) and to paraphrase in others (M-P). She felt that the serious tone of the text would otherwise have been affected, indicating a general belief that metaphors are less appropriate in Danish specialised texts. The participant, who also worked as a proof reader, furthermore added that she and her colleagues tended to remove as much as 25 per cent of all metaphors in a Danish translation as Danes tended to react quite strongly to metaphors. It is worth considering that this participant was not specialised in financial texts as the previous participant but in literary translation, which one would initially assume would provide a certain level of metaphor competence as well. Although the two participants were commenting on two different texts, it is still interesting that the participant familiar with economic texts felt that the metaphors were equally appropriate in the target language whereas the other participant felt a need to remove or alter the metaphors. At a glance, both participants seemed to deliver equally satisfactory translations. Perhaps, it is possible to argue that metaphor competence in this case could be regarded as a level of familiarity with and knowledge of metaphor use within a specific domain, in which case the first participant could be regarded as having a higher level of metaphor competence in relation to these specific texts.

The above comments elicited from the retrospective interviews show that although only very few of the participants made any elaborate remarks or comments, it was still possible to gain insight into considerations made by a few participants, which would not be immediately available through the online data collected in the eye-tracking and key-logging files. There is no doubt that cued retrospective interviews would have elicited even more insight into the participants' minds, but there is still enough response material to show the soundness of triangulating offline and online data. The retrospective interviews showed that at least some of the participants recognised the presence of metaphors in the text and considered the appropriate translation strategy for the metaphorical images' translation into the participants' L1. This awareness of the linguistic metaphors could not have been observed directly in the quantitative analyses, which are strengthened by the knowledge that the participants, the cognitive effort invested in the translation process was a result of a deliberate decision-making process.

7.2 The Translations

This section aims to provide a few illustrative examples of some of the more interesting translation choices made by the participants and offer a discussion of the differences in the choices made by the translators.

As analyses 1.1 and 4.1 demonstrated, the majority of the metaphor translations were direct transfers of the metaphorical images in the ST (M-M). It can only be speculated whether the reason for this preference was that the translators evaluated the metaphors to be equally appropriate in the target language and culture or whether they chose the direct transfer approach because they did not consider or were aware of other translation options. Future studies would benefit from having interviews aimed at identifying deliberate translation strategies after the experiment.

Irrespective of the reasons for the majority of M-M translations, it is interesting to have a closer look at the choices made and the solutions produced when the participants chose not to transfer the ST image directly. A few examples of other translation choices will also be discussed. Although it is only possible to speculate on the reasoning behind the participants' choices, highlighting a few of the less obvious translation choices may still add to a more comprehensive depiction of the translator's decision-making process.

It could be claimed that there is a certain tendency in Danish to use less elaborate and perhaps more conventional metaphors than in English. Such a claim is not contradicted by the translations produced by the participants. In the instances of other translation strategies than M-M, there does seem to be a certain tendency towards downplaying the imagery in the ST metaphor slightly. An example of this could be the translation of AOI IDs 28 and 29 in Text 1, in which the whole sentence reads "*The rise in unemployment has spattered a once-profitable business with red ink*" (Appendix 1) (AOI IDs 28 and 29 are marked in bold). It could be speculated that participant 12 felt that this imagery was too elaborate for the Danish audience as she decided on changing the imagery in AOI ID 29 into a partial paraphrase. The direct back-translation of her Danish translation would be "*The increase in the number of unemployed people has stained a once-profitable business with red number of unemployed people has stained a once-profitable business with red results*". Although nothing was

mentioned in the retrospective interview, it would seem that participant 12 decided to downplay the rather forceful, very concrete imagery of the ST metaphors by choosing a verb in AOI ID 28 with a slightly more passive connotation and by paraphrasing AOI ID 29 although keeping the image of red colour. However, by trying to lessen the metaphorical strength of the TT metaphors, the participant ended up with what could be said to be a less than successful result as it is not entirely clear how "*red results*" can stain. Red ink can stain, but red results? The phrase "*red numbers*" is often used in relation to company accounts but not "*red results*", and it could be guessed that the participant's focus was on lessening the metaphorical strength and not so much on finding the appropriate colloquial expression in the target language, or perhaps she was simply unable to recollect the correct expression in the target language.

A second example which could be interpreted as an attempt to downplay the strength of the metaphorical image slightly in the TT was the translation of AOI ID 36 in Text 2 in which the sentence read "the market for securitization [...] has fallen off a cliff" and for which the back-translation from participant 11 would be "the market for securitization [...] has collapsed" (see Appendix 1). Of course, it is only possible to conjecture why the participant would choose to replace the original metaphorical image in the ST with a different metaphorical image in the TT, but it could be speculated that the motivation was similar to the motivation in the first example. In other words, the participant felt that it was preferable to choose a more conventional metaphor. To refer to markets as "collapsing" is so conventional that it may be regarded as a dead metaphor and this applies to both source and target languages and by choosing this conventional metaphor over the less familiar "fallen off a cliff", it is very likely that the participant felt that she made a safer choice.

A third and even more convincing example of a participant deciding that the ST metaphor was too unfamiliar or creative to be appropriate in the target language was participant 3's paraphrase of AOI ID 19 and 20 in Text 3. The original sentence read "*The path from the altar is strewn with failed corporate marriages*" and the back-translation of the TT is "*There are plenty of examples of failed mergers between companies*". The ST metaphor was quite elaborate and the participant actually commented in the retrospective interview that she did not believe that the marriage metaphor was used in Danish. In other words, the participant regarded the metaphor as having a lower language-specific saliency in the target language. She wanted to retain some metaphorical expressions but did not wish to use the term *marriage* and therefore preferred to

paraphrase with *merger*. Therefore, the participant paraphrased AOI ID 19 and 20 but transferred some of the other ST metaphors directly into the TT. It is less relevant whether or not the participant was correct in stating that the marriage metaphor is not used in Danish, but more interesting that she had deliberated on the differences in metaphor use in the source and target language cultures and chose her translation strategy accordingly.

The above examples are by no means exhaustive, but the aim of this section was merely to provide a few illustrations of the choices made by the participants, which showed that the decisions made were by no means all more or less automatic or random despite the strong preference for the M-M translation strategy.

There also seemed to be some inclination to downplay the more creative or strong ST metaphors in the TTs. The English and Danish cultures and languages have many similarities but, based on this quick qualitative inspection, there would seem to be some distinct differences in the nature of the metaphors used with a preference for more conventional and less creative metaphors in Danish. Perhaps this tendency is not language-specific, and metaphors may tend to be less creative and/or more conventional in any translation or into translation into L1 as part of the normalisation or levelling-out that has been claimed to be a translation universal (Baker 1993, 1996: 176ff, and Halverson 2010: 350ff).

As a high number of the ST metaphors in the texts could be said to be quite creative or powerful in their imagery, it could be assumed that the deliberation of how to adapt these images to the target language would require an increased cognitive effort compared with literal expressions. This assumption was supported by the findings in Analysis 4, *Production Time*, in which metaphor AOIs had statistically significant longer production times than literal AOIs. This was the case even though the majority of the metaphors were still translated with the direct M-M strategy, indicating that any cultural gaps between the source and target languages were in fact not as wide as the qualitative analysis would seem to indicate.

Chapter 8 Potential Issues

The purpose of this section is to discuss potential weaknesses of the research design and their potential effect on the findings of this thesis.

The divergence of the findings from eye-tracking analyses 1-3 were interpreted as indication that the individual measures were reflective of various stages of cognitive processing. But there is of course also another potential explanation, which is that the eye-tracking method used was flawed.

Very few researchers have used eye-tracking for metaphor research, and there may be a good reason for this: it is difficult to formalise a definition for a metaphor's boundaries, and, furthermore, many metaphors are multiple-word units. The metaphors in the texts in this thesis consisted of both single-word and multiple-word metaphors. Multiple-word units can pose a problem in eye-tracking experiments in which it is preferable that the defined AOIs do not go beyond a line break, which may be difficult to avoid with multiple-word units. This difficulty could be one reason why many researchers have chosen to focus on metonymy rather than metaphors in eye-tracking experiments as metonymic expressions often are single-word units.

In going through the participants' key-logging files on an individual basis, there were indications that perhaps the definition of the AOI boundaries for the ST metaphors (and the comparison AOIs) was too restrictive. In one example, there was a considerable pause before the modal verb preceding a TT AOI equivalent (in this case, a metaphor),⁴⁸ but as the ST AOI did not include the modal verb, meaning that the eye-tracking analyses would not include any fixations on the modal verbs, it was decided that the key-logging data should not include the modal verbs either for reasons of comparability. But it does not seem unlikely that some form of pre-processing of the AOI would have taken place during the reading (and consequent production) of the modal verbs, and the key-logging data contained several examples which led to the concern that perhaps the original AOIs as defined in ClearView for the eye-tracking analyses were too restrictive by not including modal verbs or articles. The motivation for this

⁴⁸ AOI ID 9, "wooing", preceded by "have been" in experimental Text 3 (see Appendix 1).

was the assumption that the heaviest part of the cognitive effort would be found at the 'core' of the metaphor as defined in the methodology section (see section 4.4).

A possible explanation for the lack of a significant effect in Analysis 1 and 2 from Type alone (metaphor and comparison) could lie in the formalised criterion for the constituents of the AOI in the experiment. The AOI contained the metaphor vehicle (cf. Goatly's definition in 3.1.1) as this unit was assumed to have the highest level of metaphoricity of the whole metaphor and therefore to be the unit most likely to produce clear results in the eye-tracking experiment. However, it is worth to consider if perhaps the results would have been different or if the findings of the eye-tracking analyses would have been more homogenous if the entire metaphor, not only the vehicle, was included in the AOI. In the current experiment, the cognitive effort related to metaphor comprehension was speculated to be more marked in the metaphor vehicle, but perhaps it is not possible to achieve any insight in metaphor comprehension (in this case for a reading for translation task) unless the metaphor is considered in its entirety.

It would be relevant to carry out a follow-up study in which the definition of the AOI boundaries was less restrictive to see if the indications from the significant interaction between the variables Type and Task found across all three eye-tracking analyses would perhaps also show up in a significant effect of Type alone, which was not the case in analyses 1 and 2 in this study, but only for Analysis 3. Such an analysis could also attempt to replicate the findings of Analysis 4, *Production Time*, which showed a significant effect of Type. A further benefit of such a study with less restrictive AOI definitions would be the opportunity to take the potential spill-over effects into account, which are regarded by some as a concern in eye-tracking studies, i.e. whether the effect of processing difficult words spill over onto subsequent words (Reichle 2011: 769).

However, Janus and Bever (1985) argued that the cognitive effort would be greatest at the point when the word is first encountered, which would suggest that a larger AOI, such as the entire sentence, may not be reflective of cognitive effort in metaphor processing. For an eye-tracking experiment, it would furthermore pose a number of issues if not only the metaphor vehicle but the entire sentence should be included in the AOI. This would mean that non-metaphorical words would be present in the AOI, and the gaze time for that particular AOI would then include non-metaphor gaze time. This would make it difficult to make any claims on metaphor processing as the non-metaphorical words in the AOI must be assumed to have some effect on the results. By having the entire sentence as the AOI, it may not be possible to make any claims on the process of metaphor comprehension, but rather on sentences containing metaphoric expressions, which may be a more diffuse or vague concept. An investigation of metaphors embedded in sentences would have the benefit of analysis of the microproposition of the sentence. It may not be feasible to extract the processing of the metaphorical expression from the processing of the logical structure in which it is embedded. However, by investigating entire sentences, it would be necessary to take into account a host of other linguistic factors, which may influence the sentence processing. The problem of AOIs across line breaks would also be present.

Another potential issue is that the extent to which it was possible to simulate an authentic translation work environment can be questioned. Even though the ecological validity of the experiment was a priority in the experimental setup, there were still several elements which may have led the participants to take the translation task less seriously than they would have if the task had been an actual translation assignment by a paying customer. These elements included a lack of translation aids such as dictionaries and Internet-based resources. Several participants said that they would normally have looked up a word or investigated its meaning further and it does not seem unlikely to assume that a few of the participants would have made online searches to investigate the number of hits before deciding on a particular metaphor translation. This was not possible in this experiment and may have led to a more casual approach to the task as the work procedure was not typical. On the other hand, the participants knew that their translations would be scrutinised, which may have ensured that their professional pride was still keeping the translations up to the participants' usual standards.

Eye-tracking and key-logging analyses enable inferences to be made on the basis of indirect indications of cognitive effort. Without any direct verbalisations of perceived difficulties by the participants, any conclusions drawn are based on these indirect inferences. For example with regard to the inter-metaphor analyses and the qualitative analysis, it was only possible to speculate on the motivation behind the choice of translation strategy. For future research, it would be helpful to have cued retrospective interviews with the participants to perhaps learn more about their motivation for their translation choices as the choice of the M1-M2 translation

strategy could also be based in a fear of using too creative metaphors and preferring more conventional metaphors.

Although the issues discussed in this chapter indicate potential weaknesses in the experimental methodology, none of the issues were regarded as sufficient to cast the conclusions made from the analyses into doubt. Although the findings of analyses 1-3 were not uniform, the quality criteria placed on the eye-tracking data helped ensure a certain level of credibility to the results. That the key-logging data used in Analysis 4 showed that metaphors are more cognitively effortful to produce, when this was not uniformly confirmed by the eye-tracking analyses, was interpreted as indication that it is the actual production of the metaphors which are more cognitively demanding, rather than the comprehension, even for L2 metaphors.

However, the potential weaknesses in the experimental methodology also show the need for this study to be followed up with studies addressing these potential issues, to see if the findings can still be replicated.

Chapter 9 Conclusion

The aim of this thesis was to investigate cognitive effort invested in metaphor translation. Glucksberg (2001) and Inhoff et al. (1984) stated that metaphors are not ambiguous and do not require more cognitive effort to process than literal expressions. However, these statements were based on monolingual studies, and Dagut (1987) and Newmark (1988) claimed that metaphors should be regarded as a particular translation problem. However, their viewpoints were not verified empirically, and this thesis sought to shed light on the various views on metaphor in both comprehension and production, but always from a translation perspective.

Because of the opposing views on metaphor processing and production, research questions were preferred over hypotheses as the point of departure for the thesis' investigation. The research questions asked whether or not it required more cognitive effort to translate metaphors compared with literal expressions. The methodology was a quantitative study in which 17 professional translators were asked to translate two texts from English (L2) into Danish (L1). Their eye movements were recorded in ClearView during the translation process and their typing activities logged in Translog. The translation process was regarded as a fundamentally horizontal process with rapid vertical shifts between the source and target texts following the arguments of Mossop (2003) and Hvelplund (2011). Comprehension was assumed to be the main process taking place when attention was on the source text as evidenced by eye movements, whereas the main process was assumed to be production when attention was on the target text as evidenced by typing activity.

Based on Goatly's (1997) definition of the vehicle, the boundary defined for the AOIs was the word(s) in the metaphorical expression different from the text in general in terms of semantic domain. A number of non-metaphorical expressions were chosen to serve as comparison AOIs in the statistical analyses. The statistical analyses were done using an LMER model allowing for more ecological validity in terms of the experimental texts, which made it possible to control for various textual differences between the AOIs such as length, word frequency and word-co-occurrence probability.

203

Underlying the eye-tracking analyses was the eye-mind assumption (Just and Carpenter 1980), stating that the mind is processing what the eyes are currently focused on. Following this assumption, differences in gaze measures between the metaphor and comparison AOIs were taken as indication of differences in cognitive effort. In other words, a difference in *Total Fixation Time* as investigated in Analysis 1 would be interpreted as a difference in cognitive effort invested in the processing of the word(s) within the AOI in question.

Following standard practices in eye-tracking research, no less than three gaze measures were reported (analyses 1-3), in which differences between metaphor and comparison AOIs were investigated. Analysis 1 was the most comprehensive measure, *Total Fixation Time*. Analysis 2 investigated differences in *Total Fixation Number*, which was regarded as a supplementary measure to Analysis 1. Analysis 3 investigated *First Pass Fixation Time*. A subanalysis (Analysis 1.1) was an investigation of inter-metaphor differences with *Total Fixation Time* as the measure of cognitive effort.

There was no significant effect of Type, i.e. metaphor or non-metaphor, in analyses 1 and 2, but there was a significant interaction between the variables Type and Task, i.e. reading for comprehension or reading for translation, which was found across all three eye-tracking analyses. This interaction meant that there was a significant difference in the effect of Type depending on the task, reading for comprehension or translation. In other words, there was no significant effect of Type alone in analyses 1 and 2, but it did enter into a significant interaction. As illustrated by Figure 13 for *Total Fixation Time* and Figure 19 for *First Pass Fixation Time* respectively, this difference in effect suggested that metaphors resulted in shorter fixation times when the task was reading for translation. In other words, Analysis 1 and 2 offer support for the direct processing model and the claims of Glucksberg (2001) and Inhoff et al. (1984) that, when presented in context, metaphors are not more cognitively effortful to comprehend than non-metaphors. The findings could also be regarded as support for the tentative findings of Noveck et al. (2001) that metaphors facilitated comprehension.

However, because this tendency was not confirmed by a significant effect of the variable Type alone in analyses 1 and 2, but only in Analysis 3, this claim would have to be verified by further

studies, perhaps with larger samples and perhaps with less restrictive AOI definitions as discussed in Chapter 8.

But the significant effect of Type found in Analysis 3, *First Pass Fixation Time*, does offer some support for the assumption that metaphors are more cognitively effortful to process in a translation task than literal expressions as first pass fixation times were significantly longer for metaphor AOIs compared with non-metaphor AOIs. However, as the difference between the two types of AOIs was only significant in Analysis 3, it was concluded that the significant effect of metaphor was caused by some form of unexpectedness or surprise, which could not be accounted for by the word-in-context probability values in the variable Trigram Probability. This effect disappeared in the more comprehensive measure, *Total Fixation Time*. In other words, metaphors are perhaps more unexpected, but not necessarily more cognitively effortful to comprehend than literal expressions. It is important to remember that this is even though the metaphors were in the participants' L2 and the task was reading for translation.

A secondary finding of Analysis 3 was that first pass fixation times were significantly shorter when reading for translation than for reading for comprehension. This finding was counter to Jakobsen and Jensen's (2008) findings of longer fixations in a translation task compared with a reading for comprehension task, but the results were interpreted as support of Hvelplund's (2011) view of the translation process as neither strictly horizontal or vertical, but rather as a series of rapid attention shifts between the ST and TT, i.e., between comprehension and production. These shifts did not take place to the same extent in the reading for comprehension task in which the participants were required to retype the ST to ensure a certain level of comparability with the translation task. Although the ST was being reproduced, the participants did not monitor the output as was the case when translating, suggesting that the typing was automated to a certain extent. In other words, the effect of the translation task was an increase in shifts between ST and TT, which was interpreted as indication of the need for monitoring own output in the TT against the ST.

The inter-metaphor investigation in Analysis 1.1. did not find any significant effect from the variable *Metaphor Familiarity*, which suggests that familiarity was not a strong predictor of cognitive effort in L2 metaphor comprehension counter to expectations based on the arguments of Gentili et al. (2008) and Danks and Griffin (1997). Although not investigated directly, the

205

lack of effect from *Metaphor Familiarity* could be interpreted as indirect support for Giora's (1997) graded salience hypothesis, stating that saliency takes precedence over metaphoricity, conventionality, and frequency as a predictor of cognitive effort in processing linguistic structures. Following this line of thought, metaphors should be regarded as no different from any other linguistic unit. However, as saliency was not investigated directly, it remains unclear whether saliency does in fact take precedence over metaphoricity.

Following Dobrzynska (1995) and Schäffner (2005), the translation strategies available for metaphor translation were divided into three categories, either a direct transfer of the ST image (M-M), paraphrasing (M-P) or replacing the ST image with a new image (M1-M2). Research questions 3 and 4 queried whether a translation strategy of paraphrasing or replacing the ST image with a new image in the TT would be more cognitively effortful than a direct transfer of the ST image. The answers to these research questions were sought in Analysis 1.1., which investigated whether or not there was any significant effect on the dependent variable, *Total Fixation Time*, from *Translation Strategy*. The analysis used the direct translation strategy M-M as the basis of comparison against which the effect of the remaining two variables was measured. However, no significant effect was found for either M-P or M1-M2 in Analysis 1.1, which was taken to mean that any differences in the cognitive effort of choosing and implementing a translation strategy would be present in the production data, i.e., the key-logging data, and not the comprehension data. In other words, the participants were assumed to spend cognitive effort on translation strategy immediately before production and not during comprehension.

The production stage of the translation process was investigated in Analysis 4 in which the log files from Translog were analysed. The dependent variable in Analysis 4 was *Production Time*, a measure including preceding and inter-word pauses, and the regions analysed were the AOI equivalents in the TTs. Research question Two queried if translation of metaphorical expressions into L1 would require more cognitive effort than the translation of literal expressions. If Dagut (1987) and Newmark (1988) were correct that metaphors are a translation problem, then this should have been evidenced through longer production times compared with literal expressions.

As production times were indeed found to be significantly longer for the metaphor AOI equivalents in the TT compared with the non-metaphor AOI equivalents, the view of metaphor as a translation problem is confirmed by Analysis 4. Conversely, the claims of Mason (1982) that the problems of metaphor translation are not specific to metaphors but rather to translation in general would seem to be disproved as the metaphors in question in this study were compared directly with non-metaphors from the same texts.

The focus of research questions Three and Four was any possible difference in cognitive effort linked to the choice of translation strategy, following the categorization of Dobrzynska (1995) and Schäffner (2005). This was investigated in Analysis 4.1, which was an inter-metaphor analysis comparable to Analysis 1.1. The majority of metaphor AOIs was translated into the same image (M-M), in line with earlier findings by Wikberg (2004), with far fewer translations into paraphrase (M-P) and even fewer into a new image (M1-M2). The retrospective interviews carried out after each translation were not able to clarify whether this preference for a direct transfer of the metaphorical image was because it was deemed to be equally salient in the target language following Trim's (2007) terminology or because the participants lacked the necessary problem-solving skills to find the most suitable translation strategy (Wilss 2001). It was speculated that the translators' had a default direct transfer strategy, which was only replaced by an indirect translation strategy when the translator found it necessary.

Regardless of the motivations for the translation choices, the indirect translation strategy M1-M2 was found to result in significantly longer production times than the direct translation strategy M-M. It was argued that the increased cognitive effort could be due to the duality of the M1-M2 translation strategy in which the participant must not only interpret and discard the ST metaphor as suitable in the TT, but she must find a target language metaphor which expresses the same meaning but which has a higher language-specific saliency than the ST metaphor, i.e. is more suitable to the target language. The data did not reveal whether the M1-M2 translation strategy was the least preferred because it was more cognitively effortful to use or if it was more cognitively effortful because it was used less frequently.

The brief qualitative analysis in section 7 discussed a few of the more interesting translation choices made by the participants as well as the comments made by the participants during the retrospective interviews. The retrospective interviews were able to reveal that the metaphors

were identified as metaphorical by at least some of the participants. None remarked on the metaphors as being difficult to translate, but a few commented on deliberate considerations on the appropriateness of transferring the ST metaphor image into the TT. In hindsight, cued retrospective interviews might have elicited more elaborate responses. Another aspect, which would help shed light on the findings in a replication of this study, would be in-depth information about the professional competence and experience of each individual participant, in particular information about metaphor translation experience.

By looking at the translations produced by the participants, it was concluded that there seemed to be a tendency to downplay some of the more elaborate or creative metaphorical images in the ST with a more conventional metaphor in the TT, a tendency which is frequently regarded as a translation universal.

To summarise the findings of the thesis, there was some indication that metaphors may facilitate comprehension, but not translation. However, both of these claims require further investigation. The significant effect of Type found in Analysis 3 suggested that the metaphorical expressions may be more unexpected than literal expressions. The actual production of the TT metaphors was found to be more cognitively effortful than production of literal expressions as found by the significant effect of Type in Analysis 4.

Furthermore, the results showed that there was a difference in cognitive effort depending on the chosen translation strategy, which may be related to the nature of the ST metaphor or be an artefact of the translation strategy of replacing the ST image with a new TT image. The results could be interpreted as indication that the translator will choose the path of least resistance, i.e. a direct transfer translation strategy. In other words, she will prioritise her cognitive resources and not spend more cognitive effort on a translation strategy than necessary.

Historically, there has been little, if any, empirical research in metaphor from a translation process perspective, and the aim of this thesis was to combine the more traditional qualitative translation analysis with quantitative analyses, using the methodologies best suited for investigation of the two stages in the translation process, comprehension and production, which were investigated individually. That the findings are not homogenous is not regarded as a weakness, but rather interpreted as confirmation that the different data streams reflect different

stages of cognitive processing and shows the applicability of quantitative research in metaphor translation as well as the need for more research in this field. The application of a linear mixedeffects regression model in translation research showed the potential for experimental methodology with a relatively high degree of ecological validity while still being able to control for a number of potential effects. The findings of this study also show the need for further studies within the fields of both metaphor translation and translation process research.

9.1 Future Avenues of Research

As discussed in chapter 8, there was some concern that the delimitation of the ST AOIs and the corresponding TT AOI equivalents was too restrictive. It would be a relevant follow-up study to use the same experimental texts but with more comprehensive AOIs, perhaps covering entire sentences. This would enable investigation of the metaphor embedded in its microproposition, i.e. the sentence, which may be processed as one semantic unit, as metaphor processing is dependent on supporting context. This would, however, present other problems such as wrap-up effects at end of sentences as well as effects from other constituents in the texts. Therefore, such a study should not be regarded as a stand-alone study but as a complement to the study presented here in this thesis.

Another complementary study could be a replication of the current study carried out with a different language pair with a wider linguistic and cultural gap in which it would be less appropriate or possible to transfer the ST metaphors directly into the TT to see if this would result in a reduced proportion of the M-M translation strategy. Another relevant replication of the current study would entail a brief in which the participants were instructed that the translation quality would be assessed. This could perhaps prompt the participants to be more deliberate in their choice of translation strategy, in which case the direct transfer translation strategy may perhaps become less frequent.

It would also be highly relevant to follow up the inter-metaphor analyses 1.1 and 4.1 with a study in which the translators received training in metaphor translation before the experiment and were made aware of the underlying conceptual structures often found in e.g. financial texts to investigate if this acquired knowledge would provide a different result than the one reported here in which the M-M strategy was by far the most frequent. Crerar-Bromelow argued for the

209

necessity of making the translator familiar with the underlying conceptual metaphors in order to move away from "mere word-for-word equivalence" (Crerar-Bromelow 2008: 89).

For both complementary studies, cued retrospective interviews could be of great value. After the translation of each text, the participant should be presented with a replay of her own translation process as recorded in ClearView. This would be assumed to elicit more detailed responses from the participant as she would be able to see a replay of where she may have paused or backtracked when reading and typing. As such cued retrospective interviews are quite time consuming, it may not be realistic to expect all participants to be available for such an extensive interview. But the cued retrospective interviews could be carried out with a smaller group of the participants with the remaining participants only subjected to the less time consuming standard interview.

This thesis has taken the first step into an empirically oriented investigation of the cognitive effort of metaphor translation, and the findings of this thesis constitute a first contribution to a niche in translation process research and translation studies in general.

Dansk resumé

Denne afhandling med titlen *Cognitive Effort in Metaphor Translation – an eye-tracking and key-logging study* er en empirisk undersøgelse af professionelle oversætteres kognitive belastning under oversættelse af metaforer. Metaforer er billedlige udtryk, hvor et koncept bruges til at karakterisere et andet koncept såsom *Peter er en ulv*, hvor ulvens karakteristiske egenskaber overføres på Peter. Afhandlingen tager udgangspunkt i *direct access*-synet på metaforer, hvor metaforer betragtes som værende utvetydige udtryk, der fortolkes direkte som metaforiske.

Metaforer har primært været genstand for forskning i monolinguale studier, hvor blandt andre Glucksberg (2001) og Inhoff m.fl. (1984) undersøgte, hvordan metaforer processeres samt hvilken kognitiv belastning, der er forbundet med denne processering. Konklusionen på deres undersøgelser var, at metaforer ikke udgør nogen særlig kognitiv belastning i forståelsesprocessen, og at metaforer grundlæggende ikke er mere tvetydige end bogstavelige udtryk.

Dagut (1987) og Newmark (1985, 1988) har beskæftiget sig med metaforer ud fra et oversættelsesperspektiv, og de betragtede metaforer som et særligt problem inden for oversættelse. Trim (2007) hævdede, at metaforers oversættelighed var afhængig af deres sprogspecifikke *saliency*.

Hverken Dagut, Newmark eller Trim anvendte empiriske metoder i deres undersøgelser, og formålet med denne afhandling er at bygge bro mellem de empiriske metoder anvendt inden for forskning i metaforforståelse og de mere kvalitative metoder anvendt inden for forskning i metaforoversættelse.

17 danske oversættere deltog i undersøgelsen. Deres L1 var dansk og deres L2 var engelsk. De blev bedt om at afskrive to korte tekster, og derefter blev forsøgspersonerne bedt om at oversætte to tekster fra engelsk til dansk. Efter hver enkelt tekst blev forsøgspersonerne bedt om at besvare enkelte spørgsmål om teksterne og processen. Deres øjenbevægelser og tasteaktiviteter blev registreret i programmerne ClearView og Translog, og disse data ligger til grundlag for analyserne i afhandlingen.

Grundet de modstridende synspunkter om metaforforståelse blev det foretrukket at arbejde ud fra åbne forskningsspørgsmål frem for hypoteser. Der blev formuleret fire forskningsspørgsmål som grundlag for undersøgelserne. Forskningsspørgsmål Et gik på, hvorvidt *forståelse* af L2-metaforer ville udgøre en større kognitiv belastning end forståelse af L2-bogstavelige udtryk. Forskningsspørgsmål To gik på, hvorvidt *oversættelse* af L2-metaforer til L1 ville udgøre en større kognitiv belastning end forståelse udtryk.

Disse to forskningsspørgsmål blev suppleret af to yderligere forskningsspørgsmål, der udelukkende vedrørte metaforoversættelse. Forskningsspørgsmål Tre gik på, hvorvidt oversættelse af en metafor med en parafrase udgjorde en større kognitiv belastning end oversættelse med en direkte overførsel af det metaforiske billede i kildeteksten. Forskningsspørgsmål Fire gik på, hvorvidt oversættelse af en metafor med en anden metafor udgjorde en større kognitiv belastning end oversættelse med en direkte overførsel af det metaforiske billede i kildeteksten.

Programmet ClearView registrerede forsøgspersonernes øjenbevægelser under læsning af kildeteksterne, og disse data blev analyseret i fire separate statistiske analyser, der alle var opbygget ud fra den samme model i inferentiel statistik, en såkaldt *linear mixed-effects regression model*. Den grundlæggende antagelse bag analysen af øjenbevægelserne var Just og Carpenters (1980) *eye-mind assumption*, der antager, at hjernen processerer, hvad øjnene fikserer. Der blev både undersøgt forskelle på læsning og oversættelse, forskelle mellem metaforer og ikke-metaforer samt forskelle mellem metaforer. Analyse 1, *Total Fixation Time*, og Analyse 2, *Total Fixation Number*, fandt ingen signifikant forskel mellem metaforer og ikke-metaforer og ikke med henblik på oversættelse, hvorimod Analyse 3, *First Pass Fixation Time*, fandt en signifikant forskel mellem de to typer. Der var desuden en signifikant interaktion mellem variablerne Type og Task i alle tre analyser, der antydede en vis forståelsesfacilitering af metaforer, men ikke facilitering af oversættelse. Denne interaktion kræver dog videre undersøgelse.

Programmet Translog registrerede forsøgspersonernes tasteaktiviteter under oversættelsen af kildeteksterne, og disse data blev analyseret i en hovedanalyse (Analyse 4) samt en underanalyse (Analyse 4.1.) med sammenligning af metafor med metafor. Analyse 4 undersøgte forskelle i *Production Time* som et udtryk for forskelle i kognitiv belastning under oversættelse af metaforer sammenlignet med ikke-metaforer. Konklusionen var, at oversættelse af metaforer var signifikant langsommere at oversætte sammenlignet med ikke-metaforer, hvilket støtter Newmarks syn på metaforer som et oversættelsesproblem. Analyse 4.1 undersøgte forskelle i kognitiv belastning afhængig af forsøgspersonernes bekendthedsgrad med de enkelte metaforer samt den valgte oversættelsesstrategi i en intermetaforisk analyse. Konklusionen, der besvarede forskningsspørgsmål Tre og Fire, var, at der ikke var nogen signifikant forskel i den kognitive belastning forbundet med at vælge en parafrase som oversættelsesstrategi sammenlignet med en direkte overførsel af det metaforiske billede i kildeteksten. Derimod indikerede resultaterne, at en oversættelsesstrategi, hvor det metaforiske billede i kildeteksten erstattes af et nyt metaforisk billede i målteksten, er mere kognitivt belastende end en direkte overførselsstrategi.

En kortere kvalitativ analyse af forsøgspersonernes svar i de retrospektive interviews samt af oversættelsesprodukterne afslørede, at oversætterne var bevidste om de metaforiske udtryk, men ikke betragtede dem som værende problematiske. Der var dog forskel på, i hvor høj grad forsøgspersonerne gav udtryk for deres overvejelser vedrørende oversættelsesstrategier. Forsøgspersonernes oversættelser viste en udpræget præference for en direkte overførsel af det metaforiske billede fra kildeteksten, og i de tilfælde, hvor en anden oversættelsesstrategi blev valgt, var det ikke altid tydeligt, at dette var et bedre løsningsforslag.

Kombinationen af både kvantitative og kvalitative data gav mulighed for en bredere synsvinkel på metaforoversættelse fra et procesorienteret perspektiv, og især de kvantitative analyser har grebet den primært intuitive opfattelse af metaforer som et oversættelsesproblem an fra en ny vinkel og dermed bidraget til et bredere perspektiv.

Abstract

This thesis, titled *Cognitive effort in metaphor translation – an eye-tracking and key-logging study,* is an empirical investigation of professional translators' cognitive effort during metaphor translation. Metaphors are defined as expressions in which one concept is used to characterise another concept, such as *Peter is a wolf* in which the characteristics of the wolf are used to define Peter. As a point of departure, the thesis adopts the direct access view of metaphors in which metaphors are regarded as unambiguous expressions which are interpreted as metaphors directly.

Metaphors have primarily been researched in monolingual studies such as Glucksberg (2001) and Inhoff et al. (1984), who investigated how metaphors are processed and the cognitive effort required for this processing compared with literal expressions. The conclusion to their studies was that metaphors were not more cognitively effortful to process than literal expressions and that they were not necessarily more ambiguous either.

Dagut (1987) and Newmark (1985, 1988) discussed metaphors from a translation perspective in which they regarded metaphors as a particular translation problem. Trim (2007) argued that the translatability of metaphors was related to their language-specific saliency.

Neither Dagut, Newmark or Trim was empirical in his methodology, and the purpose of this thesis was to bridge the gap between the empirical methodology used in metaphor comprehension research and the more qualitative methodology used in metaphor translation research.

17 Danish professional translators were participants. Their L1 was Danish and their L2 English. The participants were asked to retype two short texts and afterwards to translate two texts from English to Danish. The participants were asked a few questions about the text after each individual text. Their eye movements and typing activities were registered in the programs ClearView and Translog, and these data streams were used in the analyses reported in the thesis.
As a result of the many opposing views of metaphor processing, research questions were preferred over hypotheses. Four research questions were formulated to serve as the basis for the investigation. Research question One asked whether L2 metaphor *comprehension* would be more cognitively effortful than comprehension of L2 literal expressions. Research question Two asked whether L2 metaphor *translation* would be more cognitively effortful than translation of L2 literal expressions.

These two research questions were supplemented by two additional research questions, which only pertained to metaphor translation. Research question Three asked whether a paraphrase translation strategy would be more cognitively effortful than a direct transfer translation strategy. Similarly, research question Four asked whether translation of the source text metaphor with a different metaphor would be more cognitively effortful than a direct transfer translation strategy.

The program ClearView registered the participants' eye movements during reading of the source texts, and these data were analysed in five separate statistical analyses. All five analyses were based on the same model in inferential statistics, a *linear mixed-effects regression* model. The underlying assumption behind the analyses was Just and Carpenter's (1980) *eye-mind assumption*, stating that the mind will process what the eyes are fixating. Comparisons were made between reading for comprehension and reading for translation, metaphor versus non-metaphor as well as inter-metaphor. Analysis 1, *Total Fixation Time*, and Analysis 2, *Total Fixation Number*, found no significant difference between metaphor and non-metaphor AOIs whereas there was a significant difference in Analysis 3, *First Pass Fixation Time*. However, there was a significant interaction between the variables Type and Task found across all three eye-tracking analyses, which would seem to suggest that metaphors facilitate comprehension, but not translation. However, this assumption requires further investigation.

Translog registered the participants' typing activities during translation of the source texts, and these data were analysed in Analysis 4 as well as a subanalysis (Analysis 4.1.), which was an inter-metaphor comparison. Analysis 4 investigated differences in *Production Time*, which were taken to indicate differences in cognitive effort during translation of metaphors compared with non-metaphors. The conclusion made on the basis of the data was that metaphors are indeed more cognitively effortful to translate than non-metaphors, which supports the claims of Dagut

(1987) and Newmark (1988) that metaphor is a particular translation problem. The intermetaphor Analysis 4.1 investigated differences in cognitive effort relative to the participants' familiarity with the metaphors as well as their chosen translation strategies. The conclusion and reply to research question Three was that it is not significantly more cognitively effortful to paraphrase the source text metaphor rather than use a direct transfer translation strategy. However, the results indicated that it was significantly more cognitively effortful to translate the source text metaphor with a different metaphorical image, which answered research question Three.

A brief qualitative analysis of the responses made by the participants in the retrospective interviews as well as the translations revealed that the participants were aware of the metaphors in the source texts, but that they were not considered problematic. However, there were quite a few differences in the extent to which the participants expressed their considerations concerning translation strategy. The produced translations showed a marked preference for the direct transfer translation strategy, and in the few instances in which a different translation strategy was chosen, it was not always clear whether this was in fact a better choice of translation.

The combination of quantitative and qualitative data enabled a broader view of metaphor translation from a process-oriented perspective, and the quantitative analyses in particular have investigated the somewhat intuitive persuasion that metaphors constitute a translation problem from a new angle and thereby contributed to a broader perspective.

Bibliography

Ahrens, K., H. Liu, C. Lee, S. Gong, S. Fang and Y. Hsu. 2007. Functional MRI of conventional and anomalous metaphors in Mandarin Chinese. *Brain and Language* 100: 163-171.

Alvarez, A. 1993. On translating metaphor. Meta 38 (3): 479-489.

Andersen, M. S. 2004. *Metaforkompetence – en empirisk undersøgelse af semi-professionelle oversætteres metaforviden*. [Metaphor competence – an empirical study of semi-professional translators' metaphor knowledge.] Copenhagen: Copenhagen Working Papers in LSP.

Baayen, R. H. 2008. *Analyzing Linguistic Data – A Practical Introduction to Statistics Using R*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Baayen, R. H, D. J. Davidson, and D. M. Bates. 2008. Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. *Journal of Memory and Language* (59): 390-412.

Baddeley, A. D. 1999. Essentials of Human Memory. Hove: Psychology Press.

Baker, M. 1992. In Other Words. London: Routledge.

Baker, M. 1993. Corpus linguistics and translation studies – Implications and applications. In M. Baker, G. Francis, and E. Tognini-Bonelli (eds.). *Text and Technology. In Honour of John Sinclair.* Amsterdam: John Benjamins. 233-250.

Baker, M. 1996. Corpus-based translation studies: the challenges that lie ahead. In H. Somers (ed.). *Terminology, LSP and translation: studies in language engineering, in honour of Juan C. Sager*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins. 175-186.

Balling, L. W. 2008a. *Morphological Effects in Danish Auditory Word Recognition*. PhD thesis, University of Aarhus.

Balling, L. W. 2008b. A brief introduction to regression design and mixed-effects modelling by a recent convert. In S. Göpferich, A. L. Jakobsen and I. M Mees (eds). *Looking at Eyes. Eye-Tracking studies of Reading and Translation Processing.* (Copenhagen Studies in Language 36). Copenhagen: Samfundslitteratur Press. 175-192.

Balling, L.W. 2012. Reading authentic texts: what counts as cognate? *Bilingualism: Language and Cognition*: 1-17.

Balling, L.W. 2013. Does good writing mean good reading? An eye-tracking investigation of the effect of writing advice on reading. To appear in *Fachsprache*

Barcelona, A. 2003. Introduction: The cognitive theory of metaphor and metonymy. In A. Barcelona (ed.). *Metaphor and Metonymy at the Crossroads*. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter. 1-28.

Black, M. 1981. *Models and Metaphors – Studies in Language and Philosophy*. New York: Cornell University Press.

Blasko, D. G. and C. M. Connine. 1993. Effects of familiarity and aptness on metaphor processing. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition* 19 (2): 295-308.

Blasko, D. G. and V. A. Kazmerski. 2006. ERP correlates of individual differences in the comprehension of nonliteral language. *Metaphor and Symbol* 21 (4): 267-284.

Bowdle, B. F. and D. Gentner. 2005. The career of metaphor. *Psychological Review* 112. 193–216.

Breedveld, H. 2002. Writing and revising processes in professional translation. *Across Languages and Cultures* 3 (1): 91-100.

Cacciari, C. and S. Glucksberg. 1994. Understanding figurative language. In M. A. Gernsbacher (ed.). *Handbook of Psycholinguistics*. San Diego: Academic Press. 447-477.

Carpenter, P.A., A.Miyake and M.A. Just. 1994. Working memory constraints in comprehension: Evidence from individual differences, aphasia, and aging. In M. A. Gernsbacher (ed.). *Handbook of Psycholinguistics*. San Diego: Academic Press. 1075-1122.

Charteris-Black, J. 2000. *Metaphor and vocabulary teaching in ESP economics*. (English for Specific Purposes 19). 149-165.

Clifton, C. Jr., A. Staub and K. Rayner. 2007. Eye movements in reading words and sentences. In R. P.G. van Gompel, M. H. Fischer, W. S. Murray and R. L. Hill (eds). *Eye movements: A window on mind and brain*. Oxford: Elsevier. 341-371.

Coney, J. and A. Lange. 2006. Automatic and attentional processes in the comprehension of unfamiliar metaphors. *Current Psychology: Developmental, Learning, Personality, Social* 25 (2): 93-119.

Crerar-Bromelow, G. 2008. Can an awareness of conceptual metaphor (Lakoff and Johnson 1980) aid the translator in his/her task? In N. L. Johannesson and D.C. Minugh (eds). *Selected Papers from the 2006 and 2007 Stockholm Metaphor Festivals*. Stockholm: Department of English, Stockholm University. 75–84.

Cristofoli, M., G. Dyrberg and L. Stage. 1998. *Metaphor, meaning and translation*. (Hermes). 165-179.

Dagut, M. 1976. Can metaphor be translated? Babel 12 (1): 21-33.

Dagut, M. 1987. More about the translatability of metaphor. Babel 33 (2): 77-83.

Danks, J. H. and J. Griffin. 1997. Reading and translation – a psycholinguistic perspective. In J. H. Danks, G. M. Shreve, S. B. Fountain and M. K. McBeath (eds). *Cognitive Processes in Translation and Interpreting*. Thousand Oaks: Sage. 161-175.

Deignan, A. 2005. *Metaphor and Corpus Linguistics*. (Converging Evidence in Language and Communication Research 6). Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Deignan, A. 2008. Corpus linguistics and metaphor. In R. W. Gibbs (ed.). *The Cambridge Handbook of Metaphor and Thought*. New York: Cambridge University Press. 280-294.

De Groot, A. M. B. 1997. The cognitive study of translation and interpretation: three approaches. In J. H. Danks, G. M. Shreve, S. B. Fountain and M. K. McBeath (eds). *Cognitive Processing in Translation and Interpreting*. Thousand Oaks: Sage. 25-56.

Demberg, V. and F. Keller. 2008. Data from eye-tracking corpora as evidence for theories of syntactic processing complexity. *Cognition* 109. 193-210.

Dickins, J. 2005. Two models for metaphor translation. Target 17 (2): 227-273.

Dimitrova, B. E. 2005. *Expertise and Explicitation in the Translation Process*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Dobrzynska, T. 1995. Translating metaphor: problems of meaning. *Journal of Pragmatics* 24 (6): 597-603.

Dragsted, B. 2004. Segmentation in Translation and Translation Memory Systems: An Empirical Investigation of Cognitive Segmentation and Effects of Integrating a TM-System into the Translation Process. PhD thesis, Copenhagen Business School. Copenhagen: Samfundslitteratur.

Erman, B. 2007. Cognitive processes as evidence of the idiom principle. *International Journal of Corpus Linguistics* 12 (1): 25-53.

Eysenck, M. W. and M. T. Keane. 2010. *Cognitive Psychology – A Student's Handbook*. Hove and New York: Psychology Press.

Samaniego Fernández, E., Velasco Sacristán, M. and Fuertes Olivera, P. A. 2005. Translations we live by: The impact of metaphor translation on target systems. In Pedro A. Fuertes Olivera (ed.). *Lengua y Sociedad: Investigaciones recientes en Lingüística Aplicada*. Valladolid: University of Valladolid. 61-81.

Frazier, L. and K. Rayner. 1982. Making and correcting errors during sentence comprehension: eye movements in the analysis of structurally ambiguous sentences. *Cognitive Psychology* 14. 178-210.

Frenck-Mestre, C. 2005. Eye-movement recording as a tool for studying syntactic processing in a second language: a review of methodologies and experimental findings. *Second Language Research* 21 (2): 175–198.

Frisson, S and M. J. Pickering. 1999. The processing of metonymy: evidence from eye movements. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition* 25 (6): 1366-1383.

Frisson, S., K. Rayner and M. J. Pickering. 2005. Effects of contextual predictability and transitional probability on eye movements during reading. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition* 31 (5): 862-877.

Fuertes Olivera, P. A. 1998. Metaphor and translation: a case study in the field of Economics. In P. Fernández Nistal and J. M. Bravo Gozalo (eds). *La Traducción: orientaciones lingüísticas y culturales*. Valladolid: Universidad de Valladolid. 79-95.

Gentili, C., B. Valentina, R. Emiliano, P. Pietro. 2008. *The Effect Of Familiarity In Metaphor Comprehension: An Fmri Study*. Poster for the 14th Annual Meeting of the Organization for Human Brain Mapping.

Gentner, D. and B. F. Bowdle. 2001. Convention, form, and figurative language processing. *Metaphor and Symbol* 16 (3): 223-247.

Gentzler, E. 2000. Metaphor and Translation. In O. Classe (ed). *Encyclopaedia of Literary Translation intoEnglish Vol. 2*. London: Fitzroy Dearborn Publisher. 941-945.

Gerrig, R. J. and A. F. Healy. 1983. Dual processes in metaphor understanding: comprehension and appreciation. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition* 9: 667–675.

Gibbs, R. W. Jr. 2001. Evaluating contemporary models of figurative language understanding. *Metaphor and Symbol* 16 (3 & 4): 317-333.

Gibbs, R. W. Jr. and M. Perlman. 2006. The contested impact of cognitive linguistic research on the psycholinguistics of metaphor understanding. In G. Kristiansen, M. Achard, R. Dirven and F. Ibáñez (eds). *Cognitive Linguistics: Current Applications and Future Perspectives*. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter. 211-228.

Gile, D. 2009. *Basic Concepts and Models for Interpreter and Translator Training*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Giora, R. 1997. Understanding figurative and literal language: The graded salience hypothesis. *Cognitive Linguistics* 8 (3): 183-206.

Giora, R. 2002. Literal vs. figurative language: Different or equal? *Journal of Pragmatics* 34. 487-506.

Glucksberg, S. 2001. Understanding figurative language – from metaphors to idioms. (Oxford Psychology Series 36). New York: Oxford University Press.

Goatly, A. 1997. The Language of Metaphors. London: Routledge.

Goatly, A. 2007. Metaphor and Hidden Ideology. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Goldberg, J. H. and A. M. Whichansky. 2003. Eye tracking in usability evaluation. In J. Hyönä, R. Radach and H. Deubel (eds). *The Mind's Eye – Cognitive and Applied Aspects of Eye Movement Research*. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 493-516.

Göpferich, S. 2009. Towards a model of translation competence (acquisition). In S. Göpferich, A. L. Jakobsen and I. M. Mees (eds). *Behind the Mind – Methods, Models And Results In Translation Process Research*. (Copenhagen Studies in Language 37). Copenhagen: Samfundslitteratur Press. 11-37.

Group, P. 2007. MIP: A method for identifying metaphorically used words in discourse. *Metaphor and Symbol* 22 (1): 1-39.

Halverson, S. 2010. Cognitive translation studies. In G. Shreve and E. Angelone (eds.). *Translation and Cognition*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins. 350-369.

Hvelplund, K. T. 2011. *Allocation of cognitive resources in translation - an eye-tracking and key-logging study*. PhD thesis, Copenhagen Business School.

Hyönä, J., R. F. Lorch Jr. and M. Rinck. 2003. Eye movement measures to study global text processing. In J. Hyönä, R. Radach and H. Deubel (eds). *The Mind's Eye – Cognitive and Applied Aspects of Eye Movement Research*. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 313-334.

Immonen, S. 2006. Translation as a writing process – Pauses in translation versus monolingual text production. *Target* 18 (2): 313-335.

Inhoff, A. W., S. D. Lima and P. J. Carroll. 1984. Contextual effects on metaphor comprehension in reading. *Memory and Cognition* 12 (6): 558-567.

Inhoff, A. W., M. Starr and K. L. Shindler. 2000. Is the processing of words during eye fixations in reading strictly serial? *Perception & Psychophysics* 62 (7): 1474-1484.

Jacob, R. J. K. and K. S. Karn. 2003. Eye-tracking in human-computer interaction and usability research: ready to deliver the promises. In J. Hyönä, R. Radach and H. Deubel (eds). *The Mind's Eye – Cognitive and Applied Aspects of Eye Movement Research*. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 573-605.

Jakobsen, A. L. and K. T. H. Jensen. 2008. Eye movement behaviour across four different types of reading task. In S. Göpferich, A. L. Jakobsen and I. M. Mees (eds). *Looking at Eyes. Eye-Tracking Studies of Reading and Translation Processing*. (Copenhagen Studies in Language 36). Copenhagen: Samfundslitteratur Press. 103-124.

Janus, R. A. and T. G. Bever. 1985. Processing of metaphoric language: an investigation of the three-stage model of metaphor comprehension. *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research* 14 (5): 473-487.

Jääskeläinen, R. and S. Tirkkonen-Condit. 1991. Automatised processes in professional vs. nonprofessional translation: a think-aloud protocol study. In S. Tirkkonen-Condit (ed.). *Empirical Research in Translation and Intercultural Studies*. Tübingen: Gunter Narr. 89-109.

Jensen, K. T. H., Sjørup, A. C. and L. W. Balling. 2009. Effects of L1 syntax in L2 translation. In I. M. Mees, F. Alves and S. Göpferich (eds). *Methodology, Technology and Innovation in Translation Process Research: A Tribute to Arnt Lykke* Jakobsen. (Copenhagen Studies in Language 38). Copenhagen: Samfundslitteratur. 319-336.

Jones, L. L. and Z. Estes. 2006. Roosters, robins, and alarm clocks: Aptness and conventionality in metaphor comprehension. *Journal of Memory and Language* 55. 18-32.

Just, M. A. and P. A. Carpenter. 1980. A theory of reading: from eye fixations to comprehension. *Psychological Review* 87. 329-354.

Kaakinen, J. K., J. Hyönä and J. M. Keenan. 2003. How prior knowledge, wmc, and relevance of information affect eye fixations. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition* 29 (3): 447-457.

Katz, A. N. and T. R. Ferretti. 2001. Moment-by-moment reading of proverbs in literal and nonliteral contexts. *Metaphor and Symbol* 16 (3 & 4): 193-221.

Kimmel, M. 2010. Why we mix metaphors (and mix them well): discourse coherence, conceptual metaphor, and beyond. *Journal of Pragmatics* 42. 97-115.

Koller, V. 2004. *Metaphor and Gender in Business Media Discourse – A Critical Cognitive Study*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Kövecses, Z. 2007. *Metaphor in Culture: Universality and Variation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kußmaul, P. 2007. Verstehen und Übersetzen – Ein Lehr- und Arbeitsbuch. Tübingen: Narr Francke Attempto.

Lai, V. T., T. Curran and L. Menn. 2009. Comprehending conventional and novel metaphors: an ERP Study. *Brain Research* 1284. 145-155.

Lakoff, G. 1987. The death of dead metaphor. Metaphor and Symbolic Activity 2. 143-147.

Lakoff, G. and M. Johnson. 1980. *Metaphors We Live By*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Lakoff, G. and M. Johnson. 1999. Philosophy in the Flesh. New York: Basic Books.

Lee, C. H. and K. Kim. 2008. Word processing in the parafoveal region. *International Journal of Psychology* 44 (5): 369-377.

Liversedge, S. P. and J. M Findlay. 2000. Saccadic eye movements and cognition. *Trends in Cognitive Science* 4 (1): 6-14.

Lörscher, W. 1992. Process-oriented research into translation and implications for translation teaching. *TTR : traduction, terminologie, rédaction*. 5 (1): 145-161.

Macizo, P. and M. T. Bajo. 2004. When translation makes the difference: sentence processing in reading and translation. *Psicológica* 25: 181-205.

Martin, J. H. 1994. A corpus-based analysis of context effects on metaphor comprehension. Technical report. Boulder: University of Colorado.

Mashal, N. and M. Faust. 2010. The effects of metaphoricity and presentation style on brain activation during text comprehension. *Metaphor and Symbol* 25 (1): 19-33.

Mason, K. 1982. Metaphor and translation. Babel 28 (3): 140-149.

McDonald, S. A. and R. C. Shillcock. 2003. Eye movements reveal the on-line computation of lexical probabilities during reading. *Psychological Science* 14 (6): 648-652.

Monti, E. 2009. Translating The Metaphors We Live By. *European Journal of English Studies* 13 (2): 207-221.

Mossop, B. 2003. An alternative to 'deverbalization', [accessed 31 October 2011 from <u>http://www.yorku.ca/brmossop/Deverbalization.htm</u>].

Mühlhäusler, P. 1995. Metaphors others live by. Language & Communication 15 (3): 281-288.

Neubert, A. 1997. Postulates for a theory of *translatio*. In J. H. Danks, G. M. Shreve, S. B. Fountain and M. K. McBeath (eds). *Cognitive Processes in Translation and Interpreting*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications. 1-24.

Neumann, C. 2001. Is metaphor universal? Cross-language evidence from German and Japanese. *Metaphor and Symbol* 16 (1): 123-142.

Newmark, P. 1981. Approaches to Translation. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Newmark, P. 1985. The Translation of Metaphor. In W. Paprotté and R. Dirven (eds). *The Ubiquity of Metaphor: Metaphor in Language and Thought*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins. 295-326.

Newmark, P. 1988. *A Textbook of Translation*. Hemel Hempstead: Prentice Hall International (UK).

Nida, E. A. 1964. *Towards a science of translating, with special reference to principles and procedures involved in bible translating.* Leiden: E. J. Brill.

Nida, E. A. 2001. Contexts in Translating. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Noveck, I. A., M. Bianco and A. Castry. 2001. The costs and benefits of metaphor. *Metaphor and Symbol* 16 (1): 109-121.

Pickering, M. J., M. J. Traxler and M. W. Crocker. 2000. Ambiguity resolution in sentence processing: evidence against frequency-based accounts. *Journal of Memory and Language* (43): 447-475.

Rayner, K. and S. Sereno. 1994. Eye movements in reading. In M. A. Gernsbacher (ed.). *Handbook of Psycholinguistics*. San Diego: Academic Press. 57-81

Rayner, K., S. C. Sereno and G. E. Raney. 1996. Eye movement control in reading: a comparison of two types of models. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance* 22 (5): 1188-1200.

Rayner, K. 1998. Eye movements in reading and information processing: 20 years of research. *Psychological Bulletin* 124 (3): 372-422.

Rayner, K., S. P. Liversedge, S. J. White and D. Vergilino-Perez. 2003. Reading disappearing text: cognitive control of eye movements. *Psychological Science* 14. 385-388.

Rayner, K., K. H. Chace, T. J. Slattery and J. Ashby. 2006. Eye movements as reflections of comprehension processes in reading. *Scientific Studies of Reading* 10 (3): 241-255.

Reichle, E. D., K. Rayner and A. Pollatsek. 2003. The E-Z Reader model of eye-movement control in reading: comparisons to other models. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 26. 445-526.

Reichle, E. D. 2011. Serial-attention models of reading. In S. P. Liversedge, I. D. Gilchrist, and S. Everling (eds). *The Oxford Handbook of Eye Movements*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 767-786.

Richards, I. A. 1965. The Philosophy of Rhetoric. New York: Oxford University Press.

Samaniego Fernández, E., M. Velasco Sacristán and P. A. Fuertes Olivera. 2005. Translations we live by: The impact of metaphor translation on target systems. In P. A. Fuertes Olivera (ed.).

Lengua y Sociedad: Investigaciones recientes en Lingüística Aplicada. Valladolid: University of Valladolid. 61-81.

Schäffner, C. and B. Adab. 2000. Developing translation competence: introduction. In C. Schäffner and B. Adab (eds). *Developing Translation Competence*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins. vii-xvi.

Schäffner, C. 2004. Metaphor and translation: some implications of a cognitive approach. *Journal of Pragmatics* 36: 1253-1269.

Schäffner, C. 2005. A roof is an umbrella: metaphor, culture and translation. In M. Sidiropoulou (ed.). *Identity and Difference – Translation Shaping Culture*. Bern: Peter Lang AG. 49-78.

Schäffner, C. 2012. Finding space under the umbrella: The Euro crisis, metaphors, and translation. *The Journal of Specialised Translation* 17: 250-270.

Schilperoord, J. 1996. *It's about time – temporal aspects of cognitive processes in text production*. Amsterdam: Rodopi.

Schou, L, B. Dragsted and M. Carl. 2009. Ten years of Translog. In I. Mees, F. Alves and S. Göpferich (eds). *Methodology, Technology and Innovation in Translation Process Research* – *A Tribute to Arnt Lykke Jakobsen*. (Copenhagen Studies in Language 38). Copenhagen: Samfundslitteratur. 37-48.

Searle, J. 1979. Expression and Meaning. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Seleskovitch, D. 1976. Interpretation, a psychological approach to translation. In. R. W. Brislin (ed). *Translation: Applications and research*. Washington: Gardner Press Inc. 92-116.

Sharmin, S., O. Špakov, K. Räihä and A. L. Jakobsen. 2008. Effects of time pressure and text complexity on translators' fixations. ETRA 2008 conference paper.

Shreve, G. M. and B. J. Diamond. 1997. Cognitive processes in translation and interpreting: critical issues. In J. H. Danks, G. M. Shreve, S. B. Fountain and M. K. McBeath (eds). *Cognitive Processes in Translation and Interpreting*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications. 233-251.

Shreve, G. M. 2006. The deliberate practice: translation and expertise. *Journal of Translation Studies* 9 (1): 27-42.

Shreve, G. M. and I. LaCruz. In press. Aspects of a cognitive model of translation. In J. Byrne and J. Kearns (eds). *Continuum Companion to Translation*. London: Continuum Press.

Sinclair, J. 1991. Corpus, Concordance, Collocation. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Snell-Hornby, M. 1995. *Translation Studies - An Integrated Approach, revised edition*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Starr, M. S. and K. Rayner. 2001. Eye movements during reading: some current controversies. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 5 (4): 156-163.

Staub, A. and K. Rayner. 2007. <u>Eye movements</u> and on-line comprehension processes. In G. Gaskell (ed.). *The Oxford Handbook of Psycholinguistics*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 327-342.

Steen, G. J. 1994. *Understanding Metaphor in Literature: An Empirical Approach*. New York: Longman.

Steen, G. J. 2004. Introduction: metaphor across languages. *Journal of Pragmatics* 36. 1183-1188.

Steen, G. J. 2007. Finding Metaphor in Grammar and Usage. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Toury, G. 1995. Descriptive translation studies and beyond. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Trim, R. 2007. *Metaphor Networks: The Comparative Evolution of Figurative Language*. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Van den Broeck, R. 1981. The limits of translatability exemplified by metaphor translation. *Poetics Today* 2 (4): 73-87.

Van Waes, L., M. Leijten and D. van Weijen. 2009. Keystroke logging in writing research: observing writing processes with Inputlog. *GFL-Journal* 2 (3): 40-64.

Vonk, W. and Cozijn, R. 2003. On the Treatment of Saccades and Regressions in Eye Movement Measures of Reading Time. In: J. Hyönä, R. Radach, and H. Deubel (eds.). *The Mind's Eye Cognitive and Applied Aspects of Eye Movement Research*. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 291-311.

Way, E. C. 1994. Knowledge Representation and Metaphor. Wiltshire: Cromwell.

Wikberg, K. 2004. Metaphor and Text. In K. Aijmer and A. Stenstrom (eds). *Discourse Patterns in Spoken and Written Corpora*. Philadelphia: John Benjamins. 243-266.

Wilss, W. 2001. Decision making in translation. In M. Baker and K. Malmkjær (eds). *Routledge Encyclopedia of Translation Studies*. London: Routledge. 57-60.

Zabalbeascoa, P. 2004. Translating non-segmental features of textual communication: The case of metaphor within a binary-branch analysis. In G. Hansen, K. Malmkjær and D. Gile (eds). *Claims, changes and challenges in translation studies: Selected contributions from the EST congress. Copenhagen 2001.* Philadelphia: John Benjamins. 99-111.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Experimental texts

Experimental Text 1

American Express recently announced a second round of job cuts. The announcement sent a shiver through the market for bonds backed by credit card debt. The rise in unemployment has spattered a once-profitable business with red ink. As hopes that credit cards would avoid the pain felt in mortgages have dwindled, so has any chance of the industry avoiding a political backlash. This week the Congress voted through a bill that would sharply restrict card issuers' ability to charge punitive fees and raise interest rates. The industry's claim that the bill will choke off access to credit is a bit rich given its own rush to reduce its unsecured lending. Morgan Stanley expects the big three issuers to post losses in their card businesses this year and next. Little wonder, then, that card issuers feel shell-shocked. When they clamber back into profit, they can expect returns on assets of only one-half of pre-crisis levels.

Experimental Text 2

Say you go to a bank to get a loan. The bank lends you money. Then it packages your loan with a bunch of others into a bond. Investors buy the bond because they like the steady stream of cash that comes from people slowly paying off their debt. This goes on for a long while. Then one day, you need another loan. But this time, there is no money to lend because the global financial system has turned upside down, and the market for securitization - the process of packaging loans into bonds and freeing up cash for more lending - has fallen off a cliff. We're now suffering a financial Chernobyl, and securitization is radioactive. It enabled us to gorge on money, which is what got us into this mess. The task now is to find the proper role for securitization so that it doesn't detonate again.

Experimental Text 3

Every time you look around, it seems like companies are trying to hook up. The proposed marriage of Air France-KLM and Delta Air Lines is the latest to make the rounds. But the suitors must first gain the approval of regulators, who are sure to supervise the courtship with care because of the size of the dowry. The path from the altar is strewn with failed corporate marriages. Still, the matchmaking continues apace. British Airways and Spanish carrier Iberia have been wooing one another for the better part of a year. In March, pharmaceutical giants Merck and Plough-Schering announced their intention to wed. Fiat has ambitious plans to merge with Chrysler and the European operations of General Motors to spin off into a new car company. And the on-again, off-again plans of Porsche and Volkswagen to tie the knot have been dominating the business pages for months.

Experimental Text 4

The Bank of England's home in Threadneedle Street may not look like a hospital but for the past few months it has been acting like one. As the economic downturn became a full-blown collapse late last year, the central bank's senior consultants donned their white coats and got to work. First they put their scalpel to interest rates, slicing them from 5% in early October to an all-time low of 0.5% in March. Not content with that, they switched at once from scalpel to syringe and started to inject money into the economy by buying assets with freshly created central-bank money. As with the preceding rate cuts, the new treatment has been administered in big doses. However, a swift return to economic health is highly unlikely after the financial and economic convulsions of the past two years. A prolonged convalescence is the best that can be expected.

Appendix 2: Translation brief and instructions

(Translation of original brief in Danish)

You will be presented with 4 texts in English. The texts are each approximately 150 words. You will have the same task for the first two texts and another task for the last two texts. There is no time pressure and also no aids.

Task One: Please read the text to make sure you understand it and retype the text in the bottom half of the window. You will subsequently be asked to answer a few questions about the content of the text (you will not be asked to recollect numbers and other details). Please do not just copy and paste the text from the top half window.

Task Two: This time you must translate the text in the lower half of the window. You are free to edit the text during and after production. There are no translation tools and no time pressure. You will subsequently be asked a few questions about the content of the text and your considerations regarding the translation. The target group for the translation are the readers of a Danish financial magazine.

Appendix 3: Retrospective interview

Comprehension questions

- Text 1: Good or bad time for the credit card industry?
- Text 2: What is securitization?
- Text 3: Are there few or many mergers at the moment?
- Text 4: What did Bank of England do to the interest rate?

Questions for reading task x 2

- 1) Difficult to understand?
- 2) Any specific terms or phrases that were difficult to understand?

Questions for translation task x 2

- 1) Difficult to understand?
- 2) Any specific terms or phrases that were difficult to understand?
- 3) Any words or phrases that were difficult to translate?

Appendix 4: List of AOIs

AOI ID	Word(s)	Text	Туре
1	Hook up	3	Met
2	Marriage	3	Met
3	Suitors	3	Met
4	Courtship	3	Met
5	Dowry	3	Met
6	The path from the altar is strewn	3	Met
7	marriages	3	Met
8	Matchmaking	3	Met
9	Wooing	3	Met
10	Wed	3	Met
11	Tie the knot	3	Met
13	Collapse	4	Met
14	Scalpel	4	Met
15	Slicing	4	Met
16	Scalpel	4	Met
17	Syringe	4	Met
18	Inject	4	Met
19	Treatment	4	Met
20	Administered	4	Met
21	Doses	4	Met
22	Health	4	Met
23	Convulsions	4	Met
24	Convalescence	4	Met
25	Donned their white coats	4	Met
27	Shiver	1	Met
28	Spattered	1	Met
29	Red ink	1	Met
30	Pain	1	Met
31	Choke	1	Met
32	Shell-shocked	1	Met
33	Clamber	1	Met
35	Turned upside down	2	Met
36	Fallen off a cliff	2	Met
37	Chernobyl	2	Met
38	Radioactive	2	Met
39	Gorge	2	Met

40	Detonate	2	Met
42	market	1	Comp
43	credit cards	1	Comp
44	industry	1	Comp
45	voted	1	Comp
46	raise	1	Comp
47	reduce	1	Comp
48	expects	1	Comp
49	packages your loan	2	Comp
50	investors	2	Comp
51	paying off their debt	2	Comp
52	freeing	2	Comp
53	proper	2	Comp
54	money	2	Comp
55	look around	3	Comp
56	approval	3	Comp
57	regulators	3	Comp
58	supervise	3	Comp
59	care	3	Comp
60	year	3	Comp
61	announced	3	Comp
62	has ambitious plans to merge	3	Comp
63	operations	3	Comp
64	company	3	Comp
65	dominating	3	Comp
66	home	4	Comp
67	months	4	Comp
68	has been acting	4	Comp
69	downturn	4	Comp
70	year	4	Comp
71	october	4	Comp
72	economy	4	Comp
73	buying	4	Comp
74	assets	4	Comp
75	created	4	Comp
76	money	4	Comp
77	rate cuts	4	Comp
78	return	4	Comp

Appendix 5: Presentation of metaphor AOIs to rater group

The metaphors were presented within the sentence but without further contextual support. The presentation order of the metaphors was randomised between the participants and this table represents only one of the presented orders. The metaphor AOIs are highlighted in red as they also were when presented to the raters.

٦

Please rate each metaphor on how familiar the metaphor	1 = not at all familiar and 7 = very highly
seems to you	familiar
A prolonged convalescence is the best that can be expected	
And the on-again, off-again plans of Porsche and Volkswagen	
to tie the knot have been dominating the business pages for	
months	
As hopes that credit cards would avoid the pain felt in	
mortgages have dwindled, so has any chance of the industry	
avoiding a political backlash	
As the economic downturn became a full-blown collapse late	
last year, the central bank's senior consultants donned their	
white coats and got to work	
As the economic downturn became a full-blown collapse late	
last year, the central bank's senior consultants donned their	
white coats and got to work	
As with the preceding rate cuts, the new treatment has been	
administered in big doses	
As with the preceding rate cuts, the new treatment has been	
administered in big doses	
As with the preceding rate cuts, the new treatment has been	
administered in big doses	
British Airways and Spanish carrier Iberia have been wooing	
one another for the better part of a year	
But the suitors must first gain the approval of regulators, who	
are sure to supervise the courtship with care because of the	
size of the dowry	
But the suitors must first gain the approval of regulators, who	
are sure to supervise the courtship with care because of the	

size of the dowry

But the suitors must first gain the approval of regulators, who	
are sure to supervise the courtship with care because of the	
size of the dowry	
But this time, there is no money to lend because the global	
financial system has turned upside down, and the market for	
securitization - the process of packaging loans into bonds and	
freeing up cash for more lending - has fallen off a cliff	
Please rate each metaphor on how familiar the metaphor	1 = not at all familiar and 7 = very highly
seems to you	familiar
But this time, there is no money to lend because the global	
financial system has turned upside down, and the market for	
securitization - the process of packaging loans into bonds and	
freeing up cash for more lending - has fallen off a cliff	
First they put their scalpel to interest rates, slicing them from	
5% in early October to an all-time low of 0.5% in March	
First they put their scalpel to interest rates, slicing them from	
5% in early October to an all-time low of 0.5% in March	
However, a swift return to economic health is highly unlikely	
after the financial and economic convulsions of the past two	
years	
However, a swift return to economic health is highly unlikely	
after the financial and economic convulsions of the past two	
years	
In March, pharmaceutical giants Merck and Plough-Schering	
announced their intention to wed	
It enabled us to gorge on money, which is what got us into	
this mess	
Little wonder, then, that card issuers feel shell-shocked	
Not content with that, they switched at once from scalpel to	
syringe and started to inject money into the economy by	
buying assets with freshly created central-bank money	
Not content with that, they switched at once from scalpel to	
syringe and started to inject money into the economy by	
buying assets with freshly created central-bank money	
Not content with that, they switched at once from scalpel to	
syringe and started to inject money into the economy by	
sympe and started to inject money into the contonity by	

Still, the matchmaking continues apace	
The announcement sent a shiver through the market for bonds	
backed by credit card debt	
The industry's claim that the bill will choke off access to	
credit is a bit rich given its own rush to reduce its unsecured	
lending	
Please rate each metaphor on how familiar the metaphor	1 = not at all familiar and 7 = very highly
seems to you	familiar
The path from the altar is strewn with failed corporate	
marriages	
The path from the altar is strewn with failed corporate	
marriages	
The proposed marriage of Air France-KLM and Delta Air	
Lines is the latest to make the rounds	
The rise in unemployment has spattered a once-profitable	
business with red ink	
The rise in unemployment has spattered a once-profitable	
business with red ink	
The task now is to find the proper role for securitization so	
that it doesn't detonate again	
We're now suffering a financial Chernobyl, and securitization	
is radioactive	
We're now suffering a financial Chernobyl, and securitization	
is radioactive	
When they clamber back into profit, they can expect returns	
on assets of only one-half of pre-crisis levels	
Every time you look around, it seems like companies are	
trying to hook up	

Appendix 6: Metaphor familiarity ratings

AOI ID	Word	Rater1	Rater2	Rater3	Rater4	Average
1	Hook up	7	5	1	1	3.5
2	Marriage	5	2	6	7	5
3	Suitors	7	6	4	7	6
4	Courtship	6	2	4	7	4.75
5	Dowry	7	7	2	7	5.75
6	The path from the altar is	7	1	2	7	4.25
	strewn					
7	marriages	4	2	5	7	4.5
8	Matchmaking	6	7	3	7	5.75
9	Wooing	7	6	4	7	6
10	Wed	7	1	3	7	4.5
11	Tie the knot	7	6	5	7	6.25
13	Collapse	7	7	7	7	7
14	Scalpel	6	3	1	1	2.75
15	Slicing	7	4	3	1	3.75
16	Scalpel	6	3	1	1	2.75
17	Syringe	6	3	3	1	3.25
18	Inject	7	7	5	7	6.5
19	Treatment	7	7	5	7	6.5
20	Administered	6	7	6	7	6.5
21	Doses	6	7	6	7	6.5
22	Health	7	7	7	7	7
23	Convulsions	6	3	2	1	3
24	Convalescence	7	3	1	7	4.5
25	Donned their white coats	3	1	2	4	2.5
27	Shiver	7	7	4	7	6.25
28	Spattered	6	1	1	1	2.25
29	Red ink	6	7	4	1	4.5

30	Pain	5	1	2	7	3.75
31	Choke	4	2	2	3	2.75
32	Shell-shocked	7	7	2	7	5.75
33	Clamber	2	1	2	1	1.5
35	Turned upside down	7	7	5	7	6.5
36	Fallen off a cliff	5	6	2	7	5
37	Chernobyl	7	7	1	7	5.5
38	Radioactive	6	2	1	1	2.5
39	Gorge	5	1	1	1	2
40	Detonate	6	6	4	7	5.75

Total Fixation Time									
	Reading	g			Transla	ranslation			
	Text1		Text2		Text3		Text4	Text4	
Participant	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	
	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	
1	12079	12201	10186	12223	23855	23696	22725	26246	
2	6596	9568	8633	3090	13213	19772	12551	7632	
3	4365	4205	5243	2412	27054	18414	24797	9450	
4	9149	7416	14494	11842	22903	10922	16863	5862	
5	16027	11557	6638	7716	71824	14554	27242	9628	
6	4546	13573	11778	9389	27169	24593	28859	13956	
7	3566	2134	4465	4522	11415	15364	8193	11621	
8	6996	3168	3231	4245	25796	20799	16593	8191	
9	16865	18954	14629	14587	43888	32823	49102	33996	
10	1298	4224	7557	6280	27253	22426	29043	14110	
	Reading	8			Translation				
	Text3		Text4	-	Text1		Text2	•	
Participant	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	
	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	
11	10684	15491	13238	9650	4682	4287	1835	2649	
12	24382	24301	31675	18477	8812	11463	7534	8470	
13	16047	13775	12620	10045	11148	5580	6994	5360	
14	12437	6480	4086	6697	7374	15367	12284	10744	
15	7395	10683	17006	8853	26968	17019	17518	14090	
16	7430	6698	11396	7810	28940	27184	23234	22517	
17	7594	12778	9432	10027	5800	14491	7933	4804	

Appendix 7: Total Fixation Time - absolute values (ms)

Count								
	Reading	5			Transla	tion		
	Text1		Text2		Text3 Text4			
Participant	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa
	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison
1	116	96	68	48	1018	823	913	658
2	67	84	56	20	483	708	184	110
3	43	33	46	34	1784	742	1065	126
4	63	8	31	41	432	186	180	68
5	178	84	61	69	2511	166	702	117
6	16	56	55	34	367	461	856	159
7	27	18	54	78	295	769	136	181
8	80	24	33	54	878	800	346	114
9	121	323	395	417	1476	1342	1958	1206
10	11	31	59	45	1251	1000	986	254
	Reading	5	1		Transla	tion	1	
	Text3		Text4		Text1		Text2	
Participant	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa
	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison
11	125	117	55	49	94	29	18	20
12	119	148	172	104	134	244	137	175
13	302	158	58	76	114	75	92	58
14	211	66	18	68	128	539	281	327
15	101	174	171	86	1025	487	430	457
16	146	90	196	90	667	872	822	823
17	88	341	145	110	112	145	143	75

Appendix 8: Total Fixation Number - absolute values

First Pass Fixation Time								
	Reading	g			Transla	tion		
	Text1		Text2		Text3 Text4			
Participant	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa
	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison
1	4566	3528	2830	4267	3210	2868	1993	2648
2	2312	3071	2871	1754	2053	2871	2409	1953
3	2174	2769	1317	738	2294	2570	2972	2293
4	4205	7416	9032	10746	2211	2034	3069	3310
5	3190	2372	2073	1756	4366	2333	4584	2451
6	1995	6318	5979	6439	3728	3327	2708	4206
7	1633	977	977	1712	2609	2711	2154	3388
8	3011	2013	2014	1256	6978	2689	4265	3806
9	10286	5640	2452	2630	4724	3367	6618	3690
10	579	3865	1815	4047	2512	2331	3072	2213
	Reading	8			I ranslation			
	Text3		Text4		Text1		Text2	
Participant	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa	Meta	Compa
	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison	phor	rison
11	6340	7278	7556	4725	1494	1754	759	1135
12	4625	4705	5581	3286	2153	2074	1655	2272
13	4265	4846	7078	3946	2772	1355	2751	1514
14	3209	2832	3567	3109	1415	1235	1795	1276
15	2889	2829	4389	3989	2413	1594	2849	1815
16	1952	2393	3908	2869	2372	2013	1434	2433
17	2351	2990	2534	1893	917	1574	2054	1734

Appendix 9: First Pass Fixation Time - absolute values (ms)

Production Time								
	Text3		Text4					
Participant	Metaphor	Comparison	Metaphor	Comparison				
1	49252	47630	39315	47133				
2	75731	65956	29386	52154				
3	69507	38483	82667	35733				
4	92007	33397	32124	31717				
5	69145	38733	44792	35713				
6	67543	63255	38160	34596				
7	64929	58816	43902	48431				
8	68487	48829	32782	36123				
9	47155	41078	49100	31339				
10	55671	42414	57997	60838				
	Text1		Text2					
Participant	Metaphor	Comparison	Metaphor	Comparison				
11	19317	13945	13970	14052				
12	30137	16807	29150	15132				
13	16884	12115	12291	13718				
14	41809	37498	34661	25415				
15	55269	31973	23227	21326				
16	89519	42169	29678	22539				
17	57990	20144	22733	29911				

Appendix 10: Production Time - absolute values (ms)

TITLER I PH.D.SERIEN:

2004

- 1. Martin Grieger Internet-based Electronic Marketplaces and Supply Chain Management
- 2. Thomas Basbøll LIKENESS A Philosophical Investigation
- 3. Morten Knudsen Beslutningens vaklen En systemteoretisk analyse of moderniseringen af et amtskommunalt sundhedsvæsen 1980-2000
- 4. Lars Bo Jeppesen Organizing Consumer Innovation A product development strategy that is based on online communities and allows some firms to benefit from a distributed process of innovation by consumers
- 5. Barbara Dragsted SEGMENTATION IN TRANSLATION AND TRANSLATION MEMORY SYSTEMS An empirical investigation of cognitive segmentation and effects of integrating a TM system into the translation process
- 6. Jeanet Hardis Sociale partnerskaber Et socialkonstruktivistisk casestudie af partnerskabsaktørers virkelighedsopfattelse mellem identitet og legitimitet
- 7. Henriette Hallberg Thygesen System Dynamics in Action
- 8. Carsten Mejer Plath Strategisk Økonomistyring
- 9. Annemette Kjærgaard Knowledge Management as Internal Corporate Venturing

– a Field Study of the Rise and Fall of a Bottom-Up Process

- 10. Knut Arne Hovdal De profesjonelle i endring Norsk ph.d., ej til salg gennem Samfundslitteratur
- Søren Jeppesen Environmental Practices and Greening Strategies in Small Manufacturing Enterprises in South Africa

 A Critical Realist Approach
- 12. Lars Frode Frederiksen Industriel forskningsledelse – på sporet af mønstre og samarbejde i danske forskningsintensive virksomheder
- 13. Martin Jes Iversen
 The Governance of GN Great Nordic
 in an age of strategic and structural transitions 1939-1988
- 14. Lars Pynt Andersen The Rhetorical Strategies of Danish TV Advertising A study of the first fifteen years with special emphasis on genre and irony
- 15. Jakob Rasmussen Business Perspectives on E-learning
- Sof Thrane The Social and Economic Dynamics of Networks

 a Weberian Analysis of Three Formalised Horizontal Networks
- 17. Lene Nielsen Engaging Personas and Narrative Scenarios – a study on how a usercentered approach influenced the perception of the design process in the e-business group at AstraZeneca
- S.J Valstad
 Organisationsidentitet
 Norsk ph.d., ej til salg gennem
 Samfundslitteratur

- 19. Thomas Lyse Hansen Six Essays on Pricing and Weather risk in Energy Markets
- 20. Sabine Madsen Emerging Methods – An Interpretive Study of ISD Methods in Practice
- 21. Evis Sinani The Impact of Foreign Direct Investment on Efficiency, Productivity Growth and Trade: An Empirical Investigation
- 22. Bent Meier Sørensen Making Events Work Or, How to Multiply Your Crisis
- 23. Pernille Schnoor Brand Ethos Om troværdige brand- og virksomhedsidentiteter i et retorisk og diskursteoretisk perspektiv
- 24. Sidsel Fabech Von welchem Österreich ist hier die Rede? Diskursive forhandlinger og magtkampe mellem rivaliserende nationale identitetskonstruktioner i østrigske pressediskurser
- 25. Klavs Odgaard Christensen Sprogpolitik og identitetsdannelse i flersprogede forbundsstater Et komparativt studie af Schweiz og Canada
- 26. Dana B. Minbaeva Human Resource Practices and Knowledge Transfer in Multinational Corporations
- 27. Holger Højlund Markedets politiske fornuft Et studie af velfærdens organisering i perioden 1990-2003
- 28. Christine Mølgaard Frandsen A.s erfaring Om mellemværendets praktik i en

transformation af mennesket og subjektiviteten

29. Sine Nørholm Just The Constitution of Meaning

A Meaningful Constitution?
Legitimacy, identity, and public opinion in the debate on the future of Europe

2005

- 1. Claus J. Varnes Managing product innovation through rules – The role of formal and structured methods in product development
- Helle Hedegaard Hein Mellem konflikt og konsensus

 Dialogudvikling på hospitalsklinikker
- 3. Axel Rosenø Customer Value Driven Product Innovation – A Study of Market Learning in New Product Development
- 4. Søren Buhl Pedersen Making space An outline of place branding
- 5. Camilla Funck Ellehave Differences that Matter An analysis of practices of gender and organizing in contemporary workplaces
- 6. Rigmor Madeleine Lond Styring af kommunale forvaltninger
- 7. Mette Aagaard Andreassen Supply Chain versus Supply Chain Benchmarking as a Means to Managing Supply Chains
- 8. Caroline Aggestam-Pontoppidan From an idea to a standard The UN and the global governance of accountants' competence
- 9. Norsk ph.d.
- 10. Vivienne Heng Ker-ni An Experimental Field Study on the

Effectiveness of Grocer Media Advertising Measuring Ad Recall and Recognition, Purchase Intentions and Short-Term Sales

- 11. Allan Mortensen Essays on the Pricing of Corporate Bonds and Credit Derivatives
- 12. Remo Stefano Chiari Figure che fanno conoscere Itinerario sull'idea del valore cognitivo e espressivo della metafora e di altri tropi da Aristotele e da Vico fino al cognitivismo contemporaneo
- 13. Anders Mcllquham-Schmidt Strategic Planning and Corporate Performance An integrative research review and a meta-analysis of the strategic planning and corporate performance literature from 1956 to 2003
- 14. Jens Geersbro The TDF – PMI Case Making Sense of the Dynamics of Business Relationships and Networks
- 15 Mette Andersen Corporate Social Responsibility in Global Supply Chains Understanding the uniqueness of firm behaviour
- 16. Eva Boxenbaum Institutional Genesis: Micro – Dynamic Foundations of Institutional Change
- 17. Peter Lund-Thomsen Capacity Development, Environmental Justice NGOs, and Governance: The Case of South Africa
- 18. Signe Jarlov Konstruktioner af offentlig ledelse
- 19. Lars Stæhr Jensen Vocabulary Knowledge and Listening Comprehension in English as a Foreign Language

An empirical study employing data elicited from Danish EFL learners

- 20. Christian Nielsen Essays on Business Reporting Production and consumption of strategic information in the market for information
- 21. Marianne Thejls Fischer Egos and Ethics of Management Consultants
- 22. Annie Bekke Kjær Performance management i Procesinnovation – belyst i et social-konstruktivistisk perspektiv
- 23. Suzanne Dee Pedersen GENTAGELSENS METAMORFOSE Om organisering af den kreative gøren i den kunstneriske arbejdspraksis
- 24. Benedikte Dorte Rosenbrink Revenue Management Økonomiske, konkurrencemæssige & organisatoriske konsekvenser
- 25. Thomas Riise Johansen Written Accounts and Verbal Accounts The Danish Case of Accounting and Accountability to Employees
- 26. Ann Fogelgren-Pedersen The Mobile Internet: Pioneering Users' Adoption Decisions
- 27. Birgitte Rasmussen Ledelse i fællesskab – de tillidsvalgtes fornyende rolle
- 28. Gitte Thit Nielsen
 Remerger skabende ledelseskræfter i fusion og opkøb
- 29. Carmine Gioia A MICROECONOMETRIC ANALYSIS OF MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

- 30. Ole Hinz Den effektive forandringsleder: pilot, pædagog eller politiker? Et studie i arbejdslederes meningstilskrivninger i forbindelse med vellykket gennemførelse af ledelsesinitierede forandringsprojekter
- 31. Kjell-Åge Gotvassli Et praksisbasert perspektiv på dynamiske læringsnettverk i toppidretten Norsk ph.d., ej til salg gennem Samfundslitteratur
- 32. Henriette Langstrup Nielsen Linking Healthcare An inquiry into the changing performances of web-based technology for asthma monitoring
- 33. Karin Tweddell Levinsen Virtuel Uddannelsespraksis Master i IKT og Læring – et casestudie i hvordan proaktiv proceshåndtering kan forbedre praksis i virtuelle læringsmiljøer
- 34. Anika Liversage Finding a Path Labour Market Life Stories of Immigrant Professionals
- 35. Kasper Elmquist Jørgensen Studier i samspillet mellem stat og erhvervsliv i Danmark under 1. verdenskrig
- 36. Finn Janning A DIFFERENT STORY Seduction, Conquest and Discovery
- 37. Patricia Ann Plackett Strategic Management of the Radical Innovation Process Leveraging Social Capital for Market Uncertainty Management

2006

1. Christian Vintergaard Early Phases of Corporate Venturing

- 2. Niels Rom-Poulsen Essays in Computational Finance
- 3. Tina Brandt Husman Organisational Capabilities, Competitive Advantage & Project-Based Organisations The Case of Advertising and Creative Good Production
- Mette Rosenkrands Johansen
 Practice at the top
 how top managers mobilise and use
 non-financial performance measures
- 5. Eva Parum Corporate governance som strategisk kommunikations- og ledelsesværktøj
- 6. Susan Aagaard Petersen Culture's Influence on Performance Management: The Case of a Danish Company in China
- 7. Thomas Nicolai Pedersen The Discursive Constitution of Organizational Governance – Between unity and differentiation The Case of the governance of environmental risks by World Bank environmental staff
- 8. Cynthia Selin Volatile Visions: Transactons in Anticipatory Knowledge
- 9. Jesper Banghøj Financial Accounting Information and Compensation in Danish Companies
- 10. Mikkel Lucas Overby Strategic Alliances in Emerging High-Tech Markets: What's the Difference and does it Matter?
- 11. Tine Aage External Information Acquisition of Industrial Districts and the Impact of Different Knowledge Creation Dimensions
A case study of the Fashion and Design Branch of the Industrial District of Montebelluna, NE Italy

- 12. Mikkel Flyverbom Making the Global Information Society Governable On the Governmentality of Multi-Stakeholder Networks
- 13. Anette Grønning Personen bag Tilstedevær i e-mail som interaktionsform mellem kunde og medarbejder i dansk forsikringskontekst
- 14. Jørn Helder One Company – One Language? The NN-case
- 15. Lars Bjerregaard Mikkelsen Differing perceptions of customer value Development and application of a tool for mapping perceptions of customer value at both ends of customer-supplier dyads in industrial markets
- 16. Lise Granerud Exploring Learning Technological learning within small manufacturers in South Africa
- 17. Esben Rahbek Pedersen Between Hopes and Realities: Reflections on the Promises and Practices of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
- 18. Ramona Samson The Cultural Integration Model and European Transformation. The Case of Romania

2007

1. Jakob Vestergaard Discipline in The Global Economy Panopticism and the Post-Washington Consensus

- 2. Heidi Lund Hansen Spaces for learning and working A qualitative study of change of work, management, vehicles of power and social practices in open offices
- 3. Sudhanshu Rai Exploring the internal dynamics of software development teams during user analysis A tension enabled Institutionalization Model; "Where process becomes the objective"
- 4. Norsk ph.d. Ej til salg gennem Samfundslitteratur
- 5. Serden Ozcan *EXPLORING HETEROGENEITY IN ORGANIZATIONAL ACTIONS AND OUTCOMES A Behavioural Perspective*
- 6. Kim Sundtoft Hald Inter-organizational Performance Measurement and Management in Action

 An Ethnography on the Construction of Management, Identity and Relationships
- 7. Tobias Lindeberg Evaluative Technologies Quality and the Multiplicity of Performance
- 8. Merete Wedell-Wedellsborg Den globale soldat Identitetsdannelse og identitetsledelse i multinationale militære organisationer
- Lars Frederiksen Open Innovation Business Models Innovation in firm-hosted online user communities and inter-firm project ventures in the music industry – A collection of essays
- 10. Jonas Gabrielsen Retorisk toposlære – fra statisk 'sted' til persuasiv aktivitet

- Christian Moldt-Jørgensen Fra meningsløs til meningsfuld evaluering. Anvendelsen af studentertilfredshedsmålinger på de korte og mellemlange videregående uddannelser set fra et psykodynamisk systemperspektiv
- 12. Ping Gao Extending the application of actor-network theory Cases of innovation in the telecommunications industry
- Peter Mejlby Frihed og fængsel, en del af den samme drøm? Et phronetisk baseret casestudie af frigørelsens og kontrollens sameksistens i værdibaseret ledelse!
- 14. Kristina Birch Statistical Modelling in Marketing
- Signe Poulsen Sense and sensibility: The language of emotional appeals in insurance marketing
- 16. Anders Bjerre Trolle Essays on derivatives pricing and dynamic asset allocation
- 17. Peter Feldhütter Empirical Studies of Bond and Credit Markets
- 18. Jens Henrik Eggert Christensen Default and Recovery Risk Modeling and Estimation
- Maria Theresa Larsen Academic Enterprise: A New Mission for Universities or a Contradiction in Terms? Four papers on the long-term implications of increasing industry involvement and commercialization in academia

- 20. Morten Wellendorf Postimplementering af teknologi i den offentlige forvaltning Analyser af en organisations kontinuerlige arbejde med informationsteknologi
- 21. Ekaterina Mhaanna Concept Relations for Terminological Process Analysis
- 22. Stefan Ring Thorbjørnsen Forsvaret i forandring Et studie i officerers kapabiliteter under påvirkning af omverdenens forandringspres mod øget styring og læring
- 23. Christa Breum Amhøj Det selvskabte medlemskab om managementstaten, dens styringsteknologier og indbyggere
- 24. Karoline Bromose Between Technological Turbulence and Operational Stability

 An empirical case study of corporate venturing in TDC
- 25. Susanne Justesen Navigating the Paradoxes of Diversity in Innovation Practice

 A Longitudinal study of six very different innovation processes – in practice
- Luise Noring Henler Conceptualising successful supply chain partnerships

 Viewing supply chain partnerships from an organisational culture perspective
- 27. Mark Mau Kampen om telefonen Det danske telefonvæsen under den tyske besættelse 1940-45
- 28. Jakob Halskov The semiautomatic expansion of existing terminological ontologies using knowledge patterns discovered

on the WWW – an implementation and evaluation

- 29. Gergana Koleva European Policy Instruments Beyond Networks and Structure: The Innovative Medicines Initiative
- 30. Christian Geisler Asmussen Global Strategy and International Diversity: A Double-Edged Sword?
- 31. Christina Holm-Petersen Stolthed og fordom Kultur- og identitetsarbejde ved skabelsen af en ny sengeafdeling gennem fusion
- 32. Hans Peter Olsen Hybrid Governance of Standardized States Causes and Contours of the Global Regulation of Government Auditing
- 33. Lars Bøge Sørensen Risk Management in the Supply Chain
- 34. Peter Aagaard Det unikkes dynamikker De institutionelle mulighedsbetingelser bag den individuelle udforskning i professionelt og frivilligt arbejde
- 35. Yun Mi Antorini Brand Community Innovation An Intrinsic Case Study of the Adult Fans of LEGO Community
- 36. Joachim Lynggaard Boll Labor Related Corporate Social Performance in Denmark Organizational and Institutional Perspectives

- 1. Frederik Christian Vinten Essays on Private Equity
- 2. Jesper Clement Visual Influence of Packaging Design on In-Store Buying Decisions

- Marius Brostrøm Kousgaard Tid til kvalitetsmåling?

 Studier af indrulleringsprocesser i forbindelse med introduktionen af kliniske kvalitetsdatabaser i speciallægepraksissektoren
- 4. Irene Skovgaard Smith Management Consulting in Action Value creation and ambiguity in client-consultant relations
- 5. Anders Rom Management accounting and integrated information systems How to exploit the potential for management accounting of information technology
- 6. Marina Candi Aesthetic Design as an Element of Service Innovation in New Technologybased Firms
- Morten Schnack
 Teknologi og tværfaglighed
 en analyse af diskussionen omkring indførelse af EPJ på en hospitalsafdeling
- 8. Helene Balslev Clausen Juntos pero no revueltos – un estudio sobre emigrantes norteamericanos en un pueblo mexicano
- 9. Lise Justesen Kunsten at skrive revisionsrapporter. En beretning om forvaltningsrevisionens beretninger
- 10. Michael E. Hansen The politics of corporate responsibility: CSR and the governance of child labor and core labor rights in the 1990s
- 11. Anne Roepstorff Holdning for handling – en etnologisk undersøgelse af Virksomheders Sociale Ansvar/CSR

- 12. Claus Bajlum Essays on Credit Risk and Credit Derivatives
- Anders Bojesen The Performative Power of Competence – an Inquiry into Subjectivity and Social Technologies at Work
- 14. Satu Reijonen Green and Fragile A Study on Markets and the Natural Environment
- 15. Ilduara Busta Corporate Governance in Banking A European Study
- 16. Kristian Anders Hvass A Boolean Analysis Predicting Industry Change: Innovation, Imitation & Business Models The Winning Hybrid: A case study of isomorphism in the airline industry
- 17. Trine Paludan De uvidende og de udviklingsparate Identitet som mulighed og restriktion blandt fabriksarbejdere på det aftayloriserede fabriksgulv
- 18. Kristian Jakobsen Foreign market entry in transition economies: Entry timing and mode choice
- 19. Jakob Elming Syntactic reordering in statistical machine translation
- 20. Lars Brømsøe Termansen Regional Computable General Equilibrium Models for Denmark Three papers laying the foundation for regional CGE models with agglomeration characteristics
- 21. Mia Reinholt The Motivational Foundations of Knowledge Sharing

- 22. Frederikke Krogh-Meibom The Co-Evolution of Institutions and Technology

 A Neo-Institutional Understanding of Change Processes within the Business Press – the Case Study of Financial Times
- 23. Peter D. Ørberg Jensen OFFSHORING OF ADVANCED AND HIGH-VALUE TECHNICAL SERVICES: ANTECEDENTS, PROCESS DYNAMICS AND FIRMLEVEL IMPACTS
- 24. Pham Thi Song Hanh Functional Upgrading, Relational Capability and Export Performance of Vietnamese Wood Furniture Producers
- 25. Mads Vangkilde Why wait? An Exploration of first-mover advantages among Danish e-grocers through a resource perspective
- 26. Hubert Buch-Hansen Rethinking the History of European Level Merger Control A Critical Political Economy Perspective

- 1. Vivian Lindhardsen From Independent Ratings to Communal Ratings: A Study of CWA Raters' Decision-Making Behaviours
- 2. Guðrið Weihe Public-Private Partnerships: Meaning and Practice
- 3. Chris Nøkkentved Enabling Supply Networks with Collaborative Information Infrastructures An Empirical Investigation of Business Model Innovation in Supplier Relationship Management
- 4. Sara Louise Muhr Wound, Interrupted – On the Vulnerability of Diversity Management

- 5. Christine Sestoft Forbrugeradfærd i et Stats- og Livsformsteoretisk perspektiv
- 6. Michael Pedersen Tune in, Breakdown, and Reboot: On the production of the stress-fit selfmanaging employee
- Salla Lutz
 Position and Reposition in Networks
 Exemplified by the Transformation of the Danish Pine Furniture Manufacturers
- 8. Jens Forssbæck Essays on market discipline in commercial and central banking
- 9. Tine Murphy Sense from Silence – A Basis for Organised Action How do Sensemaking Processes with Minimal Sharing Relate to the Reproduction of Organised Action?
- 10. Sara Malou Strandvad Inspirations for a new sociology of art: A sociomaterial study of development processes in the Danish film industry
- Nicolaas Mouton On the evolution of social scientific metaphors: A cognitive-historical enquiry into the divergent trajectories of the idea that collective entities – states and societies, cities and corporations – are biological organisms.
- 12. Lars Andreas Knutsen Mobile Data Services: Shaping of user engagements
- 13. Nikolaos Theodoros Korfiatis Information Exchange and Behavior A Multi-method Inquiry on Online Communities

14. Jens Albæk

Forestillinger om kvalitet og tværfaglighed på sygehuse – skabelse af forestillinger i læge- og plejegrupperne angående relevans af nye idéer om kvalitetsudvikling gennem tolkningsprocesser

- 15. Maja Lotz The Business of Co-Creation – and the Co-Creation of Business
- 16. Gitte P. Jakobsen Narrative Construction of Leader Identity in a Leader Development Program Context
- 17. Dorte Hermansen "Living the brand" som en brandorienteret dialogisk praxis: Om udvikling af medarbejdernes brandorienterede dømmekraft
- 18. Aseem Kinra Supply Chain (logistics) Environmental Complexity
- 19. Michael Nørager How to manage SMEs through the transformation from non innovative to innovative?
- 20. Kristin Wallevik Corporate Governance in Family Firms The Norwegian Maritime Sector
- 21. Bo Hansen Hansen Beyond the Process Enriching Software Process Improvement with Knowledge Management
- 22. Annemette Skot-Hansen Franske adjektivisk afledte adverbier, der tager præpositionssyntagmer indledt med præpositionen à som argumenter En valensgrammatisk undersøgelse
- 23. Line Gry Knudsen Collaborative R&D Capabilities In Search of Micro-Foundations

- 24. Christian Scheuer Employers meet employees Essays on sorting and globalization
- 25. Rasmus Johnsen The Great Health of Melancholy A Study of the Pathologies of Performativity
- 26. Ha Thi Van Pham Internationalization, Competitiveness Enhancement and Export Performance of Emerging Market Firms: Evidence from Vietnam
- 27. Henriette Balieu Kontrolbegrebets betydning for kausativalternationen i spansk En kognitiv-typologisk analyse

- 1. Yen Tran Organizing Innovationin Turbulent Fashion Market Four papers on how fashion firms create and appropriate innovation value
- 2. Anders Raastrup Kristensen Metaphysical Labour Flexibility, Performance and Commitment in Work-Life Management
- 3. Margrét Sigrún Sigurdardottir Dependently independent Co-existence of institutional logics in the recorded music industry
- Ásta Dis Óladóttir
 Internationalization from a small domestic base:
 An empirical analysis of Economics and Management
- 5. Christine Secher E-deltagelse i praksis – politikernes og forvaltningens medkonstruktion og konsekvenserne heraf
- 6. Marianne Stang Våland What we talk about when we talk about space:

End User Participation between Processes of Organizational and Architectural Design

- 7. Rex Degnegaard Strategic Change Management Change Management Challenges in the Danish Police Reform
- 8. Ulrik Schultz Brix Værdi i rekruttering – den sikre beslutning En pragmatisk analyse af perception og synliggørelse af værdi i rekrutterings- og udvælgelsesarbejdet
 - Jan Ole Similä Kontraktsledelse Relasjonen mellom virksomhetsledelse og kontraktshåndtering, belyst via fire norske virksomheter

9.

- 10. Susanne Boch Waldorff Emerging Organizations: In between local translation, institutional logics and discourse
- 11. Brian Kane Performance Talk Next Generation Management of Organizational Performance
- 12. Lars Ohnemus Brand Thrust: Strategic Branding and Shareholder Value An Empirical Reconciliation of two Critical Concepts
- 13. Jesper Schlamovitz Håndtering af usikkerhed i film- og byggeprojekter
- Tommy Moesby-Jensen Det faktiske livs forbindtlighed Førsokratisk informeret, ny-aristotelisk ήθος-tænkning hos Martin Heidegger
- 15. Christian Fich Two Nations Divided by Common Values French National Habitus and the Rejection of American Power

- 16. Peter Beyer Processer, sammenhængskraft og fleksibilitet Et empirisk casestudie af omstillingsforløb i fire virksomheder
- 17. Adam Buchhorn Markets of Good Intentions Constructing and Organizing Biogas Markets Amid Fragility and Controversy
- 18. Cecilie K. Moesby-Jensen Social læring og fælles praksis Et mixed method studie, der belyser læringskonsekvenser af et lederkursus for et praksisfællesskab af offentlige mellemledere
- 19. Heidi Boye Fødevarer og sundhed i senmodernismen

 En indsigt i hyggefænomenet og de relaterede fødevarepraksisser
- 20. Kristine Munkgård Pedersen Flygtige forbindelser og midlertidige mobiliseringer Om kulturel produktion på Roskilde Festival
- 21. Oliver Jacob Weber Causes of Intercompany Harmony in Business Markets – An Empirical Investigation from a Dyad Perspective
- 22. Susanne Ekman Authority and Autonomy Paradoxes of Modern Knowledge Work
- 23. Anette Frey Larsen Kvalitetsledelse på danske hospitaler – Ledelsernes indflydelse på introduktion og vedligeholdelse af kvalitetsstrategier i det danske sundhedsvæsen
- 24. Toyoko Sato Performativity and Discourse: Japanese Advertisements on the Aesthetic Education of Desire

- 25. Kenneth Brinch Jensen Identifying the Last Planner System Lean management in the construction industry
- 26. Javier Busquets Orchestrating Network Behavior for Innovation
- 27. Luke Patey The Power of Resistance: India's National Oil Company and International Activism in Sudan
- 28. Mette Vedel Value Creation in Triadic Business Relationships. Interaction, Interconnection and Position
- 29. Kristian Tørning Knowledge Management Systems in Practice – A Work Place Study
- 30. Qingxin Shi An Empirical Study of Thinking Aloud Usability Testing from a Cultural Perspective
- 31. Tanja Juul Christiansen Corporate blogging: Medarbejderes kommunikative handlekraft
- 32. Malgorzata Ciesielska Hybrid Organisations.
 A study of the Open Source – business setting
- 33. Jens Dick-Nielsen Three Essays on Corporate Bond Market Liquidity
- 34. Sabrina Speiermann Modstandens Politik Kampagnestyring i Velfærdsstaten. En diskussion af trafikkampagners styringspotentiale
- 35. Julie Uldam Fickle Commitment. Fostering political engagement in 'the flighty world of online activism'

- 36. Annegrete Juul Nielsen Traveling technologies and transformations in health care
- 37. Athur Mühlen-Schulte Organising Development Power and Organisational Reform in the United Nations Development Programme
- 38. Louise Rygaard Jonas Branding på butiksgulvet Et case-studie af kultur- og identitetsarbejdet i Kvickly

- 1. Stefan Fraenkel Key Success Factors for Sales Force Readiness during New Product Launch A Study of Product Launches in the Swedish Pharmaceutical Industry
- 2. Christian Plesner Rossing International Transfer Pricing in Theory and Practice
- Tobias Dam Hede
 Samtalekunst og ledelsesdisciplin

 en analyse af coachingsdiskursens genealogi og governmentality
- 4. Kim Pettersson Essays on Audit Quality, Auditor Choice, and Equity Valuation
- 5. Henrik Merkelsen The expert-lay controversy in risk research and management. Effects of institutional distances. Studies of risk definitions, perceptions, management and communication
- 6. Simon S. Torp Employee Stock Ownership: Effect on Strategic Management and Performance
- 7. Mie Harder Internal Antecedents of Management Innovation

- 8. Ole Helby Petersen Public-Private Partnerships: Policy and Regulation – With Comparative and Multi-level Case Studies from Denmark and Ireland
- 9. Morten Krogh Petersen 'Good' Outcomes. Handling Multiplicity in Government Communication
- 10. Kristian Tangsgaard Hvelplund Allocation of cognitive resources in translation - an eye-tracking and keylogging study
- 11. Moshe Yonatany The Internationalization Process of Digital Service Providers
- 12. Anne Vestergaard Distance and Suffering Humanitarian Discourse in the age of Mediatization
- 13. Thorsten Mikkelsen Personligsheds indflydelse på forretningsrelationer
- 14. Jane Thostrup Jagd Hvorfor fortsætter fusionsbølgen udover "the tipping point"?
 – en empirisk analyse af information og kognitioner om fusioner
- 15. Gregory Gimpel Value-driven Adoption and Consumption of Technology: Understanding Technology Decision Making
- 16. Thomas Stengade Sønderskov Den nye mulighed Social innovation i en forretningsmæssig kontekst
- 17. Jeppe Christoffersen Donor supported strategic alliances in developing countries
- 18. Vibeke Vad Baunsgaard Dominant Ideological Modes of Rationality: Cross functional

integration in the process of product innovation

- 19. Throstur Olaf Sigurjonsson Governance Failure and Icelands's Financial Collapse
- 20. Allan Sall Tang Andersen Essays on the modeling of risks in interest-rate and inflation markets
- 21. Heidi Tscherning Mobile Devices in Social Contexts
- 22. Birgitte Gorm Hansen Adapting in the Knowledge Economy Lateral Strategies for Scientists and Those Who Study Them
- 23. Kristina Vaarst Andersen Optimal Levels of Embeddedness The Contingent Value of Networked Collaboration
- 24. Justine Grønbæk Pors Noisy Management A History of Danish School Governing from 1970-2010
- 25. Stefan Linder Micro-foundations of Strategic Entrepreneurship Essays on Autonomous Strategic Action 4.
- 26. Xin Li Toward an Integrative Framework of National Competitiveness An application to China
- 27. Rune Thorbjørn Clausen Værdifuld arkitektur Et eksplorativt studie af bygningers rolle i virksomheders værdiskabelse
- 28. Monica Viken Markedsundersøkelser som bevis i varemerke- og markedsføringsrett
- 29. Christian Wymann Tattooing The Economic and Artistic Constitution of a Social Phenomenon

- 30. Sanne Frandsen Productive Incoherence A Case Study of Branding and Identity Struggles in a Low-Prestige Organization
- 31. Mads Stenbo Nielsen Essays on Correlation Modelling
- 32. Ivan Häuser Følelse og sprog Etablering af en ekspressiv kategori, eksemplificeret på russisk
- 33. Sebastian Schwenen Security of Supply in Electricity Markets

- Peter Holm Andreasen The Dynamics of Procurement Management - A Complexity Approach
- 2. Martin Haulrich Data-Driven Bitext Dependency Parsing and Alignment
- 3. Line Kirkegaard Konsulenten i den anden nat En undersøgelse af det intense arbejdsliv
 - Tonny Stenheim Decision usefulness of goodwill under IFRS
- 5. Morten Lind Larsen Produktivitet, vækst og velfærd Industrirådet og efterkrigstidens Danmark 1945 - 1958
- 6. Petter Berg Cartel Damages and Cost Asymmetries
- 7. Lynn Kahle Experiential Discourse in Marketing A methodical inquiry into practice and theory
- 8. Anne Roelsgaard Obling Management of Emotions in Accelerated Medical Relationships

- 9. Thomas Frandsen Managing Modularity of Service Processes Architecture
- 10. Carina Christine Skovmøller CSR som noget særligt Et casestudie om styring og meningsskabelse i relation til CSR ud fra en intern optik
- 11. Michael Tell Fradragsbeskæring af selskabers finansieringsudgifter En skatteretlig analyse af SEL §§ 11, 11B og 11C
- 12. Morten Holm Customer Profitability Measurement Models Their Merits and Sophistication across Contexts
- 13. Katja Joo Dyppel Beskatning af derivater En analyse af dansk skatteret
- 14. Esben Anton Schultz Essays in Labor Economics Evidence from Danish Micro Data
- 15. Carina Risvig Hansen "Contracts not covered, or not fully covered, by the Public Sector Directive"
- 16. Anja Svejgaard Pors Iværksættelse af kommunikation - patientfigurer i hospitalets strategiske kommunikation
- 17. Frans Bévort Making sense of management with logics An ethnographic study of accountants who become managers
- 18. René Kallestrup The Dynamics of Bank and Sovereign Credit Risk
- 19. Brett Crawford Revisiting the Phenomenon of Interests in Organizational Institutionalism The Case of U.S. Chambers of Commerce

- 20. Mario Daniele Amore Essays on Empirical Corporate Finance
- 21. Arne Stjernholm Madsen The evolution of innovation strategy Studied in the context of medical device activities at the pharmaceutical company Novo Nordisk A/S in the period 1980-2008
- 22. Jacob Holm Hansen Is Social Integration Necessary for Corporate Branding? A study of corporate branding strategies at Novo Nordisk
- 23. Stuart Webber Corporate Profit Shifting and the Multinational Enterprise
- 24. Helene Ratner Promises of Reflexivity Managing and Researching Inclusive Schools
- 25. Therese Strand The Owners and the Power: Insights from Annual General Meetings
- 26. Robert Gavin Strand In Praise of Corporate Social Responsibility Bureaucracy
- 27. Nina Sormunen Auditor's going-concern reporting Reporting decision and content of the report
- 28. John Bang Mathiasen Learning within a product development working practice:
 - an understanding anchored in pragmatism
 - Philip Holst Riis Understanding Role-Oriented Enterprise Systems: From Vendors to Customers

29.

30. Marie Lisa Dacanay Social Enterprises and the Poor Enhancing Social Entrepreneurship and Stakeholder Theory

- 31. Fumiko Kano Glückstad Bridging Remote Cultures: Cross-lingual concept mapping based on the information receiver's prior-knowledge
- 32. Henrik Barslund Fosse Empirical Essays in International Trade
- 33. Peter Alexander Albrecht Foundational hybridity and its reproduction Security sector reform in Sierra Leone
- 34. Maja Rosenstock CSR - hvor svært kan det være? Kulturanalytisk casestudie om udfordringer og dilemmaer med at forankre Coops CSR-strategi
- 35. Jeanette Rasmussen Tweens, medier og forbrug Et studie af 10-12 årige danske børns brug af internettet, opfattelse og forståelse af markedsføring og forbrug
- 36. Ib Tunby Gulbrandsen
 'This page is not intended for a US Audience'
 A five-act spectacle on online communication, collaboration & organization.
- 37. Kasper Aalling Teilmann Interactive Approaches to Rural Development
- 38. Mette Mogensen The Organization(s) of Well-being and Productivity (Re)assembling work in the Danish Post
- 39. Søren Friis Møller
 From Disinterestedness to Engagement 6.
 Towards Relational Leadership In the Cultural Sector
- 40. Nico Peter Berhausen Management Control, Innovation and Strategic Objectives – Interactions and Convergence in Product Development Networks

- 41. Balder Onarheim Creativity under Constraints Creativity as Balancing 'Constrainedness'
- 42. Haoyong Zhou Essays on Family Firms
- 43. Elisabeth Naima Mikkelsen Making sense of organisational conflict An empirical study of enacted sensemaking in everyday conflict at work

- 1. Jacob Lyngsie Entrepreneurship in an Organizational Context
- 2. Signe Groth-Brodersen Fra ledelse til selvet En socialpsykologisk analyse af forholdet imellem selvledelse, ledelse og stress i det moderne arbejdsliv
- 3. Nis Høyrup Christensen Shaping Markets: A Neoinstitutional Analysis of the Emerging Organizational Field of Renewable Energy in China
- 4. Christian Edelvold Berg As a matter of size THE IMPORTANCE OF CRITICAL MASS AND THE CONSEQUENCES OF SCARCITY FOR TELEVISION MARKETS
- 5. Christine D. Isakson Coworker Influence and Labor Mobility Essays on Turnover, Entrepreneurship and Location Choice in the Danish Maritime Industry
 - Niels Joseph Jerne Lennon Accounting Qualities in Practice Rhizomatic stories of representational faithfulness, decision making and control
- 7. Shannon O'Donnell Making Ensemble Possible How special groups organize for collaborative creativity in conditions of spatial variability and distance

- 8. Robert W. D. Veitch Access Decisions in a Partly-Digital World Comparing Digital Piracy and Legal Modes for Film and Music
- 9. Marie Mathiesen Making Strategy Work An Organizational Ethnography
- 10. Arisa Shollo The role of business intelligence in organizational decision-making
- 11. Mia Kaspersen The construction of social and environmental reporting
- 12. Marcus Møller Larsen The organizational design of offshoring
- 13. Mette Ohm Rørdam EU Law on Food Naming The prohibition against misleading names in an internal market context
- 14. Hans Peter Rasmussen GIV EN GED! Kan giver-idealtyper forklare støtte til velgørenhed og understøtte relationsopbygning?
- 15. Ruben Schachtenhaufen Fonetisk reduktion i dansk
- 16. Peter Koerver Schmidt Dansk CFC-beskatning I et internationalt og komparativt perspektiv
- 17. Morten Froholdt Strategi i den offentlige sektor En kortlægning af styringsmæssig kontekst, strategisk tilgang, samt anvendte redskaber og teknologier for udvalgte danske statslige styrelser
- 18. Annette Camilla Sjørup Cognitive effort in metaphor translation An eye-tracking and key-logging study

TITLER I ATV PH.D.-SERIEN

1992

1. Niels Kornum Servicesamkørsel – organisation, økonomi og planlægningsmetode

1995

2. Verner Worm Nordiske virksomheder i Kina Kulturspecifikke interaktionsrelationer ved nordiske virksomhedsetableringer i Kina

1999

3. Mogens Bjerre Key Account Management of Complex Strategic Relationships An Empirical Study of the Fast Moving Consumer Goods Industry

2000

4. Lotte Darsø Innovation in the Making Interaction Research with heterogeneous Groups of Knowledge Workers creating new Knowledge and new Leads

2001

5. Peter Hobolt Jensen Managing Strategic Design Identities The case of the Lego Developer Network

2002

- 6. Peter Lohmann The Deleuzian Other of Organizational Change – Moving Perspectives of the Human
- 7. Anne Marie Jess Hansen To lead from a distance: The dynamic interplay between strategy and strategizing – A case study of the strategic management process

2003

- Lotte Henriksen Videndeling

 om organisatoriske og ledelsesmæssige udfordringer ved videndeling i praksis
- 9. Niels Christian Nickelsen Arrangements of Knowing: Coordinating Procedures Tools and Bodies in Industrial Production – a case study of the collective making of new products

2005

10. Carsten Ørts Hansen Konstruktion af ledelsesteknologier og effektivitet

TITLER I DBA PH.D.-SERIEN

2007

1. Peter Kastrup-Misir Endeavoring to Understand Market Orientation – and the concomitant co-mutation of the researched, the re searcher, the research itself and the truth

2009

1. Torkild Leo Thellefsen Fundamental Signs and Significance effects

A Semeiotic outline of Fundamental Signs, Significance-effects, Knowledge Profiling and their use in Knowledge Organization and Branding

2. Daniel Ronzani When Bits Learn to Walk Don't Make Them Trip. Technological Innovation and the Role of Regulation by Law in Information Systems Research: the Case of Radio Frequency Identification (RFID)

2010

1. Alexander Carnera Magten over livet og livet som magt Studier i den biopolitiske ambivalens